

# **Appia**<sup>®</sup> Users Guide

## November 2019

2970 SW 50th Terrace, Gainesville, FL 32608 www.infotechinc.com

# infotech

Address: 2970 SW 50th Terrace, Gainesville, Florida 32608-5076 Web: www.infotechinc.com

Customer support is available by phone or email Monday through Friday from 7:00 A.M. - 8:00 P.M. Eastern Time, excluding legal holidays and when posted.

#### Contact

By mail:

Infotech 2970 SW 50 Terrace Gainesville, FL 32608-5076

Bid Express<sup>®</sup> Toll free phone: (888) 352-2439, option #1 Email: support@bidexpress.com

Appia<sup>®</sup> Toll free phone: (888) 352-2439, option #2 Email: appia-support@infotechfl.com Doc Express<sup>®</sup> Toll free phone: (888) 352-2439, option #4 Email: support@docexpress.com

By Fax: (888) 971-4191

Suggestions/ideas/general input: feedback@bidexpress.com

Appia, the Appia logo, Bid Express, the Bid Express logo, Doc Express, the Doc Express logo, and Info Tech are registered service marks of Info Tech, Inc. Infotech, the Infotech logo, Infotech Consulting, and the Infotech Consulting logo are trademarks of Info Tech, Inc.

Copyright © 2019, Info Tech, Inc., DBA Infotech. All rights reserved. This document or parts thereof may not be reproduced in any form without written permission of Info Tech, Inc. Produced in the United States of America.

## Contents

1.	Getti	ng Started With the Appia Service	1-1
	1.1	My Businesses	1-1
		1.1.1 Switch Businesses	1-2
		1.1.2 Devices	1-2
		1.1.3 Projects Search	1-3
	1.2	Reference Data	1-3
	1.3	System MGT	1-4
		1.3.1 My Business	1-4
	1.4	Classic Access	1-4
2.	Proje	cts	2-1
	2.1	Project Phases	2-1
	2.2	Import Project	2-2
		Create or Edit Project Overview	
	2.4	Find Project	2-5
	2.5	Delete a Project	2-5
	2.6	Project Settings	2-5
		2.6.1 General Settings	2-6
		2.6.2 Construction Settings	2-7
		2.6.3 Project Security	2-9
		2.6.4 Manage Project Users	2-10
		2.6.5 Manage User Roles	2-11
	2.7	Award Bid	2-11
	2.8	Advance to Construction	2-12
3.	Expo	rt Data	3-1
	3.1	Export Project	3-1
	3.2	Export Reports	3-1
4.	Impo	rt Items	4-1
	4.1	Import Bid Items for Analysis and Award	4-1
		4.1.1 Import the First Bid	

		4.1.2 Import Subsequent Bids	
	4.2	Import Bid Award Item List	
5.	Section	ons and Items	
	5.1	Sections	
		5.1.1 Project Sections	
		5.1.2 Add or Change a Section	5-2
		5.1.3 Delete Section	5-3
	5.2	Project Items	5-3
		5.2.1 Add Items	
		5.2.2 Add or Edit Item Details	
		5.2.3 Update Unit Price	
		5.2.4 Delete an Item	
	5 2	5.2.5 Unattached Items	
		Export Item List	
	3.4	Search	
		5.4.1 Search riens	
	55	Item Material Associations	
		Item Stockpile	
		Item History	
		Item Edit	
		Item Reports	
		0 Mark Items Complete	
6.	Time	Limits	
6.		E Limits Add or Edit Time Limits	6-1
6.	6.1	Add or Edit Time Limits	<b>6-1</b>
6.	6.1 6.2	Add or Edit Time Limits Delete Time Limits	<b>6-1</b> 6-2 6-3
6.	6.1 6.2	Add or Edit Time Limits Delete Time Limits Under Construction Time Limits	<b></b>
6.	6.1 6.2	Add or Edit Time Limits Delete Time Limits	<b>6-1</b> 6-2 6-3 6-4 6-4
6.	6.1 6.2	Add or Edit Time Limits Delete Time Limits Under Construction Time Limits 6.3.1 Start a Time Limit	<b>6-1</b> 6-2 6-3 6-4 6-4 6-4
	6.1 6.2	Add or Edit Time LimitsDelete Time LimitsUnder Construction Time Limits6.3.1 Start a Time Limit6.3.2 Change Primary Time Limit6.3.3 Mark Time Limit Complete	<b>6-1</b> 6-2 6-3 6-4 6-4 6-4
	6.1 6.2 6.3	Add or Edit Time Limits Delete Time Limits Under Construction Time Limits 6.3.1 Start a Time Limit 6.3.2 Change Primary Time Limit 6.3.3 Mark Time Limit Complete	<b>6-1</b> 6-2 6-3 6-4 6-4 6-5 6-5 <b>7-1</b>
	6.1 6.2 6.3 <b>Fund</b> 7.1	Add or Edit Time LimitsDelete Time LimitsUnder Construction Time Limits6.3.1 Start a Time Limit6.3.2 Change Primary Time Limit6.3.3 Mark Time Limit Complete	<b>6-1</b> 6-2 6-3 6-4 6-4 6-5 6-5 <b>7-1</b> 7-2
	6.1 6.2 6.3 <b>Fund</b> 7.1 7.2	Add or Edit Time Limits Delete Time Limits Under Construction Time Limits 6.3.1 Start a Time Limit 6.3.2 Change Primary Time Limit 6.3.3 Mark Time Limit Complete <b>ling</b> Add or Edit a Fund Package	<b>6-1</b> 6-2 6-3 6-4 6-4 6-5 6-5 <b>7-1</b> 7-2 7-3
	6.1 6.2 6.3 <b>Fund</b> 7.1 7.2 7.3	Add or Edit Time Limits Delete Time Limits Under Construction Time Limits 6.3.1 Start a Time Limit 6.3.2 Change Primary Time Limit 6.3.3 Mark Time Limit Complete <b>ling</b> Add or Edit a Fund Package Add or Edit a Fund Source	<b>6-1</b> 6-2 6-3 6-4 6-4 6-5 6-5 <b>7-1</b> 7-2 7-3 7-3
	6.1 6.2 6.3 <b>Fund</b> 7.1 7.2 7.3	Add or Edit Time Limits Delete Time Limits Under Construction Time Limits 6.3.1 Start a Time Limit 6.3.2 Change Primary Time Limit 6.3.3 Mark Time Limit Complete <b>ling</b> Add or Edit a Fund Package Add or Edit a Fund Source Allocate Funds Among Sources	<b>6-1</b> 6-2 6-3 6-4 6-4 6-5 7-1 7-2 7-3 7-3 7-4
	6.1 6.2 6.3 <b>Fund</b> 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	Add or Edit Time Limits     Delete Time Limits     Under Construction Time Limits     6.3.1 Start a Time Limit     6.3.2 Change Primary Time Limit     6.3.3 Mark Time Limit Complete     Img     Add or Edit a Fund Package     Add or Edit a Fund Source     Allocate Funds Among Sources     Assign Fund Packages to Items	
7.	6.1 6.2 6.3 <b>Fund</b> 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5	Add or Edit Time Limits     Delete Time Limits     Under Construction Time Limits     6.3.1 Start a Time Limit     6.3.2 Change Primary Time Limit     6.3.3 Mark Time Limit Complete     Ing     Add or Edit a Fund Package     Add or Edit a Fund Source     Allocate Funds Among Sources     Assign Fund Packages to Items     7.4.1 Item Splits	6-1
7.	6.1 6.2 6.3 <b>Fund</b> 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 <b>Attac</b>	Add or Edit Time Limits     Delete Time Limits     Under Construction Time Limits     6.3.1 Start a Time Limit     6.3.2 Change Primary Time Limit     6.3.3 Mark Time Limit Complete <b>ling</b> Add or Edit a Fund Package     Add or Edit a Fund Source     Allocate Funds Among Sources     Assign Fund Packages to Items     7.4.1 Item Splits     Delete a Fund Package or Source	6-1
7.	6.1 6.2 6.3 <b>Fund</b> 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 <b>Attac</b> 8.1	Add or Edit Time Limits     Delete Time Limits     Under Construction Time Limits     6.3.1 Start a Time Limit     6.3.2 Change Primary Time Limit     6.3.3 Mark Time Limit Complete <b>ling</b> Add or Edit a Fund Package     Add or Edit a Fund Source     Allocate Funds Among Sources     Assign Fund Packages to Items     7.4.1 Item Splits     Delete a Fund Package or Source	6-1
7.	6.1 6.2 6.3 <b>Fund</b> 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 <b>Attac</b> 8.1 8.2	Add or Edit Time Limits     Delete Time Limits     Under Construction Time Limits     6.3.1 Start a Time Limit     6.3.2 Change Primary Time Limit     6.3.3 Mark Time Limit Complete     Iing     Add or Edit a Fund Package     Add or Edit a Fund Source     Allocate Funds Among Sources     Assign Fund Package sto Items     7.4.1 Item Splits     Delete a Fund Package or Source     Chments and Links     Attachments	6-1
7.	6.1 6.2 6.3 <b>Fund</b> 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 <b>Attac</b> 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4	Add or Edit Time Limits     Delete Time Limits     Under Construction Time Limits     6.3.1 Start a Time Limit     6.3.2 Change Primary Time Limit     6.3.3 Mark Time Limit Complete     Ing     Add or Edit a Fund Package     Add or Edit a Fund Source     Allocate Funds Among Sources     Assign Fund Packages to Items     7.4.1 Item Splits     Delete a Fund Package or Source     Chments and Links     Add or Edit an Attachment     Search Attachments     Delete an Attachment	6-1
7.	6.1 6.2 6.3 <b>Fund</b> 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 <b>Attac</b> 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4	Add or Edit Time Limits     Delete Time Limits     Under Construction Time Limits     6.3.1 Start a Time Limit     6.3.2 Change Primary Time Limit     6.3.3 Mark Time Limit Complete     Ing     Add or Edit a Fund Package     Add or Edit a Fund Source     Allocate Funds Among Sources     Assign Fund Packages to Items     7.4.1 Item Splits     Delete a Fund Package or Source     Chments and Links     Add or Edit an Attachment	6-1

8.7 Delete Link	
9. Bids, Tabulations, and Analysis	
9.1 Delete Bids	
9.2 Tabulations	
9.3 Analyze	
9.3.1 Project Percent Deviation	
9.3.2 Item Percent Deviation	
10. Materials	
10.1 Add or Edit Project Materials	
10.2 Search Materials	
10.3 Material Item Associations	
10.3.1 Add or Edit Material Item Association and Usage Rate	
10.3.2 Approve Material Item Usage	
10.3.3 Delete Material Item Associations	
10.4 Material History	
10.5 Delete Material	
10.6 Insufficient Material Certification	
11. All Reports	
12. Daily Activities	
12.1 Daily Activities Search	
12.2 Daily Reports	
12.2.1 Add or Edit Daily Report	
12.2.2 Daily Report Personnel	
12.2.3 Daily Report Equipment	
12.2.4 Daily Report Item Postings	
12.2.5 Worksheet Calculations	
12.2.6 Daily Report Attachments	
12.2.7 Daily Report Review Materials	
12.3 Daily Report Approvals and Actions	
12.3.1 Submit for Approval	
12.3.2 Undo Approval Request	
12.3.3 Approve or Deny	
12.3.4 Mark as Reviewed	
12.3.5 Mark as Checked	
12.4 Copy Daily Report	
12.5 Daily Report Reports	
12.6 View Daily Report	
12.7 Delete Daily Report	
12.8 Daily Diaries	
12.8.1 Add or Edit Daily Diary	
12.8.2 Mark as Complete or Incomplete	
12.8.3 Mark as Reviewed	
12.8.4 Daily Report Audit Log	
12.8.5 Daily Diary Report	

13.	Stock	xpiles
	13.1	Stockpile Field Definitions
		Add a Stockpile
	13.3	Edit a Stockpile13-7
		Delete a Stockpile
	13.5	Stockpile Events
14.	Chan	ge Orders14-1
	14.1	Add or Edit a Change Order 14-1
		14.1.1 Balance Overruns
		14.1.2 Change Order Quantity
		14.1.3 Change Order Items
		14.1.4 Add or Edit Change Order Time Limits
		14.1.5 Change Order Attachments
	112	14.1.6 Balance Change Order
		Delete a Change Order
	14.3	14.3.1 Submit for Approval
		14.3.2 Undo Approval Request
		14.3.3 Approve Change Order
		14.3.4 Unapprove Change Order
	14.4	View Change Order
		Change Order Reports
		Change Order Audit Log
15.	Punc	h List
	15.1	Add or Edit a Punch List Task
	15.2	Delete a Punch List Task
	15.3	Punch List Report
16.	Adju	stments
	•	Adjustment Cost
		Export Adjustment Cost Report
17.		<pre>xsheets</pre>
	17.1	Worksheet Details
		Add Worksheets
	17.3	Associate an Item to a Worksheet
	17.4	Remove an Item Worksheet Association 17-4
	17.5	Delete a Worksheet From a Project17-4
18.	Payn	18-1
	18.1	Add or Edit a Payment
		18.1.1 Overview
		18.1.2 Payment Retainage
		18.1.3 Payment Audit Log
		Issue Final Payment
	18.3	Exclusions

18.4 Payment Summary	
18.5 Work Performed	
18.5.1 Overages	
18.5.2 Insufficient	
18.6 Stockpiles	
18.7 Attachments	
18.8 Delete Payment	
18.9 View Payment	
18.10 Payment Approval	
18.10.1 Submit or Withdraw Payment for Approval	
18.10.2 Approve Payment	
18.10.3 Update Payment Dates and Mark as Paid	
18.11 Export	
18.12 Payment Reports	
19. Contractors	
19.1 Add or Edit Project Contractors	
19.2 Add Contractor Items	
19.3 Delete Contractor Items	
19.4 Delete a Contractor	
19.5 Contractor Daily Reports	
19.6 Contractor Reports	19-4

# 1. Getting Started With the Appia Service

The Appia<sup>®</sup> service is a web application for construction administration and inspection for capital improvement and infrastructure projects. It effectively manages daily reporting, funding, items, change orders and payments with an intuitive interface and multiple role types for controlled, real-time collaboration.

This guide lists the functions for each section of the Appia service regardless of role. If you cannot access a particular function, you may not be assigned the correct role. Please talk to your system administrator.

You will receive an email stating you have been added to a business within the Appia service. Log in to the Appia service to begin. You will see either the My Business page or the My Projects page.

If you see the My Projects page, you are within the business that added you to the Appia service and you are ready to start working. If you see the My Business page, you may need to switch to another business within the Appia service.

## 1.1 My Businesses

The My Businesses page lists the businesses you've been added to in the Appia service and provides away to search through all projects you have access to. The businesses are listed alphabetically. A selected circle next to the business name indicates your current business.

This page is accessible through the switch business option at the top of each Appia page. If you do not see this option, then you have not been added to more than one business.

Businesses		
Select Business		Q, Search Projects
Basener Agency	City Agency Project Manager	Go Green Construction
Contract 10/25	4727ACD-GS45-18	
Hwy 42 Road Improvement	4984-DYC-13541A-17	() 目 () /
423-4711-5201	6846684-IR-MA18	
1-4 AT SR 559 INTERCHANGE	01792SS-GR4517	
CR 68 EAST INE 224TH ST	786184SF-GD18	No projects found.
Displaying most recent projects	Displaying most recent projects	

Figure 1.1 My Businesses Page

If you are looking for a list of users added to your business, please see Section 1.3.1.

#### 1.1.1 Switch Businesses

If you've been added to more than one business in the Appia service, the top of any Appia page displays your current business along with the option to switch businesses.

Doing business as City Agency. <u>Switch to another business?</u>
Projects / 4984-DYC-13541A-17
4984-DYC-13541A-17 Under Construction

Figure 1-1. Switch Business Option

The Select Business page displays the businesses to which you have been added as a user. Businesses are listed alphabetically, and your role in each business is displayed under the business name.

- 1. Click <u>Switch to another business?</u> at the top of any Appia page.
- 2. Select the business.

The Appia service opens the My Projects page for that business.

#### 1.1.2 Devices

If you have a role that includes working with daily reports, you can download the Infotech Mobile Inspector application to use a tablet or other mobile device at the job site. Contact the system administrator for more information. Your device can be assigned only once per agency, but you can use it for all agencies you do business with.

#### 1.1.3 Projects Search

You can see a list of all projects to which you have access from the Projects Search page. This page also lists the project status and the name of the business that is responsible for the project.

To find a project, enter the project name or description in the Search field. Click the tab with the three lines to access the advanced search to search by business name or project status.

Projects Search			
Search for Project Name or Description			Seco
Business Name	Project St	atus x Construction x Completed	
Project ID	=	Business Name	Project Status
117925S-GR4517		City Agency	Completed
Build pass-through road			
1984-DYC-13541A-17		City Agency	Construction
5491688J-DA19		City Agency	Completed
Road repavement			
349879GS-SE19		City Adency	Construction

Figure 1-2. Projects Advanced Search

- 1. Click <u>Switch to another business?</u> at the top of any Appia page. You can also access this page from the advanced search on the My Projects page (see Section 2.4).
- 2. Click Search Projects. The Appia service opens the Projects Search page.
- 3. Enter the project name or description, or click the three lines under the Search field to search for the business name and status.
- 4. Click SEARCH.

Select your project from the list. The Appia service brings you to the Overview page.

#### 1.2 Reference Data

Reference data refers to the lists of information kept in the Appia service, from items to contractors to materials.

Only the system administrator and senior project manager can manage all reference data values. A project manager can see and export reference data values. Other roles may have access to different parts of the reference data.

For information about reference data, please see the *Appia System Administrator's Guide* or view the online help.

## 1.3 System MGT

The System Management pages can access information for the active business in the Appia service and display the global settings.

Depending on your role and how you access the page, the My Business page displays the users and license who are part of your business, are part of a businesses that you've been added to, or the list of the businesses you've been added to.

#### 1.3.1 My Business

The My Business page displays users in the active business to which you've been added and how the Appia licenses are being used for the businesses. Unless you have system management access, you cannot add or remove users to an Appia business.

The default role is the role you're given when you assigned to a project. This role can be changed by the business's system administrator.

The number in the Projects column indicates the number of projects you have access to for that business. This is based on your default role and if that role has been changed for any projects. Click the number to see the projects' ID and status.

The Status column shows if an Appia account is active or inactive. For information about the system administrator role and access, please see the *Appia System Administrator's Guide* or view the online help.

## 1.4 Classic Access

The Classic Access page provides a way to access projects that were created with the older version of the Appia service and are in the New, Under Construction, or Completed phases. The access can also be revoked.

If you do not see an available instance of the classic Appia service, either you do not have access to any projects for that instance or it hasn't yet been connected to the newer version of the Appia service. Contact your system administrator or customer support.

1. Select **Classic Access** in the Sidebar menu.

- 2. To grant access, click <u>Grant access to my projects</u> for your instance of the older version of the Appia service. Enter the user ID and password for your classic Appia account and click GRANT.
- 3. If you are removing access, click <u>Revoke access to my projects</u> for the instance of the Appia service, and click OK in the confirmation window.
- 4. Select **My Projects** in the Sidebar menu.

If you are granting access, the Appia service displays all projects to which you have access for both the classic and new version of the Appia service. The projects that originated in the classic Appia service display a Classic tag next to their name.

A classic Appia project will open in the older instance of the Appia service.

For information on using the classic version of the Appia service, please read the online help or contact customer support.

# 2. Projects

Projects created in the Appia service are used to guide the work starting with estimation through the finished project.

When you create a project in the Appia service, you enter information about the type of work and the location of the project, plus any percentages for business enterprises for disadvantaged, minority, or women own business.

After the initial project information is entered in the Appia service, use the options in the Sidebar menu to complete the project.

## 2.1 Project Phases

The Appia service has three phases for its projects – new, under construction, and completed. If you do not see all three phases listed on your My Project page, you have a role that does not have access to all projects.

Those with at least project manager permissions can also archive projects. Please see the *Appia System Administrator's Guide* or view the online help for more information.

The My Projects page displays all new projects and access to under construction and completed projects. The counter next to each heading shows how many projects to which you have access are in each phase.

**New** projects have been created, but may not yet have all needed elements in order to move to the construction phase. This is where you add sections and items, funding, and time limits. These elements can be changed in the construction phase with a change order. When all project information has been entered and the contractor selected, the project can be advanced to construction.

When a project is **under construction**, it cannot be moved back to the new project phase. All item quantities and prices entered become the awarded amount. Any changes to the project will require an approved change order. When a project is under construction, you can track item and material usage and the daily activities at the job site, plus submit payments.

When the final payment has been made, the project can be moved to the **completed** phase. Completed projects list the final project details such as the date completed and the total amount paid. The project stays available for future review and audit requirements.

ITEMS	Overview	Edit
	General Info	Important Dates
Funding.	Created By Great Summers Work Type Road Combuction Location Alachua Coulty Description 3.5 miles of turn lane construction, milling, milay, plant mix resurtacing and intersection construction at various locations in Alachua County.	D6/08/2017 Date Created Project Amounts \$285,258.52 Total
	Goals	

Figure 2.1 Project Header in New Phase

## 2.2 Import Project

You can import a JSON file into the Appia service as a new project. All items in the project must be in the reference data and the worksheets setting will be on. The project will be imported in a read-only format, so no changes can be made to the project until it is advanced to construction.

Imported projects will display a tag on the My Projects page.

- 1. From the My Projects page, click IMPORT PROJECT.
- 2. Click SELECT FILE.
- 3. Navigate to and select the JSON file, and click OPEN.
- 4. Click IMPORT.

The Appia service imports the file and lists it as a new project.

## 2.3 Create or Edit Project Overview

The project overview for a new project displays the general information and other aspects of the new project. For an under construction project, you will see an at-a-glance view of your project, including the percent complete, how much has been paid, and important dates.

If you do not enter information in some fields in a new project, you will not see those fields in an under construction project.

Create a new project or edit the project overview for a new or under construction project from the My Projects page in the Appia service.

New			Sava Gasad
· Project (D		DBE % Goal	
		1.00%	
Work Type		MOE % Goal	
the distance incomparison	2	3.5075	
Description		WBE 's Goal	
testen · B / E # # II II A ·		1.00%	
	^	" Please select one of the following	
		frim not going in analyze re award take.	
		This going to argonit toda for availying and assault	
	6		
Project Location			
Courries		Regions	
"him based "		The State of Conception of Con	
Location			
This is present builders are a read built of participant overang.			

Figure 2-3. New Project Page

All Appia users that have an assigned role in your company will have access to any new project. You can change your project security at any time (see Section 2.6.3).

- 1. From the My Projects page, click CREATE PROJECT or click the project ID to edit the project overview.
  - Note: You may see a short tutorial for selecting your bid items. Review each screen and click NEXT. Click OK, GOT IT to permanently remove the tutorial.
- 2. If you are editing the overview, click EDIT. If you are creating a new project, the Appia service opens the New page.
- 3. Enter or update your project information for the following fields for a new project. Some fields may not be available for your project, depending on your reference data lists.

Project ID	The unique identifier of the project. This field is required.
Fund Types	Select the funding types that will be used. You can select more than one option.

Work Type	Select the type of work from the drop down list.
Description	A description of the project. You can use the font options to change the look of your text.
DBE, MBE, WBE Percent Goal	The percentage of the project you want to contract to disadvantaged, women-owned, or minority-owned business enterprises.
Analyze and Award Bids	Determines whether the project is going to import bids for analysis and award.
	If you change this option, any items, item funding, previously imported bids, and bid analysis information will be deleted.
Project Location	Fields that specify the project locations, such as State, Region, and Counties, for projects that encompass more than one location. You can select more than one option.
Location	The physical location of the project.

An under construction project has additional fields that can be updated, as well as many of the same fields as a new project.

Project Manager	The name of the project manager.
Managing Office	The project's managing office.
Construction Start Date	The date on which construction will start. You cannot enter daily activities before this date.
Work Completion Date	The date on which the work is completed.

5. Once the project information is entered, click SAVE.

The Appia service takes you to the project Overview page. The Overview page displays all of the information that was entered along with the name of the user who created the project and the date it was created.

Click IMPORT ITEMS on the Project Overview page to import bid items or the items for award, or use the options on the Sidebar menu to add or edit your new or under construction project.

## 2.4 Find Project

To search for a project on the My Projects page, click in the Find Project field under the My Projects heading and enter at least three characters of the project ID or description. The Appia service displays a list of all projects that match the search criteria or displays a message if no projects are found.

Select your project from the list. The Appia service brings you to the Overview page.

To use the advanced search, please see Section 1.1.3.

## 2.5 Delete a Project

You can delete a project only in the New phase. The Appia service logs the information of the user who deleted the project.

=				۵	MY ACCOUNT LOGOUT
8	Projects				
MY PROJECTS	My Projects	() Under Constluction ()	Completed )		Crente Project
	Find Project		Message from webpage	1	
0	New 🚺		Are you sure you want to delete the project?		
HE P	O Project ID	Description	OK Cancel		
	SES08-27-17	3.5 miles of turn various locations	lane construction, milling, inlay, plant mix resurfa s in Alachua County	icing and intersection c	ionstruction at

Figure 2-4. Delete Project

- 1. On the My Projects page, click the X at the end of the project row for the project you want to delete.
- 2. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

The Appia service deletes the project and returns you to the My Projects page.

## 2.6 Project Settings

If you have the correct permissions, you can use the Appia project settings for report files and to set the rules for payment and stockpile retainage and work overages for your specific project.

Changes to the settings on the project level will override the global settings. Once project settings are saved, the Appia service will not use any global settings for the project. Changes to the global setting only affects new projects.

To see the settings, select **More** in the Sidebar menu when your project is open in any phase of the project, and click **Project Settings**.

If a retainage rule changes, the Appia service will either retain enough money to make up the difference or not withhold any money if the amount has been met through previous retainage.

Changes to these settings do not affect reports for change orders or payments already submitted for approval.

#### 2.6.1 General Settings

General project settings set the default value for features in the Appia service that aren't construction related.

-			A MY ACCOUNT LOG
Pro	jects / 649879GS-SE19 / Settings		
VERVIEW 64	49879GS-SE19 Under Construction 5 miles of furn have construction, milling, miley, plant mix resultacing and intersection	construction at various location	
	GENERAL		
	Project Settings		Save Cancel
	Report Display Name	Report Logo C1Users\gayles\Docume Browse	
** TERIALS	Name fe use in place of the agency same on PDF reports it left blank, the agency same will be used.	O into it on	
TERIALS	Report Logo Preference		
	O Do not display a logo		
	O Display the Appla product logo		
	Display your organization's logo		
0			
E LIMITS			
≣Z			
HANGE			

Figure 2-5. General Settings

Report Display Name	Enter the name you wish to see on PDF reports if the agency name isn't being used. Leave it blank to use the agency name. This name will appear at the top of every PDF report in the Appia service.
Report Logo Preference	Select the option to use for a logo on your reports. This logo will appear at the top of every PDF report in the Appia service.
	If you decide to display your organization's logo, use the Report Logo section to upload the file.
Report Logo	Use to upload your logo.
1. Select the project fro	om the My Projects page.

- 2. Click More and then Project Settings in the Sidebar menu.
- 3. Click the GENERAL tab.

- 4. Enter or change the name in the Report Display Name field if you want the name on the reports to be different than your agency name.
- 5. Choose your Report Logo Preference option.
- 6. If you are displaying your company logo, click BROWSE or click CHOOSE FILE (depending on your browser) in the Report Logo field. Navigate to and select the logo, then click OPEN.
- 7. Click SAVE when you are finished, or click the CONSTRUCTION tab to update the construction settings.

If you click SAVE, the Appia service applies the general settings and returns you to the project Overview page.

#### 2.6.2 Construction Settings

Construction project settings set the default value for features in the Appia service that are construction related.

	LAREAL IDATINGTON PROJECT IECONTY
Project Settings	
Payment Retainage Rule	Payment for Work Overages Rule
O Da not cap retainage	O Do not pay over item's withorized quantity
Cap retainage at 0000% of examined project amount	C Pay over item's authorized qualities
Capitetionage at 0.000% of authorized preset amount	Pay up to 10.00% over authorized item quantity
C Cap meanupe at 180.00 # Anton Suit 7 500% of availed prosed amount	Daily Report Cerry Over Roles 60 Carry Over Pensonet Io Ibn Carly Report 50 Carry Over Experiment In the Carly Report Daily Dairy Carry Over Roles
O Retain fast 0.000% of authorized project amount	Carry Over Personnel to the Daily Dairy . 12 Carry Over Equipment to the Daily Dairy
Stockpile Retainings Rule	Carry Over Bens Postings to the Daily Diary
iel Relain stockpile advancements?	20 Carry Over Attachments to the Daily Diary
Worksheet Calculations Rule	
RT Lines workscheerte in them Poptings? Im setting can't be shanged in an under combustion project.	
Signature Line for Payment Reports	
FontScont • B / ME ME HE HE A. •	
Signature Line for Cleange Order Reports	
FontState · B / E E E E E A ·	

Figure 2-6. Construction Settings

Payment Retainage Rule	Sets whether the retainage for the payment should be a cap on the percentage based on the awarded or authorized project amount, or if retainage takes place for the last percentages of the project. You can also choose to set a fixed dollar amount or not cap the retainage amount at all.
	If you selected one of the options to retain the last set percentage of the project, the check box for Retain stockpile advancements will be automatically selected.

	If you change the retainage during a project, the Appia service will either retain enough money from the current payment to make up the difference or not withhold any money if the amount has been met through previous retainage.
Stockpile Retainage Rule	Sets whether a percentage of a stockpile advance is withheld from the payment. The percentage is entered when the payment is added (see Chapter 18).
	If you selected to start payment retainage after a percentage of the project has been paid, the check box for Retain stockpile advancements will be automatically selected.
Worksheet Calculations Rule	Sets whether worksheet calculations will be used to determine the quantity placed for item postings in a daily report. This setting can't be changed in an under construction project.
Payment for Work Overages Rule	Determines whether to pay and how much to pay if an item goes over its authorized quantity.
Daily Report Carry Over Rules	Determines what daily report information from the previous report to display when creating a new daily report.
Daily Diary Carry Over Rules	Determines what daily report information to display when creating a daily diary.
Signature Line for Payment Reports	Sets the signature line on any payment report so approving authorities can sign off on the payments.
Signature Line for Change Order Reports	Sets the signature line the change order details report so approving authorities can sign off on the changes.

You can format the text for the signature lines using the icons on top of the text boxes. If needed, rest your mouse cursor over a formatting icon to see what it does. Highlight the text that you want to format, then click the icon. The Appia service applies the formatting to the highlighted text.

If a retainage rule changes, the Appia service will either retain enough money to make up the difference or not withhold any money if the amount has been met through previous retainage.

- 1. Select the project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click More and then Project Settings in the Sidebar menu.
- 3. Click the CONSTRUCTION tab.

- 4. Choose your Payment Retainage Rules option. Enter or change the percentage or the dollar amount to cap the retainage if needed. The new cap will be calculated and displayed on the next payment
- 5. Choose your Payment for Work Overages Rule option. Enter or change the percentage if needed.
- 6. Select or clear the Stockpile Retainage Rule check box.
- 7. Select or clear the Worksheets Calculations Rule check box.
- 8. Enter or change the information for payment report signatures in the Signature Line for Payment Reports field. Use the underscore (\_) on your keyboard if you want to create a line.
- 9. Enter or change the information for change order report signatures in the Signature Line for Change Order Reports field. Use the underscore (\_) on your keyboard if you want to create a line.
- 10. When you are finished, click SAVE, or click the GENERAL tab to update the general settings.

If you click SAVE, the Appia service applies the construction settings and returns you to the project Overview page.

#### 2.6.3 Project Security

The role assigned to you by the system administrator of a business is your default role for an Appia project. However, your role for each project can be changed by the administrator or the senior project manager. You can see your role and the roles of other Appia users for any project on the Project Security tab in the project settings.

- 1. Select the project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click More and then Project Settings in the Sidebar menu.
- 3. Click the PROJECT SECURITY tab.

The Appia service displays each user assigned to the project and the user security roles. Depending on your role, you can add and remove other users from the project and change a user's project role.

9250-DG019 🔤			Import is
	12 40 1	AL COMPARISON INVOLUES ACCOMING	
Project Users 🔳			Formove User
	ed for removal <u>Select al clubbe stees?</u>		
Name	Default Role	Project Role	J Sedect AR
Annie Dorlen	Read Only	Anargen Program Baser	0
linandy Gayton	Reat Crity	farvarvar	0
Gring Sibley	Read Only	Assaugh Phoped Fluite	0
Gred Stammers	System Administrator		
Greina Green	Project Manager	Annight Physical Rose	0
	System Administrator		
Harmab Imbeldano		Instantina	0
Hannah Imbilitano Rob Upshaw	Senior Project Manager	Disconcione and a second	

Figure 2-7. Project Security

#### 2.6.4 Manage Project Users

Any user that is part of your business in the Appia service can be added to your project. When you create a project, all users are assigned to it in their default roles. You can add or remove users and change their roles for your project.

#### **Remove Users**

You can remove a user that doesn't need access to your project. You can't remove system administrators.

- 1. From the Project Security tab of the Project Users page, select the check mark for the users you want to remove. Click **Select All** to select all users.
- 2. Click REMOVE USERS.
- 3. Click OK in the remove confirmation window.

The Appia service removes the users and returns you to the Project Users page.

#### Add Users

You can add any user that is part of your business to your project.

- 1. From the Project Security tab of the Project Users page, click ADD USERS. The Appia service displays users that are part of your business but don't have access to your project.
- 2. Select the users to add to your project.
- 3. Click ADD.

The Appia service adds the users to your project and assigns them their default Appia role. You can change their role for your project

#### 2.6.5 Manage User Roles

You can change a user's role for your project. Users with read only or reviewer default roles can't be assigned a project role that requires a license.

- 1. From the Project Security tab of the Project Users page, select the project role for the user whose role you want to change. The Appia service opens the list of roles.
- 2. Select the new user role.
- 3. Click SAVE.

The Appia service assigns the role and returns you to the Project Security tab.

#### 2.7 Award Bid

A bid is awarded for projects that are awarding and analyzing bids. After the bid is awarded, you can assign funding to the items (see Chapter 7) and advance the project to construction (see Section 2.8).

025739-GS19 Mee							
		ITEMS BIDS	TABULATIONS	ANALY	rz.		
Bids 🗾							Impor
Only bids set to YES will be analyzed, tabulated,	or export	ed					
GIBBS & REGISTER, INC.	0	Engineer's Estimate		0	BGCO, INC.		0
\$11,018,525.05 Low Bid Bid Total		\$11,460,985.50 Project Estimate	4.016% Over Low Bid		\$11,461,894.00 Bid Tobil	4.024% Over Low Rid	
Will bid be analyzed or exported?		Will bid be analyzed or ex	(DODBHY2 YES)		Will pict be analyzed or exp	optortz Stea	

Figure 2-8. Award Bid

- 1. Select the desired project from the New section of the My Projects page.
- 2. Select **Bid Items** in the Sidebar menu and click the BIDS tab.
- 3. Click AWARD for the awarded bid.

The Appia service awards the bid. To remove the award, click Remove award.

You can import bids until the project is advanced to construction. If you need to update the awarded bid, you must remove the award.

## 2.8 Advance to Construction

By advancing to construction, your selected project moves from the New phase to the Under Construction phase. This should be done only when all required fields and the details of your project, such as items and funding, have been entered.

The ADVANCE TO CONSTRUCTION button will not be available until there are items in your project item list.

- Any changes to a project after it has been advanced to the Under Construction phase must be done through a change order (see Chapter 14).
- You will not see the Index Price fields if none of your items have adjustment factors for asphalt or fuel.
- The worksheet calculations rule setting can't be changed in an under construction project.

Frank & Transport & Control & Control			
72995UY27-0519			
Advance Project To Construction			Trees, Const.
- Name in Primer law		Location in the line	
Particip		mapping the	
100 million (100 million)			
tioni faperi		- Print Executer	
Heads Talan		Presses i surfato foi fallourig anno anno anno	
transp.	9.	Contraction of the state of the	
Define ( A. R. F. R. R. R. D. D. A. 1		(5) This Amount Amount in \$50,500 at.	
Dense - a / a a a a a a .			
and the second se	-		
Provid Localizer			
Linette .		Common .	
		1 fairt - anna 1	
		Later	
and concerning the low-rank of address to come		the second se	
Summer and			

Figure 2-9. Advancing to Construction Phase

- 1. Select the desired project from the New section of the My Projects page.
- 2. Click the ADVANCE TO CONSTRUCTION button in the upper-right corner. This will take you to the Advance Project to Construction page.
- 3. Enter the appropriate information into the required fields, which are marked by red asterisks. The required fields include the Notice To Proceed Date field and the Prime Contractor field. If you imported the project, the prime contractor can't be changed.
- 4. Confirm the project settings. If they need to be changed, click <u>project settings</u> to access the Project Settings page.
- 5. The remaining fields are optional. However, if a date is entered into the Construction Start Date field, that date must fall after the date in the Notice to Proceed Date field. Values entered in the Index Price fields will be used in the payment adjustment calculator (see Chapter 16).

- 6. Click EXECUTE in the upper-right corner.
- 7. A Project Details window appears with any warnings and notices about your project. This includes if you are missing time limits and if the worksheets calculations setting is on or off.
- 8. Click YES, ADVANCE TO CONSTRUCTION to proceed or CANCEL to return to the previous page.

After clicking YES, the Appia service brings you to the selected project's page. An Under Construction banner will be displayed next to the project's name.

The Appia service may automatically enter information about items or materials.

# 3. Export Data

If you have the proper access, you can export Appia project or report information into .zip files. You must be on the All Project page to see the Export Data option.

## 3.1 Export Project

You can export your Appia project into files so it can be stored in a project archive. This includes the project's attachments and reports.

- 1. Select Export Data in the Sidebar menu and select Export Projects.
- 2. Click the down arrow export project button at the end of the project's row.

The Appia service creates a .zip file of the selected project. You will receive an email with a link to the file when it is ready.

## 3.2 Export Reports

You can export selected reports for your under construction projects. Some reports may not be included until their status is approved.

- 1. Select Export Data in the Sidebar menu and select Export Reports.
- 2. Select the project for which you want the reports in the Project field.
- 3. Select the start and end dates of the report range.
- 4. Select or clear the check marks of the reports you want to export. The Appia service clears the check mark for any reports that do not have information for the selected project.

5. Click EXPORT.

The Appia service creates a .zip file of the selected reports and returns you to the My Projects page. You will receive an email with a link to the file when it is ready.

## 4. Import Items

You can import .csv or .xlsx files of items into the item list of a new project. Only the system administrator and senior project manager can add, change, or delete items. Importing updated item information does not change the item already in use in a project.

If you are manually adding any items, you must do it before you import the items (see Chapter 5).

#### 4.1 Import Bid Items for Analysis and Award

Once you create a project, you can import the engineer's estimate or a bid. Enter any manual items first. You can't edit the bid item list in the New phase once bids have been imported.

To manually add or edit items, see Chapter 5.

#### 4.1.1 Import the First Bid

- 1. Click IMPORT ITEMS from the Project Overview page or select **Bid Items** in the Sidebar menu and click IMPORT from the Items header.
- 2. Click BROWSE or click CHOOSE FILE (depending on your browser).
- 3. Navigate to and select the .csv or .xlsx file that contains the items.
- 4. Click OPEN.
- 5. Select the check box if you want to restrict the items being imported to those in the reference list.
- 6. Click UPLOAD FILE.

The Appia service displays a small sample of the items in the file and the names of the fields in the item details.

025739-GS19	-							
Import Items								Import Cano
	d, import linene into a new see	cline or into the default section				K		
Selecting Engineer's E	shmate will automatically into	ar project Plane.						
Default Section			Select number of rows to	skip		Options		
** Nose Selected **		9	** None Selected **		9	R Clear project items bet	lore report?	
The second provided, input t	mend and a relative backline by lotal the de	that sectors	Preview (first 10 mill of 12 million)			* Engineer's Estimate / Cor	NTractor	
						** None Selected **		
						Selecting Engineer's Estimate will a	denistrally that preset here.	
Unassigned Columa	Unavaigned Column	Unassigned Column	Unissigned Colume	Unassigned Colum(V)	Unassigned Column	Unassigned Column	Universigned Colum(V)	Uninsigned Colum
Section Number	Section Description	Line Number	them 4D	Description	Supplemental Description	Quantity	Line	Unit Price
	Read Construction	10.	010.2201	SPECIAL DETOUR (DETOUR 1) 20927815281		1	L5.	1475
	Read Construction	20	211-0425	PAVEMENT REMOVAL OF EXISTING CONCRETE		94	N2	77
	Road Construction	30	210-2712	BARRIER WALL (TEMPORARY) (RELOCATE) (CONCRETE)		40	Mt	112
	Road Construction	40	233-9187	ASPHALT PAVEMENT MISCELLANEOUS		30	MT	175
	Road Construction	50	028-6265	TURNOUT CONSTRUCTION (ASPHALT)		-45	714	502.33

Figure 4-10. Import Bid Items

7. Assign each column of the file to its matching field in the Appia service. Once you assign a column to a field, the Appia service replaces the column name with the field name.

For example, Column 4 is the item ID and Column 8 is the unit in Figure 4-10. Select Column 1 from the drop down list of the Item ID field and select Column 2 from the drop down list of the Unit field. Only the Item ID, Description, and Unit columns are required. If you restrict the import to items in the reference list, you do not need to assign a Description column.

- 8. If needed, specify a default description.
- 9. If there are rows in the import file that are not part of an item, select those rows in the Select number of rows to skip field.
- 10. If you want your current Items list to be overwritten, select the check box in the Options section that asks Clear project items before import? This will replace any items that are in both the current item list and the imported item file (according to the Item ID). Items that are in the current list but not in the file will remain unchanged, and items that are in the file but not in the current list will be added.
- 11. If you do not allow the existing data to be overwritten, any items that are in the current list, regardless of whether they are also in the imported item file (according to the Item ID), will remain unchanged. Items that are only in the imported item file will be added to the current list.
- 12. Select Engineer's Estimate or the contractor from the Engineer's Estimate/Contractor list.

13. Once all the columns and options are assigned, click IMPORT. You can halt this process by clicking CANCEL instead.

The Appia service displays the ITEMS tab of the Bid Items page with the number of items that have been imported successfully and any errors that may have occurred. The items are assigned the next available line numbers. Items imported into the project are assigned to the default funding source and package (see Chapter 7).

Click the BIDS tab of the Bid Items page to import another bid.

#### 4.1.2 Import Subsequent Bids

If you are importing a bid for an awarded contractor, you must remove the award (see Section 2.7).

- 1. Select **Bid Items** in the Sidebar menu and select the BIDS tab. If you are already on the BIDS tab, click IMPORT.
- 2. Click BROWSE or click CHOOSE FILE (depending on your browser).
- 3. Navigate to and select the .csv or .xlsx file that contains the items.
- 4. Click OPEN.
- 5. Select the check box if this is the engineer's estimate.
- 6. Click UPLOAD FILE.

The Appia service displays a small sample of the items in the file and the names of the fields in the item details.

025739-GS19	law					
		IILAIS II	IDS TABULATIONS	AMALYZE		
Import Bid					Imp	ort Cancel
Bid flems must be imp	orled in the same order as the	project items				-
* Contractor		Select number of row				
** None Selected **	-	** Nohe Selected **				
		Preview (Inst 10 out of 13 a	purit)			
Unassigned Columi	Unassigned Colume	Unassigned Colume	Unassigned Colume	Unassigned Colume	Unassigned Columi	Unassigned
Section Number	Section Description	Line Number	Item ID	Description	Supplemental Description	Quantity
r	Road Construction	19	010-2201	SPECIAL DETOUR (DETOUR 1) 20927815201		1
C	Road Construction	20	211-0425	PAVEMENT REMOVAL OF EXISTING CONCRETE		30
1	Road Construction	30	210-2712	BARRIER WALL (TEMPORARY) (RELOCATE) (CONCRETE)		40

Figure 4-11. Import Bid Items

- 7. Assign the item ID and the unit price fields to their matching columns. Once you assign a column, the Appia service replaces the column name with the field name.
- 8. Select the contractor if this is not the engineer's estimate. The Appia service will not prevent you from selecting a contractor for more than one bid. The imported bid will replace the original bid and remove any bid award.
- 9. If there are rows in the import file that are not part of an item, select those rows in the Select number of rows to skip field.
- 10. Once all the columns and options are assigned, click IMPORT. You can halt this process by clicking CANCEL instead.

The Appia service displays the ITEMS tab of the Bid Items page with the number of items that have been imported successfully and any errors that may have occurred. The items are assigned the next available line numbers. Items imported into the project are assigned to the default funding source and package (see Chapter 7).

## 4.2 Import Bid Award Item List

Once you create a project, you can import the item list. To manually add or edit items, see Chapter 5.

- 1. Click IMPORT ITEMS from the Project Overview page or select **Items** in the Sidebar menu and click IMPORT from the Items header. If items have already been imported, click IMPORT from the Items page.
- 2. Click BROWSE or click CHOOSE FILE (depending on your browser).
- 3. Navigate to and select the .csv or .xlsx file that contains the items.
- 4. Click OPEN.
- 5. Keep the option selected if you want to restrict the items being imported to those in the reference list.
- 6. Click UPLOAD FILE.

The Appia service displays a small sample of the items in the file and the names of the fields in the item details.

10011100									
460N-119 Contraction									
								-	
Import items								lenguert. El	1941
The ballion is specified as	ngairt Avens into a new perdiant or int	a the default incline							
Detaatt Section		Select number of rows to skip			Options				
** Norm Schedult **	23	7			St. Clear	propert il	ensi before import?		
(in solice & gasilies' report here	ris 4 new peckle is risk for celled second	Preparation (SVI) VC and (#1345 resets)							
Unmaigned Column	Unassigned Column	Unamagnet Columne	Unavaigned Column	21	Unansigned Colimn	191	Unassigned Column	Unamigned Column	13
145-0106	14	CONTRACTOR CERTIFIED CROSS SECTIONS NH- 087-4(56) \$1	¥						
150.6900	10	TRAFFIC CONTROL - PRC10-S800-00(198)-81	4						
151.000	10	MOBILIZATION - CSSTP-9988-09(387) 01	τ.						
152-1000	EA	FELD LABORATORY							
153-1368	EA	FIELD ENGINEERS OFFICE TP 3							
150-1000	3488	TRAINING HOURS							
167.0989	FA.	EBOSION CONTROL CHECK DAM SPECIAL DESIGN							

Figure 4-12. Import Items

- 7. Assign each column of the file to its matching field in the Appia service. For example, Column 1 is the item ID and Column 2 is the unit in Figure 4-10. Select Column 1 from the drop down list of the Item ID field and select Column 2 from the drop down list of the Unit field. Only the Item ID, Description, and Unit columns are required. If you restrict the import to items in the reference list, you do not need to assign a Description column.
- 8. Once you assign a column to a field, the Appia service replaces the column name with the field name.
- 9. If needed, specify a default description.
- 10. If there are rows in the import file that are not part of an item, select those rows in the Select number of rows to skip field. In Figure 4-10, the first row is the header information and not part of an item.
- 11. If you want your current items list to be overwritten, select the check box in the Options section that asks Clear project items before import? This will replace any items that are in both the current items list and the imported item file (according to the Item ID). Items that are in the current list but not in the file will remain unchanged, and items that are in the file but not in the current list will be added.
- 12. If you do not allow the existing data to be overwritten, any items that are in the current list, regardless of whether they are also in the imported item file (according to the Item ID), will remain unchanged. Items that are only in the imported item file will be added to the current list.
- 13. Once all the columns and options are assigned, click IMPORT. You can halt this process by clicking CANCEL instead.

The Appia service displays the Items page with the number of items that have been imported successfully and any errors that may have occurred. The items are assigned the next available line numbers. Items imported into the project are assigned to the default funding source and package (see Chapter 7).

Click the IMPORT tab of the Bid Items page to add additional items to the list.

To award the project to a contractor, click ADVANCE TO CONSTRUCTION (see Section 2.8).
# 5. Sections and Items

If your project is using the Appia service to import and analyze bids, sections and items can be added when the project is in the New phase until bids have been imported. Both types of projects can add sections and items with a change order (see Chapter 14) after the project has been advanced to construction (see Section 2.8).

Items can be imported (please see Chapter 4) or entered manually. If you are manually adding any items, you must do it before you import the items.

When adding items when a project is in the new phase of the Appia service, it is beneficial to group related items together in sections. When you start a new project, the Appia service automatically adds a section for you. You can change the name of this section and add more sections.

Address -							items 🧰
(See						D, Dracigition and Unit	Gaardy for Line Marrier, Ber
Autorized Amount	Und Price	Quantity Placed	Authorized Quantity	Cetganal Quantity	-	Been ID	Line Manther
ANIBARINE							lethor: 1. Dissigning
11,540.04	24.94	23.000	skies	This inter-	M2	-211.6425	600
_			Generally Parts			THE CONCRETE	AVENENT REMOVAL OF EX-
\$1,540.0	15 00	121 (64)	-145.205	40.005		216-2712	
_		_	Quantity Past		ni	RELOCATENCONCRET	CARDER WALL (TEMPORARY
100.0	415.848	17.668	1.10	jalan.	.in	223.4487	
	_	_	Genetity Past		_	ANEONIS	SPRULT PAVEMENT MEIOEL
11.31610	ENO BOR	15 imp	0.00	45.885	19	105-691	
			Greently Past	_		SPHIALT)	University Constitution of
1000-0	94.94	3.000	15.200	(5.6at)	TN-	194.491 <i>i</i>	- 400
_			ELTY Gaardity Pail			CRETE (TRAFFIC A)	Oranity Paul
11,000,00	1414		22.005		78	314-8271	
			Timestity Past			CHETE (TRAFFIC E)	Guanty Name

For information on funding and item splits, please see Chapter 7.

Figure 5-1. Sections and Items in an Under Construction Project

If you have more than 30 items in a section, the Appia service paginates the section's item list. Click the page numbers to see the additional items.

wy Applications	-					Vite My Account - Logou
5850	960-0550	22 000	LM1	\$51,000	\$1,122.00	0
PRECAST THE	REE SIDED CU	LVERT SINGLE BARREL S	TA 10+178 502			
5860	960-0550	17.000	LM1	\$51.000	\$867.00	0
PRECAST THE	REE SIDED CU	LVERT, SINGLE BARREL - S	TA 10+178 502			
5870	999-0015	14 000	EA	\$52 000	\$728.00	0
CONCRETE B	EAM END REP	AIR				
5800	999-0015	27.000	EA	\$60.521	\$1,850.07	0
CONCRETE B	EAM END REP	AIR				
1 2 3 4 5 Ne Displaying item	ot Last # is 1 - 30 of 268	in total				
Section: 2 - LJ	ghting					Add tiems Actions +
Line Number	Item ID	Quantity	Unit	Unit Price	Extension	
0050	639-4014	25.000	EA	\$850.264	\$21,256.60	0
STRAIN POLE	TP IV, INCL L	UMINAIRE ARM				
0060	670-9710	3.000	EA	\$175.000	\$525.00	0
RELOCATE EX	OST FIRE HYD	RANT				
0070	682-7065	5.000	LF	\$33.000	\$165.00	0
CONDUIT DUC	T BANK, TYPE	ESPECIAL				

Figure 5-2. Section Pagination

### 5.1 Sections

When you create a project, the Appia service assigns a default section to the project. Sections are used to group related items. You can change the name of the section and add more sections to your project.

#### 5.1.1 Project Sections

Each section in your project lists the items in order of line number and displays the section total at the bottom of the section. The project total displays at the end.

Use the arrow symbol to the left of the section header to expand or collapse the items in the section.

#### 5.1.2 Add or Change a Section

You can add or change a section when the project is new. You can add a section when the project is under construction.

- 1. Select the project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **Items** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Items page for your project.
- 3. To add a section to an under construction project, click ADD SECTION.

- 4. To add section to a new project, click EDIT on the Items page. The Appia service displays the Items details page. Then click ADD SECTION.
- 5. To change the section name and description, click ACTIONS in the Section title row and choose **Edit**. The Appia service displays the Change Section window.

Change Section	
Section	
1	
Description	
Description	
	Change Cancel

Figure 5-3. Edit Section Window

- 6. Change the section number by entering a new number. Each section number must be unique. When you save the changes, the Appia service will move the section to its numeric place on the Items page. This field is required.
- 7. Enter or change a description for the section. This field is required.
- 8. Click CHANGE.

The Appia service updates the section information and displays the Items list.

#### 5.1.3 Delete Section

To delete a section, click ACTIONS in the Section title row and choose **Delete**. Click OK in the delete confirmation window. The Appia service deletes the section and all of its items.

You cannot delete a section of an under construction project if the section has items.

## 5.2 Project Items

A project item is the smallest unit of work identified. Items can be added or imported into your project in the New phase. Any changes to the item table while a project is under construction must be done by a change order (see Chapter 14).

Item prices and quantities comprise the basis of the estimate for your project. Those extension totals are displayed at the end of each section. The project total is displayed after the last section. These totals can change if the authorized quantity of an item changes.

If an item can have a supplemental description, you will not see the field unless a description has been entered.

Items can have different fund sources or can be split between fund packages. For more information, please see Chapter 7.

When a project is under construction, you will see a bar graph for each item displaying the quantity that has been placed and paid in the project. The slide menu next to the line number helps you access an item's material associations, stockpile, and history. All items must be complete and balanced before you can make the final payment for a project.

							MY ACCOUNT LOGO
Projects / 47260-A570-17 / Ite	ernes						
4726D-AS70-17		75 mile marker 390 in	Alachua County, FL				Reports
Items 📧							Actions +
Search for Line Number, Iten	ID, Description and Unit						Search
Section: 1 - Drainage				-			Add Unattached
Line Number	Hern ID	Unit	Original Quantity	Authorized Quantity	Quantity Placed	Unit Price	Authorized Amoun
CONC SPILLWAY, TP 4	441-0304	EA	50.000	50.000	14.250	\$1,000.000	\$50,000.0
2225 Quantity Placed	_			Quantity Paid			_
0020 CONC SPILLWAY, TP 4	441-0304	EA	5.000	5.000	0.000	\$1,500.000	\$7.500.0
Quantity Placed	_			Quantity Paid			
COF Add Stockpile	441-0050	SY	10.000	10.000	0.000	\$2,000.000	\$20,000.0
ED History				are Quantity Paid			

Figure 5-4. Quantity Paid Percentage, Bar Graph, and Slide Menu

#### 5.2.1 Add Items

You can add or import items to the project when it is in the New phase as long as there are no bids for the project. For a project that is under construction, items must be added through a change order (see Chapter 14).

If you are importing items, please see Chapter 4.

To add more than one instance of an item to the same section for a new project, click the corresponding item row for the number of times you wish the item to be added. To clear an item, click the red X button to the right of the item row until the counter reaches zero. You may select all the items for your section before closing the item list.

Line numbers are assigned to the items in the order in which they are added to a project, though they can be changed by editing the item details.

C. Starch for Barn El-Dass	astronom wavd Unit	Sea
441-4124	CONC GUTTER WITH RAISED EDGE, 6 IN X 24 IN	LF
441-5001	CONCRETE HEADER CURB, 4 IN, TP 1	LF
441-6740	CONC CURB & GUTTER, 208 MM X 750 MM, TP 7	LM1
441-7011	CURB CUT WHEELCHAIR RAMP, TYPE A	EA.
441-7012	CURB CUT WHEELCHAIR RAMP, TYPE B	EA
441-7013	CURB GUT WHEELCHAIR RAMP, TYPE C	EA
441-9000	PRECAST BUMPER BLOCK	EA.
442-0100	ROLLER COMPACTED CONCRETE PAVEMENT	SY
443-1000	ELASTOMERIC PROFILE BRIDGE JOINT SEALS, BR NO - 1	EA
444-1000	SAWED JOINTS IN EXIST PAVEMENTS - PCC	LM1
« First , Prev 1 2	3 4 5 5 7 8 9 Next, Last.	
Displaying items 121 - 150 of	646 in total	

Figure 5-5. Add Items to Section Window

- 1. Select the new project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click Items in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Items page.
- 3. Click EDIT. The Appia service displays the Items page.
- 4. Click ADD ITEMS for the section to which you want to add the items. The Appia service opens the Add Items to Section window.
- 5. Select item you wish to add to the section. The counter to the left of the item description displays how many of each item will be added. Click the item again to add it more than once to the section. To remove the item, click the X at the end of the item's row.
- 6. If necessary, use the Search field to locate an item using the item's ID, unit, or description. Click the three lines under the Search field to use more than one search option. Click SEARCH.
- 7. If necessary, enter new criteria in the Search field and click SEARCH, or clear the field and click SEARCH to display the entire item list.
- 8. Once the items have been selected, click the ADD ITEMS button to add the items to the section or click CANCEL to return to the Items page without adding items.

The Appia service will return you to the Items page. Make sure the section is expanded on the Items page so you can view your items. Repeat the process for another section if necessary. Once items are added to your project, you can assign the quantities and unit prices. Items added to the project are assigned to the default funding source and package (see Chapter 7).

#### 5.2.2 Add or Edit Item Details

If you are importing bids for analysis and award, you can't change the item list once a bid has been imported. However, you can update a bid's unit prices.

You can edit the quantity and the unit price of an item in a project in the New phase. Items cannot be changed in a new project once bids have been imported. For a project that is under construction, items must be added through a change order (see Chapter 14). You can also change the line number the Appia service assigned to the item. The line number must be one that is not already in use.

If an item is marked as a lump sum in the item reference list, its quantity must be 1. This cannot be changed. An item needing a supplemental description must have the supplemental description flag selected in the item reference list (for more information, contact your system administrator). If you add an item from the reference data item list that includes adjustment factors, those factors will be visible from the item's Edit page (see Section 5.8) once the project is under construction.

-		_					MV ACCOUNT LOGOUT
٠	Projects / SE0	827-GR19 / Nem	s / Edit Items				
OVENATEM		-GR19	r, milling, intay, plant mix resurfacing an	rd intersection construction at va	arious locations in Alachua County.		Advance to Construction Reports +
- 88	-						
ITEMS	Items						Save Add Section Cancel
0	Line Number	Item ID	Quantity	Unit	Unit Price	Extension	
THE LOUTS	Section: 10	Roadwork					Add tiens Actions +
	0010	231-1200	97 (68)	EA	5100 (000	\$1,700.00	0
PLANDING/	MISCELLANE	OUS CONSTRUC	TION, ROADS, STREETS AND DRIVE	EWAYS			
	2020	461-1000	1,253,080	LF	\$200.000	\$250,600.00	0
MORE	RESEALING	ROADWAY JOINT	S AND CRACKS, TP - M				
	0030	609-1000	22.000	SY	\$380.030	\$6,000.00	0
	REMOVE RO	ADWAY SLAB					
	0040	633-3500		EA.		\$9.00	0
	REMOUNT U	NMODIFIED HWY	SIGN, SPCL ROADSIDE				
	0050	999-5900		LS		\$0.00	0
	IN-ROADWA	CROSSWALK W	ARNING SYSTEM 1				
	Displaying all 5	derre.					
	Section: 20 -	Lighting					Add Rema Astions -
	6060	610-6605	15:000	EA	3450 000	\$6,750.00	0
	REM LIGHTR	IG STANDARD					
	0070	682-9030	1 600	15	\$350.000	\$350.00	0
	LIGHTING SY	STEM					

Figure 5-6. Add or Edit Item Details

- 1. Select the project from the My Projects page if the list is not displayed. Click **Items** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Items page. (If you need to add items before you edit the item details, please see Section 5.2.1.) Click EDIT. The Appia service displays the Edit Items page.
- 2. Add the quantities for your items in the Quantity field or change the quantities that are incorrect. You can enter a quantity of zero or greater. If an item has been assigned to more than one fund package, you may need to update the quantity distribution (see Section 7.4).
- 3. Add the prices for your items in the Unit Price field or change the prices that are incorrect.

- 4. If an item displays a Supplemental Description field, click in the field to add or change the description.
- 5. If needed, change an item's line number. The item will be moved to its new numbered position after the changes are saved.
- 6. Click SAVE at the top of the page or SAVE PROJECT ITEMS at the bottom of the page to save your changes.

If you are finished with the Items page, click the project name in the navigation trail to return to the Overview page.

#### 5.2.3 Update Unit Price

You can change the unit price in the engineer's estimate or contractor bids without deleting any bids for projects that are analyzing and awarding bids.

- 1. Select the project from the My Projects page if the list is not displayed. Click **Bid Items** in the Sidebar menu.
- 2. Click the BIDS tab.
- 3. Select the engineer's estimate or the contractor.
- 4. Click EDIT.
- 5. Change the unit price.
- 6. Click SAVE.

The Appia service returns you to the items list and displays the bid with the changed unit price.

#### 5.2.4 Delete an Item

You can delete an item from a section in a new project as long as the project has no bids. Items in an under construction project must be deleted through a change order (see Chapter 14). You can delete unattached items in under construction projects that have not had any item postings.

To delete an item in a new project:

- 1. Select **Items** or **Bid Items** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service opens the Items page.
- 2. Click EDIT.
- 3. Locate the item you want to delete.

- 4. Click the **X** for that item.
- 5. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

The Appia service deletes the item and displays a successful delete message. Click the project ID in the navigation trail to return to the project Home page.

To delete an unattached item:

- 1. Select **Items** or **Bid Items** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service opens the Items page.
- 2. Locate the item you want to delete.
- 3. Click the slide menu for that item and select **Delete**.
- 4. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

The Appia service deletes the item and displays a successful delete message. Click the project ID in the navigation trail to return to the project Home page.

#### 5.2.5 Unattached Items

Unattached items are used for an under construction project when work or items need to be tracked before the change order has been approved. They cannot be paid and are not considered part of the project until they are approved in a change order (see Chapter 14). Unattached items display at the end of a section and are flagged as unattached.

You add the item's quantity, unit price, and funding with a change order. You can also change the item's line number.

E 0070 4415980 CY 0.050 0.000 50.0000 50.0000 50.000 50.000 50.000 50.000 50.000 50.00	SANITARY SEWER PACKAGED METERING MANHOLE		Our Quantity Paid			
		0.000	B 900	D.000	\$0.000	50
			Guantity Paid		_	

Figure 5-7. Item List With Unattached Item

- 1. Select the under construction project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click Items in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Items page.
- 3. Scroll to the section to where the item will be placed and click ADD UNATTACHED. The Appia service opens the Add Items to Section window.

- 4. If needed, use the Search field to locate an item. Enter the item's ID, unit, or description. Click the three lines under the Search field to use more than one search option. Click SEARCH.
- 5. Select item you wish to add. The counter to the left of the item description displays how many of each item will be added. Click the item again to add it more than once. To remove the item, click the X at the end of the item's row.
- 6. Add other items as necessary.
- 7. Once all unattached items have been selected, click the ADD ITEMS button to add then to the project.

You can delete unattached items that have not had any item postings by clicking the item's slide menu and selecting **Delete**. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

### 5.3 Export Item List

You can export a project's entire item list into a .csv file. This can happen in any phase of the project.

Reglacts / WD1756-43516 / Hones					B WACCOUNT LOD
WO1756-GS16 Main Constant					Reports
Items 🖸					Address #
Inserviced and Service Install Conference Area Unit					Antumate
w Section: 7 -Description		-			Egoi
Line Number New ID. Unit.	Original Quantity	Authorized Quantity	Quantity Placed	Unit Price	Authorized Amou
6010     150-1000     LS  TRAFFIC CONTROL - PRC10-5005-001189-01	1.000	5 000	0.000	\$1,500,000	\$1,500
ans Gazetty Placed		Ouanthy Paid		_	_
= 0020 162-1300 EA	25.603	26.000	3.000	\$1.000.000	\$20,065.
EROSION CONTROL CHECK DAM. TP - 1					
11 ora Quantity Placed	_	Guantity Paid	_	_	_
🕳 0030 402 3110 MG	30,003	900.30	0.000	5500.000	\$15,000
RECYCLED ASPH CONC 9.5 MM SUPERPAVE, GP 1 DR 2, INCL 8	TOM MATE & H LIME				
Gree Outwilly Placed	_	Quantity Paid		_	
004				_	\$15,000
RECYCLED ASPH CC	Stares from web? dev area not?		Open Seve *	Canal	arous

Figure 5-8. Under Construction Item Export Options

- 1. On the My Projects page, select the project.
- 2. Click **Items** on the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Items list for the project.
- 3. For a project that is new, click EXPORT. For a project under construction, click **Actions** from the Items header and select **Export**.
- 4. Click OPEN or SAVE to open or save the .csv file.

If you click OPEN, the exported item list opens automatically, displaying the list including the section names and numbers. If you click SAVE, a dialogue box will inform you that the download has completed.

## 5.4 Search

You can search the item list for a particular item, or you can search for a contractor to display their bid item prices.

#### 5.4.1 Search Items

You can search for items by line number, item ID, description, or unit for a project in any phase of construction. The Appia service searches across all sections and pages for the search criteria.

WO1756-	GS16	lans Creation						Repo
Items E								Agicos
000								Rear
Internation								
(administration)								
v Soction 1	Description							
Line No	mber	item ID	Unit	Originial Quantity	Authorized Quantity	Quantity Placed	Unit Price	Authorized Am
E 010	ROL PRCH	150-1010 0 5008 00(108) 01	LS	11 000	1.050	0.010	\$1,500 000	\$1.54
Dea Guantin	Placed				Coanthy Paid	_	_	
Deploying 1 down								Section Total: \$1,5
~ Section: 2	Description							
	mber	Itom ID	Unit	Original Quantity	Authorized Quantity	Quantity Placed	Unit Price	Authorized Am

Figure 5-9. Under Construction Project Items List

- 1. Select the project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **Items** or **Bid Items** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Items page.
- 3. Enter the search criteria of the item or items in the Search for field. Click the Advanced Search tab (the three lines under the Search field) to use more than one search option.
- 4. Click SEARCH.

The Appia service displays the items that match the search criteria. For example, if you searched for **130** as a line number, the Appia service will also display item IDs, descriptions, and units that include **130**.

To display the full item list again, clear all search fields and click SEARCH.

#### 5.4.2 Find Bid By Contractor

You can find a bid by a contractor for a project where you are analyzing and awarding a bid.

- 1. Select the project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **Bid Items** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Items page.
- 3. Click Find Bid By Contractor and enter the contractor's name.
- 4. Select the contractor from the list.

The Appia service displays the bid imported for the selected contractor.

### 5.5 Item Material Associations

Materials are articles or supplies that are required, consumed, or used in placing a project item during the construction of the project. Some items in the item reference list contain associated materials. These materials are added to your project when the item is added to your project, though you will not see them until your project is in the Under Construction phase. You can also associate materials with an item when the project is under construction.

You can see the list of materials associated with an item using the Item Details slide menu, represented by three straight lines to the left of the Line Number column. The number next to the Materials name displays how many materials are associated with the item.

Select Materials. The Appia service displays the materials associations, including the description of the material and its usage rate.

You can view materials for a different item by clicking the down arrow at the end of the item header and selecting the item from the list.

=				1	MY ACCOUNT	LOGOU
E Proje	ects / 4722SE-GS16	( Items ) 400-3130				
	22SE-GS16	Under Controletter				
٠.	0080: 400-3130 ASPH	CONC 12.5 MM SUPERPAVE, GP 1 OR 2, INCL POLYMER-MODIFIED BITUM MATL & I	LIME			÷
Nerview	Materials Assoc	iated with Item 💈				
	ine Number 080	ttern ID 400-3130	Unit TN			
	escription SPH CONC 12.5 MM	SUPERPAVE, GP 1 OR 2, INCL POLYMER-MODIFIED BITUM MATL & H LIME				
	aterial ID	Description		Unit	Usa	ge Rate
	107-0562895	BEAMS, PRETENSIONED PRESTRESSED CONCRETE, BTB95		EACH		0.500
	22-5500060	PAVED SHOULDER. HOT MIX ASPHALT MIXTURE, 6 IN		SY		6.000
C) De	splaying all 2 materials					
IE LIMITS						

Figure 5-10. Materials Associated With an Item

For more information on item material associations, including adding materials to the project, please see Chapter 10.

Return to the project Overview page by selecting the project number in the navigation trail.

## 5.6 Item Stockpile

You can add a stockpile of an item through the Item Details side menu or through the Stockpiles page when the project is under construction.

When you are on the Items page, click the Item Detail side menu, represented by three straight lines to the left of the Line Number column, and select Add Stockpile. The number next to the Materials name displays how many materials are associated with the item. The Appia service displays the New Stockpile page.

Lump sum items cannot be stockpiled.

Pinjeras / WO175543518 / Starkpites / riter		S WYACCOUNT LOOK
WO1756-GS16 Development		
New Stockpile		Says Cancel
* here Teles 465 505 (2014) DENSITY, CLOSED CELL, XLUNECO EF/L * Value of Manufast * Calues of Manufast * Calues of Manufast Recovery Rate 500 600	Authoring Closettiny 53.000 0.00000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000	
Begin Recovery On antazzuse Description	Unit Price 1510-00 Extension	
менсириол	S15,000 00 Amount Paid S0,00	
	Stockpiled Amount Amount Avoilable S15,000 10	
	Add Attachment	
apper sapper/@elfectrifi.com		Conversion 2016 on Line Text

Figure 5-11. New Stockpile Page

Enter the value of materials and the quantity for recovery in the appropriate fields. When you are finished, click SAVE. The Appia service displays the added stockpile in the stockpiles list.

You can change the item by clicking the down arrow in the Item field and selecting the item from the list.

For more information on stockpiles, please see Chapter 13.

Return to the project items by selecting the Items in the Sidebar menu.

### 5.7 Item History

You can see the history of an item through the Item slide menu when the project is under construction. This includes the original item quantity, any quantity that may have been changed by a change order, how much of the item was used, how much has been paid for the item, and any adjustment factors. In addition, details are listed for any postings, worksheet calculations, materials, payments, stockpile payments and associated fund packages, and change orders associated with this item.

Click the item's slide menu, represented by three straight lines to the left of the Line Number column, and select **History**.

Select the date of any posting, worksheet, payment, stockpile, or change order to go to that section. Use the arrow icons to see funding details if they are available.

Select the material to see the association details.

Select the postings, worksheet, or payment dates to see the details.

20.000			90.00						
Tatal Quantity Placed 0.400			Amount Placed Its \$216.33	t not Paid					
Quantity Remaining 13 (00)			Authorized Amoun brist) 40						
Pending Quantity 0.000									
Postings									
Daily Report Date	0	wated By	limo			Quartery Plan	ter.		Amount Placed
o unoctante	6	ell Surmura	Death			9-	100		1016.00
Chaptering 1 powers			Tuliet:				400		879.33
Materials Associated with	Item 📕								
Material	Usage F	ate	Tistal Approved Quantity	Total Used Quantity	Qu	in this item	. ,	Guantity	Insufficient Geantity
for Massaw, Nor. 1963, 20444 GPL Del. Tackel	10 000 kT		0.000	0.000		0.000		12 (908)	0,000
Depologing 4 material									
Worksheets									Espert
	Worksheet	Commander	Station From	Station Te	Length	with	Calculated Value	Quantity Placed	Quantity Placed to Date
Daily Report Date Created By	anona summi								

Figure 5-12. Item History

Create a .csv file of the item worksheet history by clicking EXPORT in the Worksheets section. Open or save the file.

Click Items in the navigation trail or the Sidebar menu to return to the Items list.

### 5.8 Item Edit

There may be items that need to have their asphalt and fuel adjustment factors edited. The factors are informational only and can be used when determining the adjustment for the item in a payment. Adjustment factors for an item in the reference data item list display when that item is part of a project.

The adjustment can be added, changed, or removed from an item.

- 1. Select **Items** or **Bid Items** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service opens the Items page.
- 2. Select **Edit** from item's slide menu, represented by the three straight lines at the beginning of the item's row.
- 3. Enter or change the values in the Asphalt Factor or Fuel Factor fields. To remove the value, enter **0**.
- 4. Click SAVE.

The Appia service returns you to the item list.

When items with fuel and asphalt factors are in a payment, use the adjustment calculator (see Chapter 16) to determine the adjusted cost.

### 5.9 Item Reports

Once there are items in the project, the Reports button displays in the upper right corner of the Items page.

Projects / W01	756-GS16	Nerras-						
	-GS16	Under Doministern						Reports -
								Nen Material Associations
Items 👩								New Schedule
L among	are names, n	en D'Quiniqui in	e ont					Searce
fine v Section:	- Description				-			
Line	Number	Reen 4D	Unit	Original Quantity	Authorized Quantity	Quantity Placed	Unit Price	Authiorized Amount
- 0010		150-1000	LS.	1.050	1.000	0.000	\$1,500,000	\$1,500.00
TRAFFIC CO	TROL - PRCI	(n-sona-on(108) b.1						
NA Quan	ity Placed				Quantity Faid			

Figure 5-13. Item Reports

- 1. Select **Items** or **Bid Items** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service opens the Items page.
- 2. Click REPORTS from the upper right corner and select the report.

The Appia service generates a PDF file containing the selected report. Open or save the file. The report will contain a date stamp indicating when the report was generated.

### 5.10 Mark Items Complete

When you mark an item complete, it tells the Appia service that the item is no longer needed in the project and is ready to be balanced through a change order. All items must be marked complete and balanced before the Appia service can issue the final payment.

You can mark single items, entire sections, or the project item list as complete from the Mark Complete page in the Items section. Before you mark an item complete, any postings to the item should be submitted on a daily report (see Section 12.2).

Once the items are selected, you can create a change order to balance the item quantities.

- 1. Select **Items** or **Bid Items** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service opens the Items page.
- 2. Select **Complete** from the **Actions** menu. The Appia service opens the Mark Complete page.
- 3. Mark all items complete by selecting the check box in the Items header.
- 4. Mark the items in a section complete by selecting the check box in the section's header.
- 5. Mark an item complete by selecting the check box for the item.
- 6. Remove the mark complete selection by clearing the check box.
- 7. When you are finished, click SAVE, or click BALANCE ITEMS to create a change order to balance the item quantities.

The Appia service returns you to the Items page or the Change Order page (see Section 14.1.6).

# 6. Time Limits

Time Limit information for a project indicates when the work for that time limit is due to be complete and the liquidated damages that are calculated if the work is not completed. A time limit starts once the project is under construction.

To access the Time Limits page, select your project from the My Projects page and click **Time Limits** in the Sidebar menu.

You can set a primary time limit for substantial completion or other needs. Primary time limits will include a primary label on the Time Limits page. There are three different types of time limits:

Calendar Days	Keeps track of how many calendar days contractors may be at the site. In construction phase of the project, you can select a work started date and end date to charge to this time limit.
Completion Date	Keeps track of the date when contractors need to be complete at the site.
Working Days	Keeps track of how many working days contractors may be at the site. In construction phase of the project, you can track partial and full days to on individual dates.

When a project is under construction, the Appia service displays the time limit details, including the start and end date and how long until the project completion.

=			MY ACCOUNT LOGO
۲	Projects / 5491688J-DA19 / Time Limits		
OVERVIEW	549168BJ-DA19 Under Construction Road repayement		
DAIL Y LOTIVITIES	Time Limits 2		
-	Pinnary		
ITEMS	Туре	Start Date	Original Days Allowed
HCM3	Calendar Days	05/15/2017	120.0
<b>3</b>	Status	Expected End Date	Authorized Days Allowed
	In Progress	09/11/2017	120.0
TERIALS	Description	Days Charged	Liquidated Damages/Day
	Calendar days	3.0	\$100.00
OCHIPALES		Days Remaining 117.0	Liquidated Damages to Date \$0.00
0	25% Completed		
NE LIMITS	-		
EZ .	0		
HANGE	Type	Start Date	Original Days Allowed
	Working Days	05/16/2017	120.0
=.	Status	Expected End Date	Authorized Days Allowed
INCH LIST	In Progress	05/18/2017	120.0
are in all all	Description	Days Charged	Liquidated Damages/Day
	Working days	2.0	\$100.00

Figure 6-1. Under Construction Time Limit

### 6.1 Add or Edit Time Limits

You can add or edit time limits in your project when it is in the New phase. Tracking time limits begins in the Under Construction phase. If you save a time limit with the wrong type, delete it and add a new one.

Adding or editing a time limit when the project is under construction must be done through a change order (see Chapter 14), except to enter the work start or end date or mark a time limit as primary or complete.

-				RY ACCOUNT LOBOUT
8	Projects / SES08-27-17 / Time Limits / )	Now		
NT PROJECTS	SES08-27-17	inlay plant mix resurfacion and inte	rsection construction at various locations in Alachua County.	Advance to Construction Unkn +
۲	and the stand and solution and solution and solutions.		and and a final second at a manufactor of a constraint provide the	
	New Time Limit			Save Cancel
==	* Type		Primary Deadline?	
	Calendar Days		346	
0	* Description		* Deadline Days	
THUR LIMITS			0.0	
			Liquidated Damages	
FUNDING			\$0.00	

Figure 6-2. Add Time Limit

- 1. Select the project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **Time Limits** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Time Limits page for your project.
- 3. If you are adding a new time limit, click ADD. The Appia service displays the Time Limits details page. If you are editing a time limit, click the pencil icon for that time limit.

- 4. If you are adding a time limit, select the type of time limit in the Type field: Calendar Days, Completion Date, or Working Days. This field is required.
- 5. Add or change the description for the time limit in the Description field. This field is required.
- 6. Select the Primary Deadline button if you want to have this time limit marked as primary on the Time Limits page. It will change from No to Yes. Any time limit marked as primary displays a primary indicator on the Time Limits page.
- 7. For Calendar Days or Working Days, enter the number of days the contractor has to complete the work in the Deadline Days field. For Completion Date, enter the date when the project should be completed in the Deadline Date field.
- 8. In the Liquidated Damages field, enter the amount charged to the contractor for each day the contract deadline is exceeded.
- 9. Click SAVE.

The Appia service returns you to the Time Limits page. Repeat the process if necessary. If you are finished with the Time Limits page, click the project name in the navigation trail to return to the Overview page.

### 6.2 Delete Time Limits

You can delete a time limit when your project is in the New phase. A time limit in a project that is under construction cannot be deleted.

- 1. Select the project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **Time Limits** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Time Limits page for your project.
- 3. Click the X in the time limit row of the time limit you wish to delete.
- 4. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

Click the project name in the navigation trail to return to the Overview page.

### 6.3 Under Construction Time Limits

When a project is under construction, the Appia service displays the time limit details, including the start and end date and how long until the project completion. Each time limit displays a progress bar for the percentage of work passed, based on the start and end date, or the completion date.

Adding or editing a time limit when the project is under construction must be done through a change order (see Chapter 14), except to enter the work start or end date or mark a time limit as primary or complete.

The Appia service will start assessing liquidated damages for a project once the expected end date has passed if you do not indicate the work in the time limit has been completed. Time limits in an under construction project cannot be deleted.

Control     Time Limits       Time Limits     Criginal Days Allowed 120.0       Type Calender Days     Start Date 05152017     Original Days Allowed 120.0       Status     Expected End Date 10012017     Authorized Days Allowed 140.0       Description Calender days     Days Charged 23.0     Liquidated Damages/Day 5100.00       Days Remaining 117.0     Liquidated Damages/Day 5100.00     Liquidated Damages/Day 5100.00       Vipe Working Days     Start Date 05102017     Original Days Allowed 120.0       Type Working Days     Start Date 05102017     Original Days Allowed 120.0       Start Date 05102017     Original Days Allowed 120.0     Authorized Days 20.0       Start Date 05102017     Original Days Allowed 120.0     Authorized Days 20.0       Start Date 05102017     Original Days Allowed 120.0     Authorized Days Allowed 120.0       Start Date 05102017     Days Charged 120.0     Updidated Damages/Day 20.0	COUNT LOO
Type Calendar Days     Start Date DiffS2017     Original Days Allowed 120 0       Status In Progress     Status In Progress     Expected End Date 140 0     Authorized Days Allowed 140 0       Description Calendar days     Days Charged 23.0     Liquidated Damages/Day 21.0     Liquidated Damages/Day 21.0       Control     Days Charged Calendar days     Liquidated Damages/Day 21.0     Liquidated Damages/Day 21.0       Control     Type Working Days     Completed     Days Remaining 117.0     Liquidated Damages to Date 30.00       Control     Completed     Completed     Control     Start Date 30.00     Original Days Allowed 10.0       Status In Progress     Status In Progress     Status Control     Status Control     Control     Control	
Calendar Daya     05/15/2017     120.0       Status     Expected End Date 1/001/2017     Authorized Days Allowed 1/001/2017       Description Calendar days     Days Charged 23.0     Liquidisted Damages/Day 5100.00       Days Remaining 117.0     Liquidisted Damages/Day 5100.00       View     Completed       Vipe     Status Working Days       Vipe     Status bir Mozorf       Status In Progress:     Expected End Date 05/15/2017	0
In Progress     1001/2017     140.0       Description Calendar days     Days Charged 23.0     Liquidated Damages/Day 5100.0       Outs     Days Remaining 117.0     Liquidated Damages to Dat 50.00       Virtus     Type Working Days     Stan Date 05/15/2017     Original Days Allowed 05/15/2017       Status In Progress     Expected End Date 05/15/2017     Authorized Days Allowed 170.0	
Description Calendar days     Days Charged 23.0     Liquidated Damages/Day 5100.00       Days Remaining 117.0     Liquidated Damages to Dat 50.00       Days Remaining 117.0     Liquidated Damages to Dat 50.00       Type Working Days     Start Date 05:10/2017     Original Days Allowed 120.0       Status In Progress     Expected End Date 05:10/2017     Authorized Days Allowed 170.0	
Days Remaining 117.0     Liquidated Damages to Das 50.00       Completed     Completed       Vipe Working Days     Completed       Status In Progress     Expected End Date 05/15/2017     Original Days Allowed 170.0	
Type         Start Date         Original Days Allowed           Working Days         05/16/2017         120.0           Status         Expected End Date         Authorized Days Allowed           In Progress         05/16/2017         170.0	
Type         Start Date         Original Days Allowed           Working Days         05/16/2017         120.0           Status         Expected End Date         Authorized Days Allowed           In Progress         06/18/2017         170.0	
Status Expected End Date Authorized Day's Allowed In Progress 05/18/2017 170 8	
In Progress 05/18/2017 170 0	
HUST Description Days Charged Liquidated Dampos/Day	
Working days 2.0 \$100.00	
Days Remaining Liquidated Damages to Date monts 168.0 \$0.00	
228 Completed	

Figure 6-3. Under Construction Time Limit

#### 6.3.1 Start a Time Limit

You must tell the Appia service when to start a Work or Calendar Days time limit when the project is under construction. All start dates must be on or after the notice to proceed date. For a Completion Date time limit, the Appia service automatically calculates the days remaining.

Once a project is under construction, time limits cannot be deleted.

- 1. Select your under construction project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Select **Time Limits** in the Sidebar menu.
- 3. Click the pencil EDIT icon for the time limit.

- 4. For a Calendar Days time limit, enter the date work started in the Work Start Date field.
- 5. For a Working Days time limit, select a date on the calendar. Enter if it was a half day or a full day, and enter any remarks as necessary. Click DONE.
- 6. If needed, change the Primary Deadline designation by selecting the Yes/No toggle option.
- 7. When you are finished, click SAVE.

The Appia service returns you to the Time Limits page and displays the updated information.

#### 6.3.2 Change Primary Time Limit

You can change the primary status for any of your time limits.

- 1. Click the pencil EDIT icon for the time limit.
- 2. Select the Yes/No toggle option in the Primary Deadline? field.
- 3. Click SAVE.

The Appia service saves the time limit with the new primary option and returns you to the time limits Overview page.

#### 6.3.3 Mark Time Limit Complete

Enter a work end date or mark the work complete in a time limit in order to keep the Appia service from assessing liquidated damages on a payment. Time limits must be marked complete before a final payment can be issued.

When you enter the date the work ends or is completed, the Appia service changes the expected end date of the project to the date entered in the field. The time limit's status moves to completed, and the progress bar no longer displays. If the date entered is after the work was expected to be complete, the Appia service stops calculating liquidated damages.

- 1. Click the pencil EDIT icon for the time limit.
- 2. For calendar days and completion date time limits, click in the Work End Date field and select the date. For working days time limits, select the Yes/No toggle option for the Work Completed field.
- 3. Click SAVE.

The Appia service returns you to the time limits Overview page.

# 7. Funding

Funding is an optional function in the Appia service. If your project has several sources of funding that need to be tracked and reported, such as federal government funding, state or local funds, or private contributions, you can specify fund packages and fund sources. Select the project and click **Funding** on the Sidebar menu to view all item funding.

- If you are not analyzing and awarding bids, you can add fund packages and sources to each item when the project is in the New phase.
- If you are analyzing and awarding bids, you can add fund packaging and sources to your project at any time when the project is in the New phase. You can't assign items to a fund package until the bid has been awarded.

You cannot change the funding sources or packages for the current items in an under construction project. However, new items and additional item quantities can be assigned to any fund package when those items are included in a change order.

Each new project in the Appia service contains a default fund source and a default fund package. One hundred percent of the funds are assigned to the default fund source and package. If you would like to track more than one fund source or fund package, typically you would:

- Complete the project item list.
- Add the fund packages.
- Add the fund sources.
- Allocate funds to the packages and sources.
- Assign items to a funding package or split the item between the packages. In an under construction project, this is done when a change order is created for new or unattached items or additional item quantities.

Once that is done, the Funding page displays each of the packages and sources, plus their funding percentages and dollars. Each item displays its fund package and either the percentage or the dollar amount for which that package is responsible, depending on your preference.

					MANCOUNT LOGOS
Projects / SE0527-GR10 / Funding					
SE0827-GR19 🚥	ing, inlay, plant mix resurtacing and intersection of	and a standard beaution for all and the first standards			Advance to Constructing
3.0 million of some construction, net	mg, may, pain monestracing and memorican o	ornardonen an werkus rosanden in Peacina Co	siny.		
Funding					Edit
Fund Source	Fund Peckage				
15		Participation		Non-Participation	
Local		15.982 m (0.000m)		4110,000 16 42 000%	
State		B KAND MIL MILLORU IS		and sed in a shown	
Federal		\$2.01 0.00m		\$12 (32 W) 30 (10 W)	
Items					Eat
Line Number	Kem ID	Quantity	Unit	Unit Price	Extension
Section: 18 - Roadwork					
0010	231-1200	17.000	EA	\$100.000	\$1,700.00
	N NOADS, STREETS AND DRIVEWAYS				
Non-Participation: 17.000				Show fu	eting in dollars?
1.0cal					\$765.00
State State					\$425.00
Federal					\$510.00
				Non-Par	icipation Totals: \$1,700.00
0020	461-1000	1,253,000	LF	\$200.000	\$250,600.00
RESEALING ROADWAY JOINTS AN Non-Participation: 1,253,000	ND CRACKS, TP - M			Show fa	nding in dollars? 10
0030	609-1000	22 000	87	\$300.000	\$6,600.00

Click the name of the fund package or source to see the funding by item line number.

Figure 7-1. Item Funding

## 7.1 Add or Edit a Fund Package

A fund package represents the specific work for which an entity has agreed to take responsibility, such as work only within city limits or work being performed in a subdivision. When a project is created in the Appia service, it contains a default fund package. Once items have been added to the fund package, you can view the package values as a percentage of the package funds or in a dollar amount.

For a new project, you should already have items in your project item list before adding a fund package.

For an under construction project, add the fund package first, and then assign the funding to the new item or item quantity with a change order.

- 1. Click **Funding** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Funding page.
- 2. Click EDIT in the Funding header.
- 3. If you are adding a fund package for a new project, change the name of the default fund package. If you are editing the packages, change the name of any packages that are incorrect.

- 4. If you are adding funding to an under construction project, or to add another fund package to a new project, click the ADD PACKAGE button next to the Funding header. A New Fund Package field is added to the funding.
- 5. Change the name of the new fund package.
- 6. Add or change as many fund packages as needed. When you are finished, add or edit the fund sources or click SAVE.

The Appia service returns to the Funding page and displays the new and updated packages.

## 7.2 Add or Edit a Fund Source

A fund source determines the division of financial responsibility under each fund package. When a project is created in the Appia service, it contains a default fund source.

For a new project, you should already have items in your project item list before adding a fund source. When a project is under construction, you can allocate the percentage or total dollars of the new source for any new fund packages.

- 1. Click **Funding** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Funding page for your project.
- 2. Click EDIT in the Funding header.
- 3. If you are adding a fund source to a new project, change the name of the default fund source. If you are editing the sources, change the name of any sources that are incorrect.
- 4. To add a fund source to an under construction project or to add another fund source to a new project, click the ADD SOURCE button next to the Funding header. A New Fund Source field is added to the funding.
- 5. Change the name of the new fund source.
- 6. Add or change as many fund sources as needed. When you are finished, allocate the funds among the sources, or click SAVE.

The Appia service returns to the Funding page and displays the new and updated sources.

## 7.3 Allocate Funds Among Sources

Allocate the appropriate fund amount of a package to each source for both new and under construction projects. The value of the default fund package and default fund source

fields cannot be edited. Instead, enter totals in the other fields, and the Appia service changes the amount in the default fields to equal 100 percent.

You can enter a dollar amount only for the default fund package until items have been assigned to the other packages. Use the In dollars? toggle option to view the funding in dollars.

- 1. Click **Funding** in the Sidebar menu if you are not already there. The Appia service displays the Funding page.
- 2. Click EDIT in the Funding header.
- 3. Add the percent of funding in the appropriate fields for the packages. The total for the default package adjusts automatically to equal 100 percent.
- 4. When you are finished, click SAVE.

The Appia service returns to the Funding page and displays the new and updated allocations.

## 7.4 Assign Fund Packages to Items

Now that your funding sources and packages have been established for a new project, you need to assign a fund package to each item so the Appia service knows which package is paying for which items.

If the project is under construction, funding is assigned with a change order (see Chapter 14).

Each item in a new project is initially assigned to the package that was entered in the original default field. Use the split item functionality to assign more than one fund package to an item.

You must already have items in your project item list in order to assign funds.

- 1. Click **Funding** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Funding page.
- 2. Click EDIT in the Items header, below the display of the fund packages and sources.
- 3. Use the In dollars? toggle option to view the funding in dollars or as a percent.
- 4. If all the items in a section are being funded by the same package, click the **Assign Fund Package** menu for the section and select the package name.

- 5. Use the drop down menu under the **Fund Package** column for each item to assign or change the item's fund package.
- 6. If an item is funded by multiple fund packages, click the SPLIT button for the item. Enter the value that will be covered into the fields for each package.
- 7. When you are finished assigning the packages to the items, click SAVE.
- 8. The Appia service returns to the Funding page and displays the new and updated fund package assignments.

#### 7.4.1 Item Splits

An item split is used when an item is funded by multiple fund packages. If you change the quantity of an item that is split, please check the split quantity distribution.

Click the SPLIT button for the item. Enter the value that will be covered into the fields for each package.

Revert a split item back to its last-assigned fund package by clicking the RESET button.

Save your work.

## 7.5 Delete a Fund Package or Source

You can delete a fund package or source only when the project is in the New phase.

The original fund package and source cannot be deleted. You can change their names if they are incorrect. Other Fund packages and sources can be deleted provided there are no items assigned to them.

- 1. Click **Funding** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Funding page for your project.
- 2. Click EDIT in the Funding header.
- 3. Click the X for any fund package or source you want to delete.
- 4. Click SAVE.

The Appia service deletes the package or source and remains on the Funding page.

# 8. Attachments and Links

Attachments to a project include additional information you wish to be included with the project that does not already have a specified place in the Appia service. The attachments can be any type of file. You can add or change an attachment to a project at any phase of the project.

The Links section is used to navigate away from the Appia service and reference external web pages or documents. You can add or change links to a project at any phase of the project. Once you add a link, it becomes available in all sections of your project.

### 8.1 Attachments

Attachments to a project include additional information you wish to be included with the project that does not already have a specified place in the Appia service. You must have the correct permissions in order to use this feature.

To view the attachments for a project, select the project from the My Projects page, click **More** and then **Attachments** in the Sidebar menu. Click the attachment name to see information about the attachment, including its description and when it was created. Click the down arrow next to the attachment name to open or save the attachment file.

Use the search to find a specific attachment by name, description, or group. Sort the attachments by clicking on the column names.

-			
6	Projects / SES08-27-17 / Allactiments / 70170621 Maniferg Minutes		
MY PROVERTS	SES08-27-17 53 3.5 miles of turn lane construction, milling, index, plant mix resurtacing and	infersection construction at various locations in Alachua County	Advance to Compaction
OVERNEW	20170621 Meeting Minutes		Edit
-	Name 20170521 Meeting Minutes	Group Meeting Minutes	
0	Description minutes from the Jane 21, 2017 meeting	Created At 01/24/2017 01/22 FM EST	
-	2017D621 Ministing Minuton doca		

Figure 8-1. Attachment Information

## 8.2 Add or Edit an Attachment

Attachments can be any type of file and must be under 250 MB. You can add an attachment or edit attachment information when it is in the New phase and the Under Construction phase. Attachment can be assigned a group to allow you to organize attachments that pertain to the same subject.

- 1. Select the project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **More** and then **Attachments** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Attachments page for your project.
- 3. To add an attachment, click the ADD ATTACHMENT button in the Attachments header. To edit the attachment information, click the attachment name and then click EDIT. Attachments must be under 250 MB.
- 4. Enter or change the name for the attachment in the Name field. This field is required.
- 5. If the attachment belongs to a group, select the group from the Group drop down menu. Group names are set up by the system administrator.
- 6. Enter or change any comments in the Description field.
- 7. If you are adding an attachment, click the BROWSE button in the Select Attachment field to upload your attachment. Navigate to and select the attachment. Click OPEN. This field is required.
- 8. Click ADD ATTACHMENT again to add another attachment.
- 9. When you are finished adding or changing the attachment information, click SAVE.

The Appia service displays your attachment information including the date and time the attachment was created. Click <u>Add Another</u> in the attachment confirmation message or click <u>Attachments</u> in the navigation trail to return to the Attachments page.

### 8.3 Search Attachments

You can search for attachments in your project by name, description, or group.

- 1. On the My Projects page, select the project.
- 2. Click **More** and then **Attachments** on the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the attachments list for the project, including the Search field.
- 3. Enter the search criteria of the attachment. You can click the three lines under the Search field to use more than one search option.
- 4. Click SEARCH.

The Appia service displays the attachments that match the search criteria. For example, if you searched for **0621** as part of the description, the Appia service will also display names that include **0621**.

To display the full list of attachments again, clear the Search field and click SEARCH.

### 8.4 Delete an Attachment

When the Attachments page is displayed for your project, you can delete an attachment.

- 1. Click **More** and then **Attachments** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Attachments page for your project.
- 2. Find the attachment you wish to delete and click the X for that attachment. The Appia service displays a Confirm Delete window.
- 3. Click OK to delete the attachment or click CANCEL to return to the Attachments page.

## 8.5 Links

You can add links to projects in any phase of the Appia service. Anyone with permission to see the project page can see the links. Once you add a link, it becomes available in all sections of your project.

To see all the links for a project, select the project from the My Projects page and then click **Links** in the Sidebar menu. You can also select **Links** from the upper right corner of any section in your project and click a link. The selected link will open in a new browser window.



Figure 8-2. Links

### 8.6 Add or Edit Link

Once a link is added, it is available in all sections of a project.

- 1. Select the project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **More** and then **Links** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Links page for your project.
- 3. To add a link, click the ADD button in the Links header. To change the link, click the pencil icon for the link.
- 4. Enter or change the name for the link in the Name field. This field is required.
- 5. Enter or change the link URL in the Link URL field. This field is required.
- 6. When you are finished adding or changing the link information, click SAVE.

The Appia service displays the link.

### 8.7 Delete Link

When you delete a link, it is also removed from the Links menu available in all sections of your project. If you delete every link, the menu is no longer visible.

- 1. Select the project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **More** and then **Links** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Links page for your project.
- 3. Click the X for your link.
- 4. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

The Appia service deletes the link and displays the Links page.

# 9. Bids, Tabulations, and Analysis

Once bids have been imported for a project that will analyze and award the bid, you can view bid details on the Bid Items page. You will not see the Tabulations or Analyze tabs until at least one bid or the engineer's estimate has been imported. Once the project is under construction, you cannot add any more bids to the page, though the page can still be viewed.

**Note:** If you are not analyzing or awarding the bid, you will not see these options.

The Appia service sorts imported bids in bid total order with the lowest first and lists the percentage over the low bid for the other bids. If you imported the engineer's estimate as the item list, the estimate already displays on the Bids page.

Set the toggle option for a bid to NO if you do not want the bid exported or included in the bid analysis.

ects / D025739-GS19 / Bid Items / Bids						
025739-GS19 New						
		ITEMS BIDS	TABULATIONS	ANALYZE		
Bids 3						imp
Only bids set to YES will be analyzed, tabulated, or exported.						
GILBERT SOUTHERN CORP.	8	Engineer's Estimate		0	B HUBBARD CONSTRUCTION COMPANY	0
\$11,018,525.05 Low Bid Bid Totel		\$11,460,984.50 Project Estimate	4.016% Over Low Bid		\$11,461,893.50 4.024% Bid Total Over Low Bid	
Will bid be analyzed or exported? YES		Will bid be analyzed or e	cported? YES		Will bid be analyzed or exported?	
					Award	

Figure 9-1. Imported Bids

### 9.1 Delete Bids

Bids can be deleted after they are imported. If you need to make a change to the project items before awarding the project, you must delete all bids before you can make any changes.

- 1. If you are not already there, select the project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **Bid Items** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the items list on the Bid Items page.
- 3. Click the BIDS tab.
- 4. Click the X for the bid you want to delete.
- 5. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

The Appia service deletes the bid and reorganizes the remaining bids.

### 9.2 Tabulations

Bid tabulations shows the unit price and extension by contractor for each item. You can compare the item bid prices against the engineer's estimate or low bidder.

0025739-GS	519								Reports
				10.442	BRU TABLATO	MS 4861123			
Bid Summa	ary								
	UTHERN CORP.				311.0	16.525-05		We but the analyzed or employed?	CI.
Legener's fains	ala				\$21.4	on box and		Will built fee senally cent to exported?	CIII.
HURBARD C	DWSTRUCTION GO	MPANY			\$13,4	11,003.50		We set to analyzed or explored?	a
Bid Tabula	tions								Esport
Line Number	Bren KD	tine	Quantity	GRARENT SOUTHE	Estream	Engineer's Estimat	Enteringen	I MIMBARD CONTINUETION COMPA	Letters
Section t - Road	Construction								
0010	010-2201	11	1.000	31,450.000	\$1,400.00	81,479,000	31,476.00	31,475.500	\$1,475
SPECIAL DETOU	R (DETOUR 1) 2003	2915281							
9020	211-0425	MZ	30.000	\$75.908	\$2,258,88	\$17,000	\$2,510,000	\$77.600	\$2.398
PAYEMENT REM	OVAL OF EXISTING	CONCRETE							
86.58	210-2112	MAR .	40.850	\$102.004	\$4.000.00	\$112,000	\$4.400.00	3112.000	\$4,400
BARRIER WALL C	TEMPORARY(RE)	DCATE/CONCRETE	8						
8946	205-8147	MT	30 509	\$178.000	25.200.00	9976.990	\$0.256.00	8175.500	15,245
ASPHIALT PAVEN	RENT MESCELLANE	ous							
0050	828.4295	314	45.505	\$499.000	\$22,455.06	\$543,334	823,804.85	3907.330	\$22,604.0
TURNOUT CONS	TRUCTION (ASPHA	4.11							

Figure 9-2. Bid Tabulations

- 1. If you are not already there, select the project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **Bid Items** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the items list on the Bid Items page.
- 3. Click TABULATIONS.
- 4. Click the analyze or export toggle option to include or exclude a bid from the tabulation.

Print a copy of the report by selecting **Bid Tabulations** from the **Reports** menu. Open or save the report.

Create a .csv file of the bid tabulations by clicking EXPORT. Open or save the file.

## 9.3 Analyze

The Bid Analysis page displays the bid analysis for the project, starting with the low bid. Add or remove other contractors from the analysis by using the Yes/No toggle option in the Bid Summary section or on the Bids page. You can use this feature starting in the New Project phase after bids have been entered into your project.

Items are listed with their deviation from the low bid as a bar graph and percent. The percent can be the project deviation or item deviation, depending on your preference.

PORTS	Bid Summar	ry				Des	skay them his Deviation	(H3) Export	
3	Engineer's Est	imate			\$284	256.00			
mes.	HEWITT CON	TRACTING CON	IPANY, INC.			326 00			
	JONES, HAL	CONTRACTOR,	INC-			508.00 NO			
	E BGCO, INC				\$346	895.00			
•	Bid Tabulation	5							
	Line Number	Item ID	Description	Unit Price	Quantity	Unit	Extension	Deviatio	on
	Section: 10 - Descr	lption							
	0010	231-1200	MISCELLANEOUS CONSTRUCTION, ROADS, STREETS	AND DRIVEWAYS					
			Engineer's Estimate	\$100,000	17.000	EA	\$1,700.00		
	0.000%	Real Property lies	HEWITT CONTRACTING COMPANY, INC.	\$101.000	17.000	ËA	\$1,717.00	\$17.00	•
	0.299%		BGCO, INC.	\$150 000	17.000	EA	\$2,550.00	\$850.00	•
	0020	461-1000	RESEALING ROADWAY JOINTS AND CRACKS, TP - M						
ST			Engineer's Estimate	\$200,000	1,253.000	1.F	\$250,600.00		
	2.204%		HEWITT CONTRACTING COMPANY, INC.	\$205.000	1,253.000	LF	\$256,865.00	\$5,265.00	
	22.040%	-	BGCO, INC.	\$250.000	1.253.000	LF	\$313,250.00	\$62,650.00	

Figure 9-3. Bid Analysis Page

- 1. If you are not already there, select the project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **Bid Items** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the items list on the Bid Items page.
- 3. Click ANALYZE.
- 4. Select the toggle options in the Bid Summary section for the contractors you want to use in the analysis.
- 5. Select the toggle option at the top to change from project deviation to item percent deviation.

Export the analysis to a .csv file by clicking EXPORT. Open or save the file.

You can see a PDF of the report by selecting **Bid Analysis** from the REPORTS button.

#### 9.3.1 Project Percent Deviation

The project percent deviation for a project is calculated using the following formula:

*Project percent deviation = (item extension - low bid item extension) / Low bid total amount* 

To find the project percent deviation, subtract the low-bid item extension from the item extension of the item for which you want to find the deviation, then divide by the low-bid total amount. Multiply by 100 to calculate the percentage.

For example, say the price of an item from your selected bid is 195 and the low-bid price is 200. The low-bid total amount is 3890.

195-200 = -5

-5/3890 = -.0013

.0013 x 100 = -.13 percent

#### 9.3.2 Item Percent Deviation

The item percent deviation is calculated using the following formula:

*Item percent deviation = (item extension - low bid item extension) / low bid item extension* 

To find the item percent deviation, subtract the low-bid item extension from the item extension of the item for which you want to find the deviation, then divide by the low-bid item extension. Multiply by 100 to calculate the percentage.

For example, say the extension of an item from your selected bid is 170 and the low-bid price is 130.

170-130=40

40 / 130 = .308

 $.308 \ge 100 = -30.8$  percent
# 10. Materials

Materials are articles or supplies that are required or used in placing a project item during the construction of the project. Materials are added to a project when the project is under construction or through item associations (please see the *Appia System Administrator's Guide* or view the online help). When an item with an associated material is added to the project, the material is added as well.

The Materials page displays materials that have been added to a project. Use the Search field to find a specific material.

If an item with a material association is included in a daily report, the material will need to be reviewed as part of the daily report process before the report can be approved. Reviewing includes verifying the usage rate associated with the item. Material certifications and approvals must also be entered for these associations (see Section 10.3.2). If any approvals have not been entered, an insufficient material flag displays when a payment is created.

8	Projects / AO1617-GS16 / Materials						
MY PROJECTS	AO1617-GS16 Unter Construction						
	Materials 0						Edit
	Co. Seals to feel Constitutions, Xeals (Anti-ran ID in Requirements)						Search
DAILY	O Description	Unit	Material ID	Quantity Approved	Quantity Used	Quantity Remaining	Insufficient Quantity
-	BEAMS, PRETENSIONED PRESTRESSED CONCRETE, BTB95	EACH	2407-0562895	54.000	0.000	54.000	0.00
HEMS.	C Ioms BM) SANITARY SEWER PROTECTION	LF	2599-9999009	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.00
	Approve R, HOT MIX ASPHALT MIXTURE, 5 IN. History Depenying en a Universitiere	SY	2122-5500060	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000

Figure 10-1. Project Materials

Description	The materials that are currently associated with this item posted
Requirements	If a material has a requirement, it is displayed under the material description
Unit	How the material is measured

Material ID	The unique identifier of the material
Quantity Approved	The quantity of this material that has been approved
Quantity Used	The amount of the material that has been used, as reported in daily reports
Quantity Remaining	The amount of the remaining approved quantity that hasn't yet been placed
Insufficient Quantity	The amount of the quantity used that is greater than the quantity approved

### 10.1 Add or Edit Project Materials

If the material has not been associated with a project item in the item reference list, it must be added to the project though the Materials page when the project is under construction. You can add or edit reference data materials or materials not in the reference list. Materials that are not in the reference material list will not be available to other projects. Edits made to a material at the project level will not be made to the same material in the reference data list.

AO1617-GS16 Low Down des				
Materials			Save Add Ref Materials	Add Material Cancel
Description*	Unir	Material ID	Requirements	
REAMS PRETENSIONED PRESTRESSED CO	EACH	2407-0562095		
PAVED SHOULDER, NOT MIX ASPHALT MIXTI	sv	2122-5500060		
(LINEAR FEET ITEM) SANITARY SEWER PRO	1F.	2505-0060000		
Displaying all 3 maleratis				

Figure 10-2. Project Materials List

- 1. Select your under construction project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Select Materials in the Sidebar menu.
- 3. Click EDIT.
- 4. If you are editing the material, make the update and click SAVE.
- 5. To add a reference data material, click ADD REF. MATERIAL. Select the material from the list. Use the search function if necessary. You can select more than one material. When you are finished selecting the materials, click ADD MATERIALS.

- 6. To add a new material, click ADD MATERIAL. The Appia service adds a blank line to the materials list. Enter the description and the unit of measure. You can also enter the material ID and requirements, but they are not required. . Materials with the same descriptions must have different units.
- 7. Repeat the process to add more materials.
- 8. When you are finished adding all reference materials or new materials, click SAVE.

The Appia service displays the materials list in alphabetical order.

### **10.2 Search Materials**

You can search for items by description, unit, material ID, or requirements.

-							BY ACCOUNT LOOK
Projecte W01755-GS16	Titlesso .						
WO1756-GS16	have been and						Reports
ttems 2							Actions +
000							Tearth
ANT MIRATE							
- Administra							
v Section 1. Descriptio	in /						
Line Number	item ID	Unit	Original Quantity :	Authorized Quantity	Quantity Placed	Unit Price	Authorized Amor
TRAFTIC CONTROL- PRC	150-1010 10 3008 00(108) 81	LS	11 000	1 060	0.010	\$1,500 000	\$1,501
Carantity Placed	_		_	Quantity Paid	_	_	_
Displaying 1 riem	n						Section Total: \$1,900
Line Number	itom ID	Unit	Original Quantity	Authorized Quantity	Quantity Placed	Unit Price	Authorized Amor
2							THE \$53,610 m

Figure 10-3. Under Construction Project Items List

- 1. Select the project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **Material** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Materials page.
- 3. Enter the search criteria of the material in the Search for field. Click the Advanced Search tab (the three lines under the Search field) to use more than one search option.
- 4. Click SEARCH.

The Appia service displays the materials that match the search criteria. To display the full project materials list again, clear all search fields and click SEARCH.

## **10.3 Material Item Associations**

When the project is under construction, you can associate items with materials that are part of your project. A material can be associated with more than one item, and an item can be associated with more than one material.

See associated items by selecting **Items** from the material's slide menu. The Appia service displays the details of the association, including the quantities of the material used and other items associated with the material. You can switch between materials by clicking on the material under the project header and choosing the new material.

#### 10.3.1 Add or Edit Material Item Association and Usage Rate

Once materials have been added to your project, they can be associated with your project items. You must enter the usage rate of how much of the material is used per one unit of the item. Each material can be associated with each instance of an item one time. Items can have more than one material association.

Changes to a usage rate will not affect items posted on daily reports that have been submitted for approval. Previously saved material quantities in draft daily reports will need to be reviewed to take effect.

				MY ACCOUNT CONCU
Projects / SES08-27-17 / Materials / CLEARING AND	GRUBBING			
SES08-27-17 Under Construction, making, inlay, plant mi	resurtacing and intersection constituction at various locations	in Alachua County.		Links -
CLEARING AND GRUBBING				
Items Associated with Material				Ent
Description CLEARING AND GRUBBING	Approved Quantity 0.000		Remaining Quantity 0.000	
Material IEI 2101-0850002	Used Quantity 0.000		Insufficient Quantity 0.000	
Onit UNIT				
43 Requiruments				
Suction: 2 - Roadlwork				
Line Number	Ittean ID	Linti	Usage Rate	
REMOVE ROADWAY SLAB	609-1000	SY	0.030 UNIT/SY	
Eleolaying ( term				

Figure 10-4. Item Material Association

You can associate an item with a material either through the project's item list or materials list.

- 1. Select your under construction project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Select Materials, or select Items or Bid Items in the Sidebar menu.
- 3. Select **Items** from the material's slide menu or select **Materials** from the item's slide menu, represented by the three straight lines at the beginning of the row. The Appia service brings you to the association's detail page.
- 4. Click EDIT.

- 5. If you are editing the usage rate, make the change and click SAVE. The rate will not be changed for materials already submitted for approval in a daily report. The Appia service changes the rate and returns you to the details page.
- 6. If you are adding an association, click ADD ITEMS or ADD MATERIALS. The Appia service displays the project's item or materials list.
- 7. Select the items or materials.
- 8. When you are finished, click ADD ITEMS or ADD MATERIALS.
- 9. Enter the material usage rate in the field for the item.
- 10. Click SAVE.

The Appia service adds or changes the association and returns you to the details page. Return to the materials list or items list by selecting <u>Materials</u> or <u>Items</u> in the navigation trail.

#### 10.3.2 Approve Material Item Usage

Materials usage must be approved before payment on the item using the material can be made. This is done on the Materials page. You will see the number of materials already approved on the material's slide menu.

The Material Approvals page lists the details about the material and includes a table of previous approvals, including the date of approval, the quantity approved, and any added remarks. Click the date to see the details about the approval. You can switch between materials by clicking the material under the project header and choosing the new material.

Click the date of the approval to view the approval details.

If you have unapproved materials when a payment is created for the item, the Appia service will exclude that item from payment (see Section 18.3).

=						MY ACCOUNT	LOGOUT
۲	Projects / GS4962-16 /	Malenals / BEAMS, PRETENSIONED PRES	TRE				
OVERVIEW	GS4962-16	ater Construction at valous locations around Alachua county					Links +
	BEAMS, PRETENSIO	NED PRESTRESSED CONCRETE, 8TB95	ACH				·*
**	Material Approv	als 1					Add
ITEMS	Description BEAMS, PRETENSION	VED PRESTRESSED CONCRETE, BTB95		Unit EACH			
MATERIALS	Material ID 2407-0562895			Requirements			
8	Approved Quantity 0.500			Remaining Quant 0.450			
STOCKPILES	Used Quantity 0.050			Insufficient Quant 0.000	tity		
TIME LIMITS	o Date	Form	Quantity	Supplier	Made in America		
EZ.	03/07/2017	Monthly Report	0.500		No		00
CHANGE ORDERS	Displaying 1 approval		0.500				

Figure 10-5. Material Approvals Page

#### Add or Edit Approve Material Usage

When you add or edit material usage, the following fields are required:

Approval Date	The date the material was approved.
Form	The type of form required for certification. The list of forms can be modified through the reference files (talk to your system administrator).
Quantity	The approved quantity of the material. Enter a numeric value up to two decimal places. The quantity must be equal to or greater than the value in the Insufficient Quantity field in order for the material item to be paid.

Fill in the other fields as necessary. Use the Made in America option to designate an item made in the United States.

- 1. Select your under construction project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Select **Materials** in the Sidebar menu.
- 3. Select **Approve** from the material's slide menu, represented by the three straight lines at the beginning of the material's row. The Appia service brings you to the Material Approvals page.
- 4. Click ADD, or click the pencil EDIT icon.
- 5. Enter or change the approval date, form, and quantity in the appropriate fields. These fields are required.

- 6. Enter or change information in the other fields as necessary.
- 7. If you need to include an attachment, click ADD ATTACHMENT. Enter a name for the attachment, then click BROWSE or click CHOOSE FILE (depending on your browser). Navigate to and select the attachment, and click OPEN. Enter the description if necessary.
- 8. To change the attachment name, enter its new name in the Name field.
- 9. When you are finished, click SAVE.

The Appia service returns you to the Material Approvals page with the approval listed under the material details.

#### Delete Material Item Usage Approval

You cannot delete an approved material usage that has been included on a payment that has been approved or submitted for approval.

- 1. Select your under construction project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Select **Materials** in the Sidebar menu.
- 3. Select **Approve** from the material's slide menu, represented by the three straight lines at the beginning of the material's row. The Appia service brings you to the Material Approvals page.
- 4. Click the X for the approval you want to delete.
- 5. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

The Appia service deletes the selected approval and stays on the Material Approvals page.

#### 10.3.3 Delete Material Item Associations

If you find that a material was associated with an item in error, you can remove the association as long the material hasn't been reviewed for any associated project item on any daily report posting.

- 1. Select Materials, or select Items or Bid Items in the Sidebar menu.
- 2. Select **Items** from the material's slide menu or select **Materials** from the item's slide menu. The Appia service brings you to the association's detail page.
- 3. Click EDIT.

- 4. Click the X for the association you want to delete. If you do not see the X, then the material has been reviewed and cannot be deleted.
- 5. Click SAVE.

The Appia service deletes the association and returns you to the detail page. Return to the materials list or items list by selecting <u>Materials</u> or <u>Items</u> in the navigation trail.

## **10.4 Material History**

The material history page contains the material's information, including the material requirements and quantities, a list of the items associated with the material, and the quantity used. You can also see any insufficient quantities that need to be approved.

-						B NYACCOUNT LOGO
Program / 1468	K/1089-95-11 / Matcasar / Arrow Board, Light	ed. I				
6498790	3S-SE19 Unterconcerned n tane combination milling, inity, plant mix res	nfacog and interaction construction of w	mous krations in Alactus County).			
Arrow Board	1, Lightad. 📷					
Materiai I	History					
Description Arrow Doard.	Lightee		Linet pa			
Material ID			Requirementà			
Approved Qu	uentity		Remaining Quantil 0.000	tar		
Used Quantit 18,000	īτγ		Insufficient Quanti 18.000	tx.		
	sociated with Material					
Line Number	Rem (D)	Description			Us	age Rate
0070	682-9030	LIGHTING SYSTEM			1.0	00 eaLS
0030	170-5742	HIGH INTENSITY FLASHING I	IGHTS TEMP-TYPE B		1.6	00 saE0
Doptophy and	2 maxwes					
\$ Usages	8					
Date	liam		Fund Package	Creator	like Quantity Placed	Material Quantity Use
04/14/2017	682-9030 LIGHTING SYSTEM		Default Fund Package	Gred Summer:	1.010	1.00
04/14/2017	770-5742 - HIGH INTENSITY FLASHING	LIGHTS, TEMP-TYPE B	Default Fund Package	Satina Donnelly	37.010	7.00
04/14/2017	770-5742 - HIGH INTENSITY FLASHING	LIGHTS, TEMP-TYPE B	Default Fund Package	Sabrina Donnelly	17.010	10,00
Displaying all 3	l sangees					18.090

Figure 10-6. Material History Page

- 1. Select Materials in the Sidebar menu.
- 2. Select **History** from the material's slide menu. The Appia service brings you to the material history page.

Use the down arrow in the material name header to select another material.

Click <u>Materials</u> in the navigation trail to return to the materials list.

## **10.5 Delete Material**

You can delete a material from a project provided an item using the material has not been reviewed in a daily report or does not have an item approval.

1. Select **Materials** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service opens the Materials page.

- 2. Click EDIT.
- 3. Locate the material you want to delete.
- 4. Click the **X** for that material.

The Appia service deletes the material and displays a successful delete message on the Materials page.

### **10.6 Insufficient Material Certification**

You must certify a material with an insufficient quantity before that material can be paid. If there is an insufficient quantity, the Material Quantity field in the Material Review section on the daily report will be negative, and there will be an insufficient quantity indicator on the WORK PERFORMED tab on the Payments page

- 1. Click **Materials** in the Sidebar menu.
- 2. Select **Approve** from the material's slide menu.
- 3. Click ADD.
- 4. Enter the approval date, form, and quantity. The quantity must be equal to or greater than the insufficient quantity in order for the material to be paid. These fields are required.
- 5. Enter information in other fields as necessary.

# 11. All Reports

The Appia service creates PDF reports using the available information in each project. Reports are grouped alphabetically by subject. The ones with the asterisk (\*) are available only from the All Project page. The others are also available from the Reports menu of their respective pages.

Subject	Report Name	Description
Bids	Bid Analysis	Provides an analysis of all bids submitted by multiple contractors.
	Bid Tabulation	Contains item bids from multiple contractors.
Change Orders	Change Order Status	Summarizes all change orders in the project.
Contractors	Equipment*	Displays equipment posted by contractor in daily reports.
	Items By Contractor	Lists the items assigned to each contractor
	Personnel*	Displays personnel posted by contractor in daily reports.
Items	Item Schedule	Shows all the bid items for contractors to enter their bid allowances.
	Item Material Associations	Displays all materials associated to each item in the project.
	Item Overruns*	Lists all items with overruns.
	Item Overruns by Fund Package*	Lists all item with overruns by fund package.
	Items by Fund Package*	Lists all items associated with each fund package.
	Posted Quantity*	Displays quantities posted in daily reports across a range of dates.
	Statement of Quantities*	Displays all items with quantities place in daily reports.

If you do not see a subject, then there is no information to report.

Subject	Report Name	Description
	Unpaid Items*	Displays items in daily reports that have not yet been paid.
	Weekly Item Progress*	Displays quantities posted in daily reports within 7 days after selected date.
Materials	Insufficient Materials	Lists materials with insufficient quantities that have been posted to all daily reports.
	Materials	Displays all materials that were added to the project
Payments	Payment History*	Contains all the payments that have been posted in this project
Project	Project Status*	Displays an overview of the project information
Punch List	Punch List	Lists all the tasks that need to be completed.
Stockpiles	Stockpile Status	Displays all stockpiles that were created for the project.

# 12. Daily Activities

The Daily Activities page keeps track of daily reports and force accounts. A daily report is the basic Appia function for recording the weather and temperature, contractor personnel and equipment, and other daily details of the construction site. A force account is used when there is a dispute over the work done.

Daily activities are used while the project is in the Under Construction phase. You must have the correct permissions to change or view daily activities.

Select the under construction project from the My Projects page and click **Daily Activities** in the Sidebar menu.

# 12.1 Daily Activities Search

You can search a range of the daily reports and daily diaries in an under construction or completed project.

With daily reports, you can search a date range for a status, weather day option, or whether the reports have been reviewed or checked. The advanced search provides a search for more specific information, such as reports with a specified fund package, reports at a specific location, or reports containing a particular item.

For daily diaries, you can search a date range for completed or reviewed diaries. Use the advanced search to find specific remarks or information in custom fields.

The bottom of the screen displays activities that meet the search criteria. Click on the date to see the diary or report. Use the arrow symbol to the left of the report date to see the items included on the daily report.

Export the search results by clicking the EXPORT button.

-			INTERNAL STREET		
Daily Reports Se	arch				Search Eight
* Mart Gam	+ End Data	fates		Optimes	
000912017	19(25/2117		a final	Chinekind, Reislowend, and Veladhere Day Options	
				Desited	
Daily Report Remarks			Statute Vitan	**	
				C Only Checked Reports	
				C Ciniy Linchested Reports	
hapeine.			Stature To	Revenued	
				**	
				C City Persent Reports	
Live Number			Lincelines	O Grig Unrevenent Reports	
14. C				Weather Gag	
1.11				**	
Then M			Fund Packages	O (Drig Washing Days)	
			Non-Purisipation Parkitadion	O foi Weather Days	
Breit Dewcription					
			Payment Manhers		
Posting Semarks					
Constant of the second s			1	0	
			1		
	Continuent find (Speed)		-		
	Continuences The Parents				
C SARACITA analist by	Test Lamouts Fink Farmell				
· mainter insent in	Cold Successory The Personal				
Contraction of the second by t	Gred Summers (1966) Farmers 5				
O (HOL/2017) second by I	Date Summers Title Planet				
C hadragert assumed by	Cost Summer's First Frances				
C daugizynif treasad to	Gard Summer's Revenue				
C main and a maint have	and the second second				

Figure 12-1. Daily Reports Advanced Search With Option

- 1. Select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page.
- 2. Select **Daily Activities** in the Sidebar menu. This opens the project calendar.
- 3. Click <u>Search Daily Activities</u> in the upper right corner.
- 4. Select either the DAILY REPORTS or DAILY DIARIES tab and enter your search criteria. Click the tab with the three lines to access the advanced search. The Start Date and End Date fields are required.
- 5. Click SEARCH.
- 6. Click EXPORT to create a PDF file of the results. Open or save the file.

The Appia service displays the daily reports or diaries that meet your search criteria. Click <u>Daily Activities</u> in the navigation trail to return to the calendar.

## 12.2 Daily Reports

The Daily Report is the basic Appia function for a recording of site conditions and comments, item postings, contractor personnel and equipment, and other daily details of the construction site.

When you add a daily report, the Appia service automatically enters information for the date and prime contractor, the name of the person creating the report, and the report status of draft.

The Daily Report includes a Weather Day option. Use this if no work could be performed due to weather conditions. Weather Day is an option in the Daily Report

search function. You can format most text fields, such as Remarks, using the buttons at the top of the field. Rest your mouse cursor over each button to see its function.

The Appia service logs when the report was created and by whom, submission and approval actions, if a submitted report was revised and by whom, and when it was checked and by whom. If there are no revisions or if the report was not yet checked, you will not see these fields.

When payments are made, approved daily reports that fall within the payment dates are moved to a Final status and can no longer be edited.

=		S MY ACCOUNT LOGOUT
۲	Projects / 649879GS-SE19 / Daily Activities / 04-14-2017 / Dail	Report
OVERVIEW	649879GS-SE19 Under Construction 3.5 miles of turn lane construction, milling, inlay, plant mix resurface	g and intersection construction at various location
DAILY	Daily Report	
TTEMS-	Report Date 04/14/2017	Report Status Pending
**	Prime Contractor HEWITT CONTRACTING COMPANY, INC.	Weather Day? No
MATERIALS	Weather cool for spring	Temperature Low 62° High 81°
E STOCKPUES	Created By Grell Summers on 04/18/2017 01:41 PM EDT	
0	Checked By Sabrina Donnelly on 04/19/2017 10:57 AM EDT	Revised By Greit Summers on 04/19/2017 10:53 AM EDT
TIME LIMITS	E	
EL DECANGE DIQUERS	Personnel	Ear
	Crew #1 – HEWITT CONTRACTING COMPANY, INC. Back hoe operator 2	8.00 hours
EV PUNCH LIST	Paver operator 2	18.00 hours
	Displaying 1 crew	

Figure 12-1. Daily Report Submitted for Approval

#### 12.2.1 Add or Edit Daily Report

You cannot add reports before the Notice to Proceed date or for a date in the future.

- 1. Select the under construction project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **Daily Activities** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the daily activities calendar page with the current date highlighted.
- 3. Click the calendar day to which you would like to add a daily report or select a daily report already on the calendar. The Appia service brings you to the date's daily activities page.
- 4. Click the ADD button next to the Daily Reports header or click the pencil EDIT icon for the report. This brings you to the date's daily report page.
- 5. Enter or update the weather, temperature and any remarks about the construction site on this day. Indicate if it is a weather day. The agency may also have custom fields for you to fill out.

6. Click SAVE when you have completed entering information.

From the daily report overview, you can add personnel, equipment, item postings, and attachments, and review materials.

#### 12.2.2 Daily Report Personnel

Personnel are the types of workers who were on site the day the daily report was created. The Appia service automatically lists a default crew for the contractor. Once the list of personnel has been established on a daily report, it will appear on the next report.

									۶	NY ACCOUNT	106
Projects / 649879GS	SE19 / Dat	Activities / 04-14-2017 / D	aly Report / Personne	1							
649879GS-		nder Construction milling, inlay, plant mix resurfa		1.2.1							
3.5 miles of turn lane	construction,	muung, may, parn mix resulta									
R.Y			OVERVIEW	PERSOWNEL	EQUIPMENT	ITEM PD STINGS	REVIEW MATERIALS	ATTACHMENTS			
Personnel									Save Add Crew Add	Vorker Type	Cancel
Worker		Crew									
s		Crew #1									
RIALS		Contractor									
		HEWITT CONTRACTING COM	IPANY, INC.								*
E.		Number					Hours				
Back hoe operator		1					8.00				
9		Number					Hours				
							10.00				

Figure 12-2. Daily Report Personnel Page With Workers and Crews

- 1. Select the PERSONNEL tab or click EDIT in the Personnel header on the daily report page to open the Personnel page. Click ADD if necessary.
- 2. Enter the crew you are reporting in the Crew #1 field or change the crew information.
- 3. Select or change the contractor providing the crew from the Contractor drop down list. If the contractor is not in this list, it needs to be added to the project through the Contractors page (see Chapter 19).
- 4. Enter the type of worker you are reporting in the Worker Type #1 field or change the worker information.
- 5. Enter or change how many of that type of worker were present at the job site.
- 6. Enter or change the total number of hours that were worked by all of that worker type in the Hours field. For example, if you have two backhoe operators that each worked eight hours, enter 16.
- 7. To add another crew, click ADD CREW and repeat the steps to add the crew information.
- 8. To add another worker, click ADD WORKER TYPE and repeat the steps to add the worker information. Make sure you add the workers to the correct crew.

9. When you are finished adding or changing worker and crew information, click SAVE in the Personnel header.

Delete any crew by clicking the X in the Crew field. Delete any worker by clicking the X in the Worker field. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

When are you finished updating item posting information, click EDIT for daily report section or submit the report for approval.

#### 12.2.3 Daily Report Equipment

Equipment is the type of construction vehicles or machinery used on the project site. You can assign the active and idle hours the equipment was on site.

VO1756-GS16	etruction .			
Equipment				
Description		Contractor		
Backhoe		TIDEWATER SKANSKA, INC.		V
Active Count	Active Hours	idie Count	Idio Hours	
1	5.50	1	2.50	
Comments				
Description		Contractor		
		TIDEWATER SKANSKA, INC.		×
Active Count	Active Hours	Idle Count	Idle Hours	
Comments				

Figure 12-3. Daily Report Equipment Page

- 1. Select the EQUIPMENT tab or click EDIT in the Equipment header on the daily report page to open the Equipment page. Click ADD if you are adding new equipment.
- 2. Enter or change the description of the equipment in the Description field.
- 3. Select the contractor providing the equipment from the Contractor drop down list. If the contractor is not in this list, it needs to be added to the project through the Contractors page (see Chapter 19).
- 4. Enter or change the number of pieces of the equipment active at the site in the Active Count field.
- 5. Enter or change the number of hours the equipment was active at the site in the Active Hours field.
- 6. Enter or change the number of pieces of the equipment inactive at the site in the Idle Count field.

- 7. Enter or change the number of hours the equipment was inactive at the site in the Idle Hours field.
- 8. Enter or change any comments.
- 9. To add more equipment, click ADD and repeat the steps to add equipment information.
- 10. When you are finished entering or changing all equipment, click SAVE.

Delete any equipment by clicking the X in the upper right corner of the equipment block. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

When are you finished updating item posting information, use the tabs to select another daily report section or submit the report for approval.

#### 12.2.4 Daily Report Item Postings

Item postings track how much of an item's quantity was used that day at the project site. Add an item one time for each contractor for each location. Use View More under the item to see the extended area for assigning a contractor, entering remarks, and setting a location.

Some quantities may be determined by a worksheet calculation. Worksheets determine the quantity for an item posting based on the worksheet's calculation formula. These items will have a Use Worksheet link to enter the required values (see Section 12.2.5).

If you enter an item quantity greater than what is available, the Remaining Quantity field displays a negative number. Change orders will display an overrun section and payments will not include the daily report (unless a change order has been created to account for the difference or your project setting allows for overages). If you do not see an item that has been added by a change order, it is possible the change order has not yet been submitted for approval.

The Appia service displays the authorized quantity, the pending quantity, and the remaining quantity. The authorized quantity includes any change orders that have been approved. The pending quantity includes any quantities waiting change order approval. The remaining quantity is the quantity that is left after some of the item has been placed.

- Unattached items (see Section 5.2.5) will not be paid until they are added to the project through a change order (see Chapter 14).
- A stockpiled item posted to a daily report before the item's recovery date will be excluded from payment unless the recovery date or the posted amount is adjusted.
- If you add an item that has been completed to a daily report, the item will no longer be marked complete (see Section 5.10).

- You may have to add item quantities for each contractor and fund package.
- Quantities used that go above the authorized amount display in red and with a negative sign.
- If you replace the quantity of an item derived from a worksheet calculation, the item will display a Manual tag. The manual tag will be removed for a split item if the calculated quantity is moved to another fund package.
- If an item in use in a draft daily report is then associated with a worksheet, you'll see the posted quantity, but you won't be able to change it until you click the <u>Use Worksheet</u> link.

2460N-119 Main December and reconstruction	-				
		ORINAR PLACEMEL I	TRANSIT TRANSIT		
Item Postings					Save Add Cancel
DIZE 500-0037					0
	Authorized Quantity	Pendang Quantity	Remaining Quantity	Quantity Placed	Total Place
	29.000	0.000	20 500	0.000	0.00
8030 210 2712	(RELOCATE)(CONCRETE)		view more		0
Funding	Authorized Quantity	Pending Quantity	Remaining Quantity	Quantity Placed	Total Place
Non-participation	13.000	0.000	13.000	0.000	6.000
Participation	27.000	0.009	27.000	0.090	0.000
Totals	43.000	0.000	40.000	0.000	0.000
			VIEW ITIGOS		
Supiryug at 2 hars postings					

Figure 12-4. Daily Report Item Postings Page

- 1. Select the ITEM POSTINGS tab or click EDIT in the Item Postings header on the daily report page to open the Item Postings page.
- 2. Click ADD. The Appia service displays the item list for the project, including the quantity of the item that has previously been placed and the quantity remaining. Unattached items are listed by line number.
- 3. Select the item to add to the daily report. Use the search feature if necessary. Select the item for the number of contractors who used it and each contractor's location, not for the quantity placed. The counter to the left of the item indicates how many times the item will display in the daily report.
- 4. When you are finished selecting the items to be included in the daily report, click ADD ITEMS. The Appia service places the items into the daily report.
- 5. If an item displays the Use Worksheet link, click the link and enter the required information used at the location by one contractor into the fields. Click USE WORKSHEET to add the result to the daily report.

- 6. For items not using worksheet calculations, enter the quantity used at the location by one contractor into the Quantity Placed field.
- 7. The Appia service calculates the quantity of the item that has been used, including the current quantity, and updates the Total Placed field.
- 8. Click VIEW MORE under the item to see the extended area for the item.
- 9. If necessary, select the contractor providing the item from the Contractor drop-down list. The contractor must first be entered into the project and assigned to the item (see Chapter 19).
- 10. Enter any comments in the Remarks or Location fields.
- 11. Enter the Station From and Station To information.
- 12. Repeat the steps for each item.
- 13. Click SAVE.

To edit any item posting, enter the new information in the Quantity Placed field and click SAVE. The Manual tag may display for items that use worksheet calculations.

Delete any item postings by clicking the X in the upper right corner of the item block and click SAVE.

When are you finished updating item posting information, use the tabs to select another daily report section or submit the report for approval.

#### 12.2.5 Worksheet Calculations

When an item with a worksheet association is added to your daily report, use the worksheet calculations to determine the placed quantity for the item. Values needed can be as simple as length times width for an area, or a combination of values including the area, gallons used, and temperature. Most worksheets display the formula used for the calculation.

Use the PREVIEW button in the worksheet calculations to see the result before adding it to the Quantity Placed field.

Area: Square Foot	Binder Emulsion
Proview CALCULATED RESULT 0.000 length * width	Preview CALCULATED RESULT 0.000 pay
Length (FT)	* Length (FT)
Vidth (FT)	* Width (FT)
	Area (SY) ((length * width) / 0)
	* Distributor Start
	Distributor Stop
	Gallons Used (distributor star( - distributor stop)
Use Worksheet Cancel	* Temperature (*F)
	* Corr Factor
	At 60 Degrees (gallons used * cory factor)
	Gals Per Sv (at 60 degrees / area)
	Use Worksheet Cancel

Figure 12-5. Worksheet Calculations Examples

- 1. Click USE WORKSHEET for the item in the daily report.
- 2. Enter your information in the worksheet fields.
- 3. Click PREVIEW to see the result of the calculation.
- 4. Click USE WORKSHEET to add the result to the Quantity Placed field of the daily report.

Once you use the worksheet to determine the placed quantity of an item, you can edit the quantity. If you change the value of the Quantity Placed field, the Appia service displays a Manual flag for the item.

#### Worksheet Calculations for Split Items

When you use a worksheet to calculate the quantity placed of a split item, the Appia service displays the result of the calculation in the Quantity Placed field of the first fund package. You must enter the appropriate quantity placed in another fund package field if necessary.

The Manual flag displays if the total quantity placed in one fund package doesn't equal the calculated quantity.

#### 12.2.6 Daily Report Attachments

Attachments to a daily report include additional information you wish to be included with the report that does not already have a specified place in a daily report. The attachments can be any type of file.

=							MY ACCOUNT LOGOU
۲	Projects / 640879GS-SE19 / Daily	Activities / 04-18-2017 / Da	ally Report / At	lachments			
OVERVIEW	649879GS-SE19		sing and interne	ation construct	ion of verious loss	tion	
	3.5 miles of (an) rane construction, in	overview	PERSONNEL	EQUIPMENT	ITEM POSTINGS	ATTACHMENTS	
DAILY		or children	· Discinct	Equil ment			
==	Attachments						Save Add Cancel
	10.11						0
~	* Name Meeting Minutes			Document 20170621 Meeting Minutes docx submitted on 05/03/2017 02:48 PM EDT			
MATERIALS	Remarks			submitte	d on 05/03/2017 02:48	PMEDI	
STOCKPILES							
0							
TIME LIMITS				Save A	sd		
=/							

Figure 12-6. Daily Report Attachment Page

- 1. Select the ATTACHMENTS tab or click EDIT in the Attachments header on the daily report overview page to open the Attachments page.
- 2. Enter or change the name of the attachment in the Name field.
- 3. Click BROWSE or click CHOOSE FILE (depending on your browser). Navigate to and select the attachment, then click OPEN.
- 4. Enter or change the description, if necessary.
- 5. Click ADD again to add another attachment.
- 6. When you are finished adding or changing attachment information, click SAVE.

Delete any attachment by clicking the X in the upper right corner of the attachment block. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

When are you finished updating attachment information, use the tabs to select another daily report section or submit the report for approval.

#### 12.2.7 Daily Report Review Materials

If any items posted in your daily report include materials, the materials usage must be reviewed before the report can be approved. You can adjust the material quantity if it is incorrect.

If the usage rate for a material changes before the report is submitted, you will need to review the materials again. The change does not affect reports already submitted and approved.

You will not see the REVIEW MATERIALS tab if there are no materials to review or if the usage rate is 0 to 0. If you submit a daily report for approval before the materials have been reviewed, you will see a warning message. The materials must be reviewed before the report can be approved.

uait Uait TN	Authorized Quar		Quantity Placed		Unit Price	Paid Quantit
			Quantity Placed		Unit Price	Paid Quantity
TN	10					
		000	2.000		\$500.000	0,000
	Usage Rate	Fund Package	Approved Quantity	Used Quantity	Remaining Quantity	Material Quantity*
RETENSIONED PRESTRESSED CONCRETE, 87896	0.500 EACH/TN	Default Fund Package	1.000	1.000	0.005	1.000
DÜLDER, HOT MIX ASPHALT MIXTURE, IV IN	6.000 SY/TN	Default Fund Package	0.000	12.000	-12 00	12,000
•	RETENSIONED PRESTRESSED CONCRETE, UTBIS HOULDER, HOT MOXASPHALT MOXTURE, S'IN	NDULDER, HOT MOX ASPHALT MOXTURE, SIN 6 000 SY/TN	IDULDER, HOT MOX ASPHALT MOXTURE, I'M 6.000 SY/TN Delault Fund Package	NDÜLDER, HOT MIX ASPHALT MIXTURE, 5 IN \$ 600 SY/TN Default Fund Package 0.000	NDÚLDÉR, HOT MOX ASPHALT MOXTURE, SIN 6.000 SY/TN Default Fund Package 8.008 12.008	IDÜLDER, HOT MOX ASPHALT MOXTURE, 1/14 6.000 SY/TN Default Fund Package 0.000 12.000 12.000 12.000

Figure 12-7. Daily Report Review Materials

If your material has an insufficient quantity, you must certify the material before the material can be paid (see Section 10.6).

While viewing (but not editing) the daily report, click REVIEW MATERIALS on the header menu. If you are editing the daily report, click the REVIEW MATERIALS tab. The Appia service opens the Review Materials page and lists the details of the item and material. If an item is split between funding packages, a field is displayed for both.

- 1. Select the REVIEW MATERIALS tab on the daily report Overview page. If you do not see this button or if the report has not yet been submitted for approval, click EDIT in the Item Postings header and select the REVIEW MATERIALS tab.
- 2. Review the material information and if necessary, make any adjustments to the number of approvals required in the Material Quantity field.
- 3. Click SAVE.

The Appia service makes the adjustment and marks the materials as reviewed and returns you to the Overview page.

# 12.3 Daily Report Approvals and Actions

Once your daily report has been entered, you must submit it for approval. After a daily report is approved, you can undo the approval until payment for the items posted in the report has been finalized.

The Actions menu contains other commands for the daily report, such as copy or mark it as reviewed, depending on the report's status.

=			MY ACCOUNT LOSOUT
E O The	daily report has been unapproved		
	W01756-GS16 / Dally Activities / 08-04-2016 / Dally Report		
🔹 WO	1756-GS16 Unice Construction		Approve Deny Edit Actions - Reports -
DVERVIEW			Mark Ax Reviewed
Dail	y Report		Mark As Checked
			Copy Daily Report
ACTIVITIES 00/04	rt Date	Report Status	Approva and Raview hext
			Unde Approval Request
	Contractor WATER SKANSKA, INC.	Weather Day? No	
Creat	ed By		
	Summers. on 08/09/2016 03:33 PM EDT		
MATERIALS			

Figure 12-8. Pending Daily Report Options

#### 12.3.1 Submit for Approval

Once a report is submitted and in the pending status, it can be changed but not deleted, though you can undo the request for approval and return it to draft status. The Appia service tracks the daily report submission in the Audit log.

Materials in your daily report should be reviewed before the report is submitted (see Section 12.2.7). If you have a stockpile recovery date for an item on the daily report that is after the date the report is being submitted, you will get a warning if the stockpile will be overrun.

- 1. If you are not already on the Daily Report page, select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page. Select **Daily Activities** in the Sidebar menu. Select the date from the calendar and click the name of the inspector who created the report.
- 2. From the Daily Report overview page, click SUBMIT FOR APPROVAL.

The Appia service submits the daily report for approval and changes the report status to pending.

#### 12.3.2 Undo Approval Request

You can undo an approval request for your daily report.

- If you are not already on the Daily Report page, select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page. Select Daily Activities in the Sidebar menu. Select the date from the calendar and click the name of the inspector who created the report.
- 2. From the Daily Report overview page, select **Undo Approval Request** from the **Actions** menu.

The Appia service sends the report back to draft status.

#### 12.3.3 Approve or Deny

In order for a payment to include the items posted in the daily report, the report must be approved. Once a report is approved, all quantities posted on the report will be eligible for payment. An approved report cannot be changed or deleted, though the approval status can be undone until a payment is made.

- 1. If you are not already on the Daily Report page, select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page. Select **Daily Activities** in the Sidebar menu. Select the date from the calendar and click the name of the inspector who created the report.
- 2. From the Daily Report overview page, review the report and click APPROVE or DENY. If there is more than one report to review, you can select **Approve and Review Next** from the **Actions** menu.

If you approved the report, the Appia service returns you to the Daily Activities page and its status is changed to approved. If the report is denied, the Appia service remains on the report and its status is changed to draft. The Appia service logs who approved or denied the report.

#### 12.3.4 Mark as Reviewed

Some agencies require the daily report be reviewed. If you have the correct permissions, you can review the daily report after each status change.

- 1. If you are not already on the Daily Report page, select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page. Select **Daily Activities** in the Sidebar menu. Select the date from the calendar and click the name of the inspector who created the report.
- 2. From the Daily Report overview page, review the report, then select **Mark as Reviewed** from the **Actions** menu.

When the status changes or is sent back to a previous status, the option become available again. The Appia service logs who reviewed the report.

#### 12.3.5 Mark as Checked

Some agencies require the daily report be checked. If you have the correct permissions, you can check the daily report when it is pending approval.

- 1. If you are not already on the Daily Report page, select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page. Select **Daily Activities** in the Sidebar menu. Select the date from the calendar and click the name of the inspector who created the report.
- 2. From the Daily Report overview page, check the report, then select **Mark as Checked** from the **Actions** menu.

If the approval for a daily report is undone, the option become available again. The Appia service logs who checked the report.

# 12.4 Copy Daily Report

You can copy a daily report for use on another day. This is helpful if the job site is similar to one already reported. Item and material quantities, site conditions, and attachments will not be copied to the new report. You cannot copy a report to a day where you already have a daily report.



Figure 12-9. Copy Daily Report

- 1. If you are not already on the Daily Report page, select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page.
- 2. Select **Daily Activities** in the Sidebar menu or from the navigation trail.

- 3. Select the calendar day which contains the report you want to copy. The Appia service brings you to the date's daily reports page.
- 4. Click the two-pages icon to copy the report.
- 5. Select a date from the Copy To Date field. You cannot copy a report to a date on which you have already created a daily report.
- 6. Click COPY.

The Appia service opens a new daily report for the selected date with the copied information. Add or remove information as necessary.

## 12.5 Daily Report Reports

You can create a PDF file of the daily report. This PDF can be distributed to those who do not have an account for the Appia service. A daily report in the draft status will display a draft watermark on each page.

- 1. If you are not already on the Daily Report page, select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page. Select **Daily Activities** in the Sidebar menu. Select the date from the calendar and click the name of the inspector who created the report.
- 2. From the Daily Report overview page, click **Reports** and select **Daily Report**.
- 3. Open or save the file.

# 12.6 View Daily Report

You can view all the information for a daily report quickly in a read-only version. From this page, you can submit the report for approval or deny the approval, copy the report, check it, or mark it as reviewed.

- 1. Select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page.
- 2. Select **Daily Activities** in the Sidebar menu. This opens the project calendar.
- 3. Click the calendar day which contains the report you want to view. The Appia service brings you to the date's daily reports page.
- 4. Select the inspector whose report you want to view.

The Appia service opens the daily report in a read-only view. Use the commands in the Actions menu or the approval buttons to perform actions on this report.

# 12.7 Delete Daily Report

A daily report can be deleted provided it is in a draft status. Inspectors can delete only reports they create. Project managers and system administrators can delete any report.

To delete a submitted report, deny the approval request. This returns the report to draft status where it can then be deleted.

- 1. If you are not already on the Daily Report page, select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page.
- 2. Select **Daily Activities** in the Sidebar menu or from the navigation trail. This will bring you to the project calendar.
- 3. Click the calendar day which contains the report you want to delete. The Appia service brings you to the date's daily reports page.
- 4. Click the X icon for the daily report you want to delete. If you do not see the X, you may have to first deny the report approval.
- 5. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

The Appia service deletes the report.

## 12.8 Daily Diaries

The daily diary is a record of each of the entered daily reports for the selected day. It includes comments and report summaries from each inspector.

You can choose what information from the daily reports displays on each daily diary in the Daily Diary Carry Over Rules in the settings (see Section 2.6).

4727ACD-GS45-18				Mani A) Compaint Preparity of
Daity Diary				
Report Sale			Donales/T Sec	
Propert Manager Theory March			Prime Contractor (RIGCO, INC)	
Created By Doct Damage in HallDalf			Revelwent Dy Dave Cristen se rokonostre	
Daily Reports				
1607 Brandityre Dayton 30 Grame or 14 Statist	in the part			
30 Sateria Descrip	IT M /W KST			
Equipment				
Description.	Active			 Departs
Inspector) thisselfyres Clayton				
ante-sto	1.01.02 (more)			RGCO, BEL
Inspector; hidowa Domethy				
Experie	7:18.00 insurt	- Bulk All Search		RICO, HC.

Figure 12-10. Daily Diary

#### 12.8.1 Add or Edit Daily Diary

You cannot add diaries before the Notice to Proceed date or for a date in the future. You cannot edit a diary that is marked complete.

- 1. Select the under construction project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **Daily Activities** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the daily activities calendar page with the current date highlighted.
- 3. Click the calendar day to which you would like to add a daily diary or select a diary already on the calendar. The Appia service brings you to the date's daily activities page.
- 4. Click the ADD button next to the Daily Diary header or click the pencil EDIT icon for the diary. This brings you to the date's daily diary page.
- 5. Enter any information in the Overview or for attachments and click SAVE. The Appia service displays the Daily Diary page.
- 6. Add or change the diary information.

The Appia service displays the name of the user who added or edited the diary in the Audit Log.

#### 12.8.2 Mark as Complete or Incomplete

Once you are done editing the daily diary, you can mark it as complete. This prevents editing the diary. This can't be changed once a daily report under the diary is included in a payment.

1. Click the calendar day for the daily diary. The Appia service brings you to the date's daily activities page.

- 2. Click the inspector's name or the pencil EDIT icon for the diary.
- 3. Click SAVE or CANCEL for the overview, if necessary.
- 4. Review the diary, then click MARK AS COMPLETE.

The Appia service changes the Complete? field in the Overview to Yes and notes the user in the Audit Log.

To change the diary to incomplete:

1. Select Actions from the project header and click MARK AS INCOMPLETE.

The Appia service changes the Complete? field in the Overview to No and notes the user in the Audit Log.

#### 12.8.3 Mark as Reviewed

Once the daily diary has been marked complete, it can be reviewed. There is no limit on the number of times or users who can review the diary. Each review is noted in the Audit Log.

- 1. Click the calendar day for the daily diary. The Appia service brings you to the date's daily activities page.
- 2. Click the date for the diary.
- 3. Click SAVE or CANCEL for the overview, if necessary.
- 4. Review the diary, then click MARK AS REVIEWED.

The Appia service adds information to the Reviewed By field in the diary's overview. The Reviewed By field displays the name of the last person who reviewed the diary.

#### 12.8.4 Daily Report Audit Log

Actions taken for the daily report, like when the report was created or approved, are recorded in the report's audit log. It includes the time and date the action was taken, the user who performed the action, and the action itself.

- If you are not already on the Daily Report page, select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page. Select Daily Activities in the Sidebar menu. Select the daily report from the calendar and click the name of the inspector whose report you want to see.
- 2. From the Daily Report overview page, scroll to the bottom of the report to see the audit log.

#### 12.8.5 Daily Diary Report

The Reports button displays in the upper right corner of the Daily Diary page.

Name / K1277652-US45-19 / Dany Announ / 11-32-2011 / Dany Dany		
4727ACD-GS45+18		Mark As Considers Proports - Daily Dary
Daily Diary		Eat
Report Date 11/20/2017	Complete?	
Project Manugen Vonsty Marsh	Prime Contractor BOCO, MC	
Created By Orth Summers on 1/20/2017	Reviewent By Sara Gradon en (2)(0)(2)(7)	

Figure 12-11. Daily Diary Reports

1. Click REPORTS from the upper right corner and select the report.

The Appia service generates a PDF file containing the selected report. Open or save the file. The report will contain a date stamp indicating when the report was generated.

# 13. Stockpiles

Stockpiles are delivered materials and items for the project that are not yet being used. You can give contractors an advanced payment for these items and materials so contractors can pay their suppliers. When a stockpile is created, the advance is paid in full on the next payment. Use the stockpile functionality in the Appia service to help keep track of the items and materials on hand and the recovery of the advanced payment to the contractor.

When the stockpiled items and the materials are approved in a daily report, the posted amount of those items and materials is recovered from the payment made to the contractor. A stockpile must be fully recovered before you can make the final payment for a project.

When you add a stockpile, the Appia service assigns it a permanent number. This number does not change. Stockpiles are listed from newest to oldest based on the date they were created. The Appia service displays the details about their values and recovery. You cannot select any item with a negative unit price.

Each stockpiled material and item can belong to only one fund package. If the item is split between fund packages, you must select its fund package.

	Progense ( 0175/255 00166/7 / Sweeples					
	01792SS-GR4517					
u Turn	Stockpiles					400
	Stockpile	Fund Package	Value of Materials	Recovery	Remaining	
	IN 779 52 K2 HIGH BITENSITY FLASHING LIGHTS, TEMP. TYPE B	Participation	\$1,476.00	\$1.425.00	\$ct.00	
	Recovery Progress					_
ALS	RE211-DOS FAVEMENT REMOVAL OF EXISTING CONCRETE	Paticpaten	100 001	\$200.00	\$800.00	•
) 1443	Recovery Progress			_	_	
)	#4 158-1000 TRAINING HOURS	Non-Participation	\$1,700.00	\$1,700.00	\$0.00	
	Recovery Progress					
44 84	10 210 2112 BARRIER WALL (TEMPORARY)(RELOCATE)(CONCRETE)	Nos-Participation	\$550.00	\$0.00	\$550.00	0
	Recovery Progress		_	_	_	-
un	W1203 BTBT ASPHALT PAVEMENT MISCELLANEOUS	Pancipalion	\$150.00	30.00	\$150.00	

Figure 13-1. Stockpiles List

# **13.1 Stockpile Field Definitions**

When you select an item for the stockpile, the Appia service enters default information in several fields. Some of these fields can be changed.

ltem	The item for which the stockpile is being created.
Fund Package	Specifies which source of funding will be used as the advance. Once saved, this field cannot be changed.
	If more than one fund package is being used for the stockpile, you must enter a stockpile for each fund package.
Value of Materials	The amount to be paid to the contractor up front for the delivered materials. This field defaults to the unit price of the selected item multiplied by the authorized item quantity available. If the item has already been posted in a daily report, this field displays the amount on the daily report.
	The value of materials in a stockpile cannot exceed the item's authorized amount. If the item is split, the value of materials cannot exceed the authorized amount for the fund package. If a stockpile already exists for the item, the value of materials in a new stockpile cannot exceeded the authorized amount minus the previously stockpiled amount or the amount on payments submitted for approval.
Quantity for Recovery	The item quantity that needs to be posted to a daily report to recover the advanced payment from the contractor. This field defaults to the available quantity of the item. As quantities of the material are entered as part of the daily

	report, the Quantity for Recovery reduces to show the remaining stockpile. If the item has already been posted in a daily report, this field displays the amount on the daily report.
	The quantity for recovery in a new stockpile cannot exceed the authorized item quantity and must be greater than zero. If a stockpile already exists for the item, the quantity for recovery in the new stockpile cannot exceed the authorized quantity minus the quantity on payments submitted for approval or on saved daily reports.
Recovery Rate	For every one unit of the item placed, this is the dollar amount at which the advanced payment to the contractor is recovered. This field cannot be changed.
Begin Recovery On	The date when you can begin recovering the funds advanced to the contractor. This date cannot be before the notice to proceed date. You cannot enter a recovery date for the past if the quantity for recovery exceeds the quantity already submitted on a payment.
	When a daily report includes a posting of the stored material, the quantity in the report is included in the recovery when a payment is made.
Description	A description of the material on hand or any other relevant information. This field is not required.

=			B MY ACCOUNT LOGOU
٠	rojects / 6498/90/S-SE19 / Stockpiles / New		
	649879GS-SE19 Under Construction	largertion construction struggious location	
	a single of an interactional action, manning, may, providence controlling and in		
DAILY	New		Save Cancel
**	" Item	Authorized Quantity	Extension
TIEMS	0090: 770-5742 HIGH INTENSITY FLASHING LIGHTS +	50.000	\$7,500.00
	Value of Materials	Quantity Placed	Amount Paid \$0.00
ATERIALS	\$4,950.00	Quantity Paid	Stockpiled Amount
	Quantity for Recovery	0.000	\$0.00
۵	23 000	Quantity Available 33.000	Amount Available \$4,950.00
OCKPILES	Recovery Rate	Unit	
0	\$150,000	ED	
HE LIMITS	- Begin Recovery On	Unit Price \$150.00	
EZ -		3130.00	
CHANGE	Description		
-			
E ANDREAM			
MUR (15)		Add Attachment	
ė .			

Figure 13-2. Create Stockpile Page With Item Selected

The Appia service displays the following summary as information only:

Authorized Quantity	Pulled from the item list, the quantity of the item that has been authorized, either when the project was moved to the Under Construction phase or through change orders.
Quantity Placed	Pulled from daily reports, the quantity of the item that has been used.
Quantity Paid	Pulled from payments, the quantity of the item for which payment has been made.
Quantity Available	The quantity of the item from all fund packages that is available to be stockpiled.
Unit	Pulled from the item list, the unit of measure for the item.
Unit Price	Pulled from the item list, the price per unit of the item.
Extension	Pulled from the item list, the number of units times the unit price.
Amount Paid	Pulled from the payments, the amount paid for the stockpiled item.
Stockpiled Amount	The total value of the item from all fund packages and stockpiles that has been stockpiled.
Amount Available	The value of the item from all fund packages that is available to be stockpiled.

When you edit the stockpile, you will see additional fields. Fields that have information copied from the Item list, such as unit and unit price, are not listed.

Payment and recovery of a changed stockpile remains the same.

Current Value of Materials	The value of the stockpiled materials for this stockpile.
Current Quantity for Recovery	The quantity of the stockpiled material for this stockpile.
Value Change	The dollar amount of the stockpile addition (not the total dollar amount).
	The change cannot be greater than the value in the Quantity Available field, though
Quantity Change	The change of the number of units (not the total quantity).
Begin Recovery On	Defaults to the recovery date entered when the stockpile was created.
Adjustment Effective Date	The date that changes to the stockpile recovery rate will become effective. You cannot enter an effective date prior to the current effective date.
------------------------------	---
New Value of Materials	Based on the Value Change field, displays the new value of the stockpile.
New Quantity for Recovery	Based on the Quantity Change field, displays the new quantity of the stockpile.
Current Recovery Rate	The rate of stockpile recovery (current value of materials divided by the current quantity for recovery) before the change.
New Recovery Rate	The rate of stockpile recovery (new value of materials divided by the new quantity for recovery) after the change.
Recovery to Date	How much of the stockpile advancement has been recovered.
Recovery Remaining	How much of the stockpile advancement is left.
Quantity Until Recovery	How much of the stockpile is left until the advance has been recovered.
Notes	Any additional information on the reason for the change.
Quantity Available	The quantity of the item available to be stockpiled for all fund packages. This total is based on the value in the Item list. If an item is split between fund packages, this quantity may not be available for the chosen fund package.
Stockpiled Amount	The value of the stockpiled material across all stockpiles and fund packages.
Amount Available	The amount available of the item across all stockpiles.

ACTIVITIES	Edit		Save Cancel
=:	Associated Item	Authorized Quantity	Extension
	0090: 770-5742 HIGH INTENSITY FLASHING LIGHTS, TEMP-TYPE B	50.000	\$7,500.00
ITEMS	Associated Fund Package	Quantity Placed	Amount Paid
#	Non-Participation	5.500	\$450.00
201	Current Value of Materials	Quantity Paid	Stockpiled Amount
ATERIALS	\$988.23	3 000	\$988.23
-	Current Quantity for Recovery	Quantity Available	Amount Available
	23.000	44.500	\$6.675.00
OCKPILES			
	<sup>-</sup> Value Change	Unit: ED	
0	50.00		
MELIMITS	" Quantity Change	Unit Price \$150.000	
	0.000	\$150,000	
12/	0.000		
CHANGE	* Begin Recovery On		
DRDERS	05/09/2017		
≡,	* Adjustment Effective Date		
NCHLIST	06/09/2017		
ŝ	New Value of Materials		
	\$988.23		
YMENTS	New Quantity for Recovery		
	23.000		
	Current Recovery Rate		
EUNDING	\$42,967		

Figure 13-3. Saved Stockpile Detail Page

## 13.2 Add a Stockpile

After you select an item for your stockpile, the Appia service enters default information in several fields.

A stockpiled item posted to a daily report on or after the item's effective date will immediately begin recovery. The Value of Materials and Quantity for Recovery fields will display the amounts in the daily report.

A stockpiled item posted to a daily report before the item's recovery date will be excluded from payment unless the recovery date or the posted amount is adjusted.

- 1. Select **Stockpiles** in the Sidebar menu.
- 2. Click ADD.
- 3. Select the project item in the Item field.
- 4. If the item is split between fund packages, select the fund package for this stockpile. Each stockpile can belong to only one fund package. The fund package cannot be changed once the stockpile is saved.
- 5. If necessary, change the values in the Value of Materials, Quantity for Recovery, and Begin Recovery On fields.
- 6. Enter a description the Description field.
- 7. Add any necessary attachments.
- 8. Click SAVE.

The Appia service saves the stockpile information and adds its creation to the events on the stockpile's detail page. Click <u>Stockpiles</u> in the navigation trail to return to the stockpiles list.

# 13.3 Edit a Stockpile

When you edit a stockpile, the Appia service displays its current values. You can change the value and the quantity, and the begin recovery and effective dates. If you need to change the fund package, you must create another stockpile. You can track changes to the quantity of an item stockpile and the value. However, you may not go over the authorized item quantity or value.

If you include the item being stockpiled on a change order that results in a negative balance, you may see a warning that you may not be able recover the stockpile payment.

- 1. Click the pencil EDIT icon for the stockpile.
- 2. In the Value Change field, enter the dollar value of the stockpile change, not the total value. The New Value of Materials field updates to show the change.
- 3. In the Quantity Change field, enter the quantity change of the stockpile, not the total quantity. The New Quantity for Recovery field and the New Recovery Rate field update to show the change.
- 4. If necessary, update the Begin Recovery On and Adjustment Effective Date fields.
- 5. Add any necessary attachments.
- 6. Click SAVE.

The Appia service returns you to the stockpile's Overview page.

# 13.4 Delete a Stockpile

A stockpile can be deleted under the Stockpile heading on the Project Home page provided no payment has been submitted for its advancement.

Stockpiles without the X delete icon cannot be deleted.

- 1. Select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page.
- 2. Select **Stockpiles** in the Sidebar menu.

- 3. Click the X for the stockpile.
- 4. Click OK in the confirmation window.

The Appia service deletes the stockpile and returns you to the Stockpiles page.

### **13.5 Stockpile Events**

Stockpile events list actions taken by the user that have an effect on the stockpiled item, such as when it was created or changes made to its value.

Adjustments and recoveries are listed by their effective dates.

Select the stockpile number. The Events are listed on the stockpile page.

# 14. Change Orders

When a project is under construction, any changes must be made through a change order. The Change Orders section tracks item overruns, quantity changes, new project items, and time limit changes. You must have the proper permission in order to create a change order. Changes are applied to a project once the change order is approved. Payments will be made on change orders with effective dates that are within or before the end date of the pay period.

Change orders are listed from newest to oldest based on the date they were created. You can also see its status and type, in addition to other information. When you add a change order, the Appia service assigns it a permanent number, displayed in the No. column.

# 14.1 Add or Edit a Change Order

You can edit a change order until the change order is approved. Once a change order has been added, the Appia service assigns it a number. This number will not change.

- 1. Select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page.
- 2. Select **Change Orders** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service opens the Change Orders page.
- 3. To edit the change order, click the pencil EDIT icon.
- 4. To add a change order, click ADD. The Appia service goes to the New change order page.
- 5. Select the type of change order from the Change Order Type field. If you do not see your type of change order, talk to your system administrator.

- 6. Enter a short summary of the change in the Summary field and a longer description in the Description field, if necessary.
- 7. Click SAVE.

The Appia service opens the Change Order page where you can fill out the details of your change order.

#### 14.1.1 Balance Overruns

If the quantity for an item on a daily report is greater than the approved quantity, the Appia service displays the Overruns section on the change order Overview page. Depending on your project settings, you may have to balance the overrun before the item can be paid.

Select the item to move it to the Quantity Change section. The Appia service enters the quantity change needed to balance the item. Once the change order is approved, the posted quantity for the item will equal the authorized quantity.

649	9879G	S-SE19 Under Ca	ensity clien			Su	bmit For Approval Ac	tions - Reports -
				esurfacing and intersection con	struction at various location			
s Cł	hange	Order						Eat
	te Created				Status Draft			
	immary ed more ligi	ats			Type Quantity Change			
1 a 1					Total Proposed Amount 80-07			
Des	scription							
	verruns	5						alance Overruns
		S Line Number	item ID	Authorized Quantity		entity	Quantity Placed	alance Overruns Quantity Over
01	verruns		Item ID 770-5742		50 00 Draft/Pending Qu:	entity 0.000		
0	verruns	Line Number		Authorized Quantity	50 00 Draft/Pending Qu:		Quantity Placed	Quantity Over
s O1	verruns	Line Number	770-5742	Authorized Quantity	50.03 Draft/Pending Ou		Quantity Placed	Quantity Over

Figure 14-1. Change Order Overruns

- 1. From the Overruns section of the change order Overview page, select the check box for the items you want to balance. You can mark all items at once by selecting the check box in the Overruns header.
- 2. Click BALANCE OVERRUNS.

The Appia service moves the selected items into the Quantity Changes section and enters the proposed quantity changes needed to balance the items. If you need to update this quantity, click EDIT.

#### 14.1.2 Change Order Quantity

To change the quantity of an item in an under construction project, you must submit a change order with the new quantity.

You cannot change the quantity for an item if there is a quantity change in a pending change order for that same item and fund package. If the quantity for an item is greater than the approved quantity, use the Overrun section on the change order Overview page to add the item and the proposed change to the Quantity page.

You cannot change the quantity of an item to be below zero. If an item is stockpiled, you cannot decrease the item quantity to be less than the item's stockpile quantity.

										MY ACCO	INKT LOGOU
Pa	opecta / 5491688	U-DA19 7	Change Orde	n / 0	hange Order #1	7 Quantity Changes					
5	49168BJ-E	DA19	nder Constructio	n							
	obu roparemen			OVERV	TEW QUAN	ITTES NEWTTEMS	TIME LIMIT CHANGES	NEW TIME LIMPTS ATTACHMENTS			
					-					_	_
	Quantity C	hanges								Save	Cancel
	Line Number	Item ID	Quantity	Unit	Unit Price	Proposed Change	Proposed Quantity	Proposed Extension Change	Fund Package		
	Section: 1 - Road	Construct	tion								Select form
	0020	211- 0425	30 000	M2	\$75.000	-3.000	27.000	-\$225.00	Participation		Sont 😋
			Normal et al.				Reason				
	PAVEMENT REM	OVAL OF E	XISTING CO	INCHE	(E		Ordered too many				
	0050	028- 6265	45.000	TN	\$500.000	2,000	47.000	\$1,000.00	Split by 2 pace	ages	Rest 😣
	TURNOUT CONS	TRUCTION	/ACTLIAL T				Reason				
	LORNOUT CONS	TRUGTION	(ASPENALI)				Deamy				
	Participation						Non-Participation				
					2.000				0.000		

Figure 14-2. Quantity Change Order

- 1. Click EDIT in the Quantity Changes header on the change order Overview page or click the QUANTITIES tab to open the Quantity Changes page.
- 2. Click SELECT ITEMS for the section that contains the item.
- 3. Select the items from the section's item list and click ADD ITEMS.
- 4. Enter the change in the Proposed Change field or enter the new quantity in the Proposed Quantity field.
- 5. If your project has more than one fund package, you will see options to assign the package or split the item. For more information on funding, please see Chapter 7.
- 6. If you have an item with funding splits, enter the proposed change for the appropriate fund package. The Appia service calculates the changed amount and the extension price of the change.

- 7. Enter a reason for the change.
- 8. When you are finished entering the information for all the selected items, click SAVE.

The Appia service displays the proposed changes on the Quantity Changes section of the Change Order page. The change order status, proposed extension amount, and type of change order are displayed in the Change Order heading.

#### 14.1.3 Change Order Items

If an item with related reference data materials is added to the change order, those materials are added to the project once the change order is submitted for approval.

When your project has unattached items, you can add those items to your project from the New Items change order page. You cannot add an item to a change order if the item with the same fund package is in a pending change order. Items in pending change orders will not display on the project item list.

- 1. Click EDIT in the New Items header on the change order Overview page or click the NEW ITEMS tab to open the New Items page.
- 2. Click ADD ITEMS for the section to which the items will be added. If you are adding an unattached item, click ADD UNATTACHED ITEMS. If the section does not have any unattached items, you will not see this button. The Appia service opens the reference item list or the project's list of unattached items.
- 3. Select the items or unattached items from the list and click ADD ITEMS.
- 4. Enter the quantity and the unit price of the added items.
- 5. If necessary, select the funding package or split the item (see Chapter 7). You will not see this option if your project has only one fund package.
- 6. If needed, enter a unique line number or enter a reason for adding the new or unattached item.
- 7. When you are finished entering the information for the items, click SAVE.

The Appia service adds the items to the New Items section of the change order and returns you to the change order Overview page. The unattached items display the unattached flag.

The Total Proposed Amount field on the Overview includes the extension amount of the added items.

#### 14.1.4 Add or Edit Change Order Time Limits

You can add new time limits or update existing time limits. Once the change order is approved, the time limits will be updated in your project. Any liquidated damages will be accounted for when the next payment is made.

To extend the deadline of an existing time limit, use the Time Limit Changes section and update the Deadline Extension field.

				MY ACCOUNT LOGOUT
۲	Projects / 5491888J-DA19 / Change	Orders / Change Onter #4 /	New Time Limits / New Time Limit	
OVERVIEW	549168BJ-DA19 Under Com Road repayement	Inclion		
DAILY ACTIVITIES	New Time Limit			Seve
=:	* Туре		Primary deadline?	
ITEMS	Completion Date	<b>Y</b>	NO	
a general	* Description		* Deadline Date	
	new completion date time limit		06/19/2017	
MATERIALS			" Liquidated Damages	
			\$1,000.00	
STOCKPILES				

Figure 14-3. New Time Limit Change Order

#### Time Limit Changes

You cannot change a time limit that has been marked complete.

Search for Descrip	Searc	h	
O Description	Deadline	Days Charged	
Calendar days	120.0 Calendar Days	11	
Working days	120.0 Working Days	2	0
Displaying all 2 time lim	its		
1 Time Limits(s)	Anton	me Limits Canc	

Figure 14-4. Time Limit Changes Change Order

1. Click EDIT in the Time Limit Changes header on the change order Overview page or click the TIME LIMIT CHANGES tab to open the Time Limit Changes page.

- 2. Click ADD or click the pencil EDIT icon for a new time limit.
- 3. Select the time limits to change and click ADD TIME LIMITS.
- 4. For Calendar Days and Working Days, enter the number of days for the extension. For Completion Date, enter the new date. These fields are required. The Appia service calculates the proposed deadline.
- 5. If necessary, enter the reason.
- 6. Click SAVE.

The Appia service returns to the change order Overview page and displays the time limit change with the proposed extension and deadline.

#### New Time Limit

If you want to extend the deadline of an existing time limit, use the Time Limit Changes section and update the Deadline Extension field. Do not create a new time limit to extend the deadline of a time limit that already exists.

Once a time limit is added to a project through an approved change order, changes to that time limit must be made through the Time Limit Changes page of a new change order.

- 1. Click EDIT in the New Time Limits header on the change order Overview page or click the NEW TIME LIMITS tab to open the New Time Limits page.
- 2. Click ADD or click the pencil EDIT icon for a new time limit.
- 3. Select the type of time limit and enter or change the description and the liquidated damages. These fields are required.
- 4. Depending on the type of deadline, enter the deadline days or the deadline date. These fields are required.
- 5. Set the primary deadline if necessary.
- 6. Click SAVE.

The Appia service creates the new time limit for the change order and displays the New Time Limits page. Repeat the process to add another time limit to your change order.

#### 14.1.5 Change Order Attachments

You can add or remove change order attachments until the change order has been approved.

	ic instrumental and systematicpole	construction at various locat	tions in Alachua County		
	Collineary		N RELEASED NEW THEIR	TTE ATTALSMENTE	
Attachments					Bare Add. Care
* Name			* Select Attachment	-	
Description					

Figure 14-5. Change Order Add Attachment

- 1. Click EDIT in the Attachments header on the change order Overview page or click the ATTACHMENTS tab to open the Attachments page.
- 2. Enter or change the name for the attachment in the Name field. This field is required.
- 3. Enter or change any comments in the Description field.
- 4. If you are adding an attachment, click the BROWSE button in the Select Attachment field to upload your attachment. Navigate to and select the attachment. Click OPEN. This field is required.
- 5. Click ADD to add another attachment.
- 6. When you are finished adding or changing the attachment information, click SAVE.

The Appia service returns you to the change order Overview page and displays your attachment information, including the date and time the attachment was submitted.

To remove an attachment,

- 1. Click EDIT in the Attachments header on the change order Overview page or click the ATTACHMENTS tab to open the Attachments page.
- 2. Click the X for the attachment you want to remove.
- 3. Click SAVE.

The Appia service removes the attachment and returns you to the change order Overview page.

#### 14.1.6 Balance Change Order

Item quantities must be balanced before you can submit a final payment for your project. You can do this with a balance change order.

- All items posted to a daily report at any time during the project will be balanced, unless an item or a split item and its corresponding fund package is included in a current draft or pending change order.
- Lump sum items will not be balanced.
- Stockpiled items that have not been fully recovered will not be balanced.

When you create a balance change order, the Appia service changes the quantities of the unbalanced items so they are 100 percent placed. To balance only specific items, create the change order from the Mark Complete page (see Section 5.10).

- 1. Add a change order to your project. Enter the change order type, summary, and description and click SAVE.
- 2. Select **Balance All Items** from the **Actions** menu.
- 3. Read the information and click OK.

The Appia service lists all items in your project that need changes in order for their quantities to equal zero. Change other parts of your project as necessary and submit the change order for approval (see Section 14.3.1).

# 14.2 Delete a Change Order

A change order can be deleted provided it is in a draft status. To delete a submitted change order, undo the approval request. This returns the change order to draft status where it can then be deleted. Change orders that have been approved cannot be deleted, even if the approval is reversed.

Any item and related material added to the project through the change order will be removed if the change order is deleted. The Appia service does not re-sequence change order numbers when a change order is deleted.

- 1. Select **Change Orders** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service opens the Change Orders page.
- 2. Click the X icon for the change order you want to delete. If you do not see the X, you may have to first undo the approval request.
- 3. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

The Appia service deletes the change order.

# 14.3 Change Order Approvals

If you have posted over an item's authorized quantity, an overrun heading displays. This section calculates the quantity discrepancies and allows you to automatically balance the quantity change. Once the change order has been approved, the posted quantity will equal the authorized quantity. You must have the proper permission to create and approve change orders.

Items on a change order that have been posted to on a daily report will not be available for payment until the change order is approved.

=						🌲 M	ACCOUNT LOGOUT
۲	Projects / 049879GS	-SE19 / Change Orders					
OVERVIEW		E19 Under Construction e construction, milling, inlay, plan	nt mix resurfacing and int	tersection construction at va	rious location		Reports -
	Change Ord	ters 🗧					Add
	Date	Status	Amount	Туре	Summary	No.	
ITEMS	06/06/2017	Pending	\$6,250.00	New Items		3	0
*	06/05/2017	Draft	\$4,500.00	New Items		2	00
MATERIALS	05/29/2017	Approved	\$7,380.00	Quantity Change	609-1000	t	
Ē	Displaying all 3 char	nge orders					

Figure 14-6. Change Order Approval Status

#### 14.3.1 Submit for Approval

Once the change order is ready, it needs to be submitted for approval. Once the change order is submitted, any changes to items will be added to the project as pending, but the approved quantity and unit price will not display until the change order is approved. You cannot make any changes to a submitted change order other than updating attachments.

- 1. Select the date of the change order you want to submit for approval.
- 2. Click SUBMIT FOR APPROVAL.

#### 14.3.2 Undo Approval Request

You can withdraw a change order request for approval provided there are no items in the change order that have already been posted in a daily report. If there are items posted, you will receive an error message with a link to the report.

- 1. Select the date of the pending change order you want to revert.
- 2. Select Undo Approval Request from the Actions menu.

The Appia service returns the change order to draft status and removes any pending changes from the project.

#### 14.3.3 Approve Change Order

Once the change order is approved, the changes are made in the project, and the change order status is set to approved. The approval date will need to be within the payment period, and the changes on an approved daily report, in order for the changes to be included in the payment.

The project overview will update to display the new authorized project amounts and quantities, the current percent complete, and the financial change of the approved changes.

Ar	e you sure you wish to approve the change order?
	You are about to <b>approve</b> this change order. Once a change order has been approved, it may be unapproved <b>only</b> by your system administrator under the conditions specified in the help text.
0	The change order approval date must be on or before the payment end date in order to include these changes.
* A	pproval Date
	pproval Date 5/30/2017

Figure 14-7. Change Order Approval Window

- 1. Select the date of the pending change order you want to approve.
- 2. Click APPROVE.
- 3. Click in the Approval Date field and select the approval date.
- 4. Click APPROVE.

The Appia service updates the project with the changes and returns you to the change order Overview page.

#### 14.3.4 Unapprove Change Order

Once a change order is approved, it can be unapproved only by a system administrator and only under certain conditions. A change order cannot be unapproved if:

• There is a change order that was approved after the one you want to undo.

- The approval date of the change order falls within the pay period of any payment submitted for approval.
- The change order includes new items posted on a daily report.
- A stockpile has been added using new items, or unapproving the change order would cause the stockpile to overrun.
- Item materials are being used.

If a change order meets the criteria and is unapproved, the change order's status will be set to pending. The audit log of the change order will include the name of the person who undid the approval along with the date and time. The PDF report will also include this information.

An unapproved change order cannot be deleted.

- 1. Select the date of the approved change order you want to undo.
- 2. Click undo approval.
- 3. Read the information and click OK.

Provided the change order approval can be undone, the Appia service undoes the approval and returns you to the change order Overview page.

### 14.4 View Change Order

You can view all the information for a change order in a read-only version. From this page, you can submit the change order for approval or deny the approval.

Depending on the status of the change order, you may see different fields in the change order header. You may not see sections of the change order that have no information.

- 1. Select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page.
- 2. Select Change Order in the Sidebar menu.
- 3. Select the date of the change order that you want to view.

The Appia service opens the change order in a read-only view. Use the commands in the Actions menu or the approval buttons to perform actions for the change order.

### 14.5 Change Order Reports

You can generate a PDF file of the statuses for the change orders in your project. You can also generate a report for each change order, which contains the change order details. Detail reports for a draft change order will display a draft watermark on its pages.

- 1. Select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page.
- 2. Select Change Order in the Sidebar menu.
- 3. If you are generating a status report, select **Change Order Status** from the **Reports** menu. Open or save the report.
- 4. If you are generating a detail report, select the date of the change order for the report. Select **Change Order Details** from the **Reports** menu. Open or save the report.

## 14.6 Change Order Audit Log

Actions taken for the change order, like when it was created or approved, are recorded in the change order's audit log. It includes the time and date the action was taken, the user who performed the action, and the action itself.

- 1. Select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page.
- 2. Select **Change Orders** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service opens the Change Orders page.
- 3. Select the change order.
- 4. From the Change Orders overview page, scroll to the bottom of the change order to see the audit log.

# 15. Punch List

A punch list is a set of user-defined tasks intended to be completed before a project is closed out. This list displays the tasks that have been created and their current status.

If the current date matches your punch list task's start date, the Appia service makes its status active. Once the date matches the completion date, the task is marked complete. All punch list tasks must be complete before you can make the final payment for a project.

=			MY ACCOUNT LOGOUT
	Projects / 649879GS-BE19 / Punch List		
OVERNER	649879GS-SE19 Unite Controller 3.5 miles of turn lane construction, milling, inlay, plant mix resurfacing and intersection	on construction al various locations in Alachua County.	Reports -
DAILY ACTIVITIES	Punch List 🚺		Ada
=	Description	Status	
ITEMS	Guiderail post holds need additional filling	Active	00
*	Ramp striping needs reflecting arrows	Not Started	0 0
MATERIALS	Remove paint from sidewalk	Active	0 0
	Disolwying all 3 tests		

Figure 15-1. Punch List

### 15.1 Add or Edit a Punch List Task

The Description field is the only one required when you add a punch list. You can also enter any remarks, plus the start date and end date for a task.

Enter the end date to change the status to Complete.

- 1. Select the under construction project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **Punch List** in the Sidebar menu.
- 3. Click ADD or select the pencil EDIT icon.
- 4. Enter or change the information in the fields. The description is required.

5. When you are finished, click SAVE.

The Appia system returns you to the Punch List page and adds or updates the punch list task and the status based on the start date and end date.

Projects / 01/02SS-GR4517 / Plinch List / Edit		
W 01792SS-GR4517 (Inder Construction) Build pass-through road		
ers Edit		Save
Description     Clean concrete from tedge getters	Status Activi Start Date 09/14/2017	
Remarks	End Date	
	Completed By	

Figure 15-2. Edit Punch List Task

### 15.2 Delete a Punch List Task

You can delete tasks from your punch list regardless of its status.

- 1. Select the under construction project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **Punch List** in the Sidebar menu.
- 3. Click the X for the task you want to delete.
- 4. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

The Appia system deletes the task.

### 15.3 Punch List Report

You can create a PDF file of all the tasks in your punch list. This is helpful for sharing the tasks that must be done.

- 1. Select the under construction project from the My Projects page.
- 2. Click **Punch List** in the Sidebar menu.
- 3. Select **Reports** and select **Punch List**.
- 4. Open or save the file.

# 16. Adjustments

When an item with an asphalt or fuel factor is included in a daily report, use the adjustment calculator and your agency's practices to determine the cost adjustment for the payment.

The Appia service subtracts the index price from the posted price and displays the difference. Use that to determine the adjusted value for your items, which the Appia service will use to calculate the cost.

OVERVIEW	Proprint / 4004 DYC	13541A.17 / Aqu	abrinni Cosile					
	4984-DYC-1	3541A-17	Ne Constation					
ALL HEPOHTS	Adjustment	Costs					Calculate	Export
	* Start Date		" End Date	Daily Report Status				
ACTIVITIES	05/16/2017		12/05/2017	+ Draft + Periding + App	roves a Final			
III ITEMA	Contract Asphalt Index Price \$0.00		" Posted Asphalt Price 50 00	Asphalt Price Difference \$0.00		- Adjusted Asphalt Value		
	Contract Fuel Inde	ex Price	' Posted Fuel Price	Fuel Price Difference		" Adjusted Fuel Val	ue.	
MATERIALS	\$0.00		\$0,00	\$2.00		\$17.00		
۵	Line Number	Item		Quantity	Adjustment	Factor	Amount	Cost
STOCKPILES	0070	211-0425 PAVEMENT R	IEMOVAL OF EXISTING CONCRETE	12.000				
0					Fuel	1 4000	50 00	\$0.00
THELMES	0040	233-9187 ASPHALT PA	VEMENT MISCELLANEOUS	14,000				
22					Asphalt	0.0625	\$0,00	\$0,00

Figure 16-1. Adjustment Costs

### 16.1 Adjustment Cost

After the adjustment cost is calculated, use the values in the Cost column to determine the adjustment totals for your payment (see Section 18.4).

1. Click **More** and then **Adjustments** in the Sidebar menu. The Appia service displays the Adjustment Costs page.

- 2. Enter the start and end dates for the daily reports that fall within the time frame for the posted price.
- 3. Remove any daily report status that you do not want to include, or select any missing status from the Daily Report Status drop down list.
- 4. Enter the posted asphalt price and the posted fuel price.
- 5. Enter the adjusted value, based on your agency practices, in the Adjusted Value fields.
- 6. Click CALCULATE to calculate the cost for each item.

# 16.2 Export Adjustment Cost Report

Once the adjustment costs are set, you can export the adjustment cost report into a PDF file.

Proje	ets / W01756-GS16 /	Income:						
	01756-GS16	Under Domination						Regarts
terry It	ems 🔲							Hen Material Associations New Schedule
1- 1-2	. Source and a survey, i	ten D gerraget m	e onji					share
Hirs 👻	Section: 1 - Descriptio	94			-			
	Line Number	Steen 4D	Unit	Original Quantity	Authorized Quantity	Quantity Placed	Unit Price	Authorized Amou
-	0010	150-1000	LS	1.050	1.000	0.000	\$1,500,000	\$1,500.0
7R	AFFIC CONTROL - PRO	10-5008-00(108) 01						
INCA 🛛	Quantity Placed				Quantity Paid			

Figure 16-2. Item Reports

- 1. Click EXPORT from the upper right corner of the Adjustment Costs page.
- 2. Open or save the file.

The report will contain a date stamp indicating when the report was generated.

# 17. Worksheets

If the worksheet calculations setting was selected for your project, you will see Worksheets in the Sidebar menu of an under construction project. Use this page to add worksheets to your project or manage items associated with a worksheet.

Changing a worksheet association in a project does not change the worksheet in the reference data.

With your under construction project open, select **More** in the Sidebar menu and choose **Worksheets**. The Appia service brings you to the Worksheets page and displays all worksheets that are associated with an item that is in your project item list.

### 17.1 Worksheet Details

The worksheet details show the formula used to calculate the quantity placed and any associated items in your project. Click any of the available worksheet names to see the worksheet details.

toward / Protocole	10110 ( 101000)	and / CY with the	16	
2750699-SB 3 5 miles of lare lan			rear resultances and interaction convinction al	
CY with Shr	rink Item	Association		Association Report
CY with Shrink Rength * gian weth	· plac digt()	+27		
Length (FT)			Plan Width (PT)	
Plan Depth (FT	1		Shrinek (SJ)	
Lift Number				
Search be a rea	harmer inc	(C), Crescription on Unit		Banch .
O Line Number	ises ID	Description	-	Uni
0110	010105	DOUBLE SURFAC	E TREATMENT, STN BIZE I & MILOR 2 DNLY, INCL SEAL SAND TO SM AND LATER MODIFIED EMILISION	sy
Diploying \$ larm				

Figure 17-1. Project Worksheet Details

Click ASSOCIATE ITEMS to associate an item with this worksheet for this project (see Section 17.3).

Click the Item ID to see the item's history (see Section 5.7).

## 17.2 Add Worksheets

You can add any worksheet to your project provided that the worksheet is part of the reference data. Worksheets that are already used in your project won't appear in the Add Worksheets list.

Add Worksheet(s) to 2750699-	SB19	
<ul> <li>Search for Worksheet Name</li> </ul>		Search
Worksheet	Formula	^
Area: Acre	length * width / 43560	
Area: Square	length * width / 100	_
Base Choke Stone	today	
Board Feet	(length * width * (thick / 12)) / 1000	
Subbase EC Rev. Station	special compaction of subbase	~
		Cancel

Figure 17-2. Add Worksheets Window

- 1. Click ADD WORKSHEETS. The Appia service opens the Add Worksheets window with the list of reference data worksheets that have not yet been added to your project.
- 2. Select the worksheets that you will be using.
- 3. Click ADD.

The Appia service adds the selected worksheets to your project. Once a worksheet has been added to your project, you can associate it with items.

### 17.3 Associate an Item to a Worksheet

An item can be associated with only one worksheet. Associating items to a worksheet does not affect worksheets in the reference data.



Figure 17-3. Associate Items to a Worksheet

- Once your worksheet is added from the reference data, click the three dots to see the worksheet options or open the worksheet details, Select Associate Items. The Appia service displays the items in your project that are not yet associated with a worksheet.
- 2. Use the Search if necessary to locate the items to add to the worksheet.
- 3. Select the items to associate with the worksheet and click SAVE.

	ailes of turn lane con		g, inlay, plant mix resurfacing and intersection construction at	
A	dd Item(s) to H	HMA Mix		Cance
	asphait			Search
	O Line Number	Item ID	Description	Ur
C1	0050	028-6265	TURNOUT CONSTRUCTION (ASPHALT)	Th
	0070	334-8277	SUPERPAVE ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (TRAFFIC B)	T
-	0080	489-6735	SUPERPAYE ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (TRAFFIC C)	17
1	0140	400-0456	ASPH CONC 12.5 MM STONE MATRIX ASPHALT, GP 2 ONLY, INCL POLYMER MODIFIED BITUM MATL & H LIME	1.6

Figure 17-4. Add Item to Project Worksheet

The Appia service associates the items with the worksheet and returns you to the Worksheets page for the project.

### 17.4 Remove an Item Worksheet Association

Removing an item from a worksheet association does not change the worksheet in the reference data. You can't remove an item that has been posted to a daily report.

- 1. With the project open on the worksheets page, select the worksheet. The Appia service displays the worksheet details and its associated items.
- 2. Select the check mark for the items you want to disassociate with the worksheet. Click SELECT ALL to remove all items.
- 3. Click disassociate items.
- 4. Click OK in the remove confirmation window.

The Appia service removes the item from the worksheet and returns you to the Worksheets page.

### 17.5 Delete a Worksheet From a Project

You can delete a worksheet from your under construction project if items in the worksheet haven't been added to a daily report. You will not see the delete option if you can't delete the worksheet.

Worksheets deleted from a project do not affect the worksheets in the reference data. If you delete a worksheet, you also delete the worksheet's item associations.

н	MA Mix	
	Associate Items	Ť
	Delete	

Figure 17-5. Delete Worksheet

- 1. Click the three dots see the worksheet options for the worksheet you want to delete.
- 2. Click Delete.
- 3. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

The Appia service deletes the worksheet and returns you to the Worksheets page.

# 18. Payments

In order for a contractor to be paid, payment has to be approved through the Appia service. Approved daily report and change order information within the payment dates are automatically added to the payment.

The Payment page displays information about the project. Each payment is numbered sequentially, starting with 1, and displays the current payment, the payment to-date, and a bar graph of the percentage of the project that has been paid and completed (based on the amount paid and the authorized amount). The payment is a draft until it has been submitted for approval.

Any exclusions are listed when you start the payment. If you selected to hold back retainage when the payments reach a percent of the project, you will see a message when that percentage has been met.

Click the end date to view the payment's page. Use the icons for each payment to edit or delete the payment.

ERVIEW	64097000	SE19 Under Constructio					
			, inlay, plant mix resurfacing a	ind intersection cons	truction at various location		
3							
INTIES	Payments	8					
	End Date	Status	Payment	To Date	% Complete	No.	
EMS	06/23/2017	Draff	\$300.00	\$236,480.00	76.1%	8	00
8	06/18/2017	Paid	\$114,660.00	\$236,180.00	761(%)	7	
ERIALS	06/12/2017	Paid	\$98,000.00	\$121,520.00	39.2%	6	
9	06/09/2017	Paid	\$147.00	\$23,520.00	7.0%	6	
PILES	06/07/2017	Paid	\$14,700.00	\$23,373.00	798	4	
9	05/25/2017	Paid	-\$41,944.00	\$8,673.00	20%	3	
JMITS	05/05/2017	Paid	\$245.00	\$50,617.00	163%	2	
	04/17/2017	Paid	\$50,372.00	\$50,372.00	16.2%	1	

Payments can have several statuses: Draft, Pending, Approved, and Paid.

Figure 18-1. Payment Page

### 18.1 Add or Edit a Payment

You cannot create a payment if a previous payment has not yet been approved or if your previous payment end date is the current day. When you add or edit a payment, the Appia service displays the details of the payment on four main tabs: Overview, Summary, Work Performed, and Attachments. Depending on your project, you may also see tabs for exclusions and stockpiles. Approved daily report and change order information within the payment dates are automatically added to the payment.

If any daily report falls within the date range of the payment and has not been approved, you will see an exclusion message with this information and a link to the report. If there is a quantity overage for any item that has not been approved in a change order, the item will be flagged on the Work Performed tab. It will be paid depending on your project settings.

Any item material associations that have not been approved for items in the payment will be flagged as insufficient on the Work Performed tab. Insufficient items will not be paid.

- 1. Select **Payments** in the Sidebar menu. This will bring you to the Payments page.
- 2. If this is the final payment, select Issue <u>final payment</u>? (See Section 18.2.)
- 3. If this is not the final payment, click ADD to create a new payment or click the pencil EDIT icon to edit an existing payment.

\$	Projects / 649879GS-SE19 / Payn			
	649879GS-SE19 Under C			Submit For Approval Actions
dealer and the second	3.5 miles of turn lane construction,	milling, inlay, plant mix resurfacing and intersection	on construction at various location	
DAILY		OVERVIEW EXCLUSIONS	SUMMARY WORK PERFORMED ATTACHMENT	5
ACTIVITIES				
	1 Daily Report has been exclusion	ded from payment. See the Exclusions section for det	tails.	
==				
ITEMS	Edit			Save Cancel
200	Payment Details		Project Details	
MATERIALS	Payment Number	Percent Complete	Prime Contractor	
-	8	76.1%	HEWITT CONTRACTING COMPANY	Y,
	Payment Status	Item Payment Amount	ING.	
STOCKPILES	Draft	\$0.00		
~				
O				
TIME LIMITS				
	Pay Period		Payment Dates	
≣2′	* From Date	* To Date	Approval Date	Payment Date
CHANGE	06/19/2017	06/27/2017	06/19/2017	06/23/2017
Carden and				
=,				
PUNCHLIST	Retainage			
	Retain		Retainage Cap Percent	
	2 000%		10.000% of Authorized Project Amou	nt.

4. Enter the payment information as necessary.

Figure 18-2. New Payment Overview

#### 18.1.1 Overview

The payment overview displays the details for the payment, including how much the payment will be, the pay period, and the dates for the payment approval. All approved daily reports that fall within the payment date range are included in the payment.

If any daily reports have not been approved, the Appia service displays a warning message with links to the unapproved reports. The payment will display the item quantity changes in approved daily reports that fall within the pay period.

Some of the information in the overview is entered by the Appia service and is updated automatically.

Payment Details	
Payment Number	Each payment for the project is numbered sequentially. This field is automatically updated.
Payment Status	The payment has three statuses: draft, pending approval, and approved.
	Each payment starts in draft status. This field is automatically updated.
Percent Complete	Displays the percentage of the project for which payments have already been made, based on the authorized project amount. This field is automatically updated.
Item Payment Amount	The item amount for the current payment. This field is automatically updated.
Project Details	
Prime Contractor	The prime contractor on the project. This field is automatically updated.
Managing Office	The managing office of the project. This field is automatically updated.
Project Manager	The project manager on the project. This field is automatically updated.
Pay Period	
From Date	The date when the last payment was produced. For the first payment, the From Date field is the date of the Notice to Proceed. This field is automatically updated.
To Date	The last date of the payment. It defaults to the current date, but it can be changed. Approved daily reports and stockpile begin recovery dates that fall before the To date are included in the payment. If this is the final payment (see Section 18.2), this date must be on or after the date of the last daily report.

#### Payment Dates

Approval Date	The date the payment was approved. This field is available when the payment is created and after it has been approved.
Payment Date	The date the payment was made. This field is available when the payment is created and after it has been approved.
Retainage (see Sect	tion 18.1.2)
Retain	A percentage of the authorized or awarded amount for all items posted on a daily report and the advancement of a stockpiled item that will be held for this payment. Stockpile advancement retainage is selected in the global or project settings.
	The fields displayed are dependent on which type of retainage is selected.
Release	A dollar amount of the retainage that will be released for this payment.
Retainage Cap Percent	The percentage of the authorized project amount at which the retainage for this payment is capped. You will not see this field if you do not have a cap for the retainage selected in the global or project settings.
Retainage Cap Amount	The dollar amount for this payment at which the retainage is capped. You will not see this field if you do not have a cap for the retainage selected in the global or project settings. This value can change if the awarded or authorized project amount changes.
Edit Project Cap Settings	Opens the project settings page (see Section 2.6) where you can set retainage amounts.
Remarks	Enter any comments for the payment in the Remarks field. You can use the available buttons to format the text.

#### 18.1.2 Payment Retainage

Retainage is a part of each payment and stockpile advance that is withheld. Depending on the type of retainage selected for the project, you can specify the percentage of the project or stockpile advance payment to withhold in the Retain field.

Enter the retainage or release information from Retainage section of the payment Overview page.

The Appia service displays the type of retainage for the project and the retainage details.

Click <u>Edit Project Cap Settings</u> to change the way the project determines retainage. If a retainage rule for a project or stockpile changes, the Appia service will either retain enough money from the payment to make up the difference or not withhold any money if the amount has been met through previous retainage.

- 1. If you are retaining a percentage of the current payment, enter the percentage of the project or the advance being withheld in the Retainage field. If you are retaining a percentage after a set project amount has been paid, you won't be able to enter an amount.
- 2. If you are releasing any retainage or advance, enter the dollar amount in the Release field.
- 3. Click SAVE if you are finished making changes to the payment overview.

The total amount of retainage and stockpile recovery is listed in the payment summary (see Section 18.4).

#### 18.1.3 Payment Audit Log

Any action taken with a payment, such as its creation or submission for approval, is tracked in the audit log. This includes the time the action was taken, the user who took the action, and the action itself.

=								MY ACCOUNT LOGOU
۲	Projects / 849879GS-SE10 / Payments / Payment	/ EdB						
OVERVIEN	649879GS-SE19 Loss Construction 3.5 miles of turn fame construction, milling, inlay, plant	mix resurfacing and intersection construction	on al various loca	ations in Alach	ua County.			Submit For Approval Actions +
DAILY ACTIVITIES		OVERVEW	EXCLUSIONS	STRAMARY	WORK PERFORMED AT	TAICHINENTS		
==	Ø 2 daily reports have been excluded from payme	d See the Exclusions section for details						
TEME	Edit							Saye Cancel
SATERAL S	Payment Details				Project Details			
0	Payment Number 1	Percent Complete 18 6%			Prime Contractor HEWITT CONTRACTING	G COMPANY, INC.		
BROCKPALES	Payment Status Draft	Item Payment Amount \$51,400.00						
TIME LINITS	Pay Period				Payment Dates			
EZ CHANGE ORDERS	* From Date	* To Date			Approval Date		Payment Date	
	04/14/2017	05/03/2017						
E.	1.1.1							
s	Retainage							
PAYNERTS	0.050%				Edit Project Cap Settings			
	Release							
FUNCING	50.00							
NORE	Remarks							
	Font Sizes - B / E E E E	<u>A</u> ~						

Figure 18-3. New Payment Overview

### 18.2 Issue Final Payment

The final payment is used when the project is complete. Before you can mark a payment as final:

- Items must be balanced and on an approved daily report or change order (see Section 14.1.6)
- Items must be marked complete (see Section 5.10)
- Punch list tasks must be completed (see Section 15.1)
- Stockpiles must be fully recovered (see Section 13.3)
- Time limits must be marked complete (see Section 6.3.3)

The Appia service will display any actions that need to be taken, such as balancing items, before the final payment can be added. Click the incomplete action or use the Sidebar menu to go to the appropriate part of the Appia service. If you do not see the Final Payment screen, then all necessary tasks have already been completed.

۲	Projects / 017925S-GR4517 / Payments / Final Payment	
OVERVIEW	01792SS-GR4517 Under Continuation Build pass-through road	
ALL REPORTS		All items are balanced.     Bens must be balanced to ensure correct payment adjustments. Elaborce dems?
DAR Y ACTIVITIES	5	All items are completed.     Items must be completed to ensure correct payment adjustments. Complete items?
EE ITEMS	E	All punch list tasks are completed.     Punch list tasks areas be completed before making a final payment. Complete punch list?
WATERALS	Final Payment	<ul> <li>All stockpiles are fully recovered.</li> <li>Done</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>All time limits are completed.</li> <li>Dons</li> </ul>
STOCKPILES		

Figure 18-4. Final Payment

Once all tasks are complete, click CREATE FINAL PAYMENT. If you did not mean to make this the final payment, delete the payment.

When you create the final payment, any retainage is released and added to the payment. The Appia service locks your project. You will only be able to make changes to your attachments and links. Submit the final payment for approval, then mark it as paid when it has been paid.

Once the final payment is marked as paid, the Appia service moved the project from the Under Construction phase to the Completed phase, and no other changes can be made.

### **18.3 Exclusions**

The Exclusions tab displays only when part of the work performed during the pay period will be excluded from payment. This can range from a daily report not being approved to having insufficient materials. Exclusions do not prevent a payment from being submitted.

Click the EXCLUSIONS tab to see what is being excluded. Click the available information in the exclusion display to go to the excluded section.

۲	Projects / 01/102SS-5(R4517 / Payments / Payment 04 / Exclusions
OVERVIEW	01792SS-GR4517 Under Counterland Build pass-through road
BAILY ACTIVITIES	
	Excluded Unattached Items
ITEMS	1060 999-5900 IN-ROADWAY CROSSWALK WARNING SYSTEM 1
	Daily Report created by Greft Summers on 0806/2017
MATERIALS	Displaying 1 item
e	Excluded Material Approvals
STOCKPILES	🔮 (Material approvals after the payment end date (06/08/2017)
0	08/11/2017. Bit Mixture, No. 1500L, 20AAA
TIME LIMITS	0120: 900-0037 CONCRETE PAVERS
EZ	Displaying 1 material approvals

Figure 18-5. Exclusions Tab

### 18.4 Payment Summary

The Payment Summary table provides a quick look at the previous, current, and up-to-date item payment information, including information about retainages, stockpiles, and credits.

The Payment Adjustment field allows you to add an adjustment to the current payment. The adjustment can be positive or negative. Use the Adjustment Remarks field to add any comments.

Click the SUMMARY tab to see the payment summary while the payment is in draft status. The summary will appear on the Payment Information page once the payment has been submitted for approval.

Adjustment	A one-time adjustment to this payment.
Adjustment Remarks	The reason for the one-time adjustment
Credits	
Authorized Work	The amount of the project that has been authorized for payment, including approved change orders.
Stockpile Advancement	The amount of money that has been advanced to a contractor for a stockpiled item.

Reductions	
Stockpile Recovery	The amount of the stockpiled item being recovered on this payment, based on stockpile recovery rates.
Retainage	The amount of the project that is being held on this payment, based on the global or project settings.
Liquidated Damages	The cost to the contractor when the project does not end as scheduled, based on the time limit authorized deadline or expected end date. If the deadline or expected end date changes after liquidated damages are assessed, the next payment will update the amount withheld to reflect the changes.
Payment	
Adjustment	The amount of the payment containing adjustment costs, based on item adjustment factors.
Retainage Released	The amount of the payment that contains released retainage, based on the global or project settings.
E	TOTELOUS ADDRESS BEAM PROFILES ATTACHED IS

8		THE REAL PROPERTY OF	WORK PERSONNELL STOCKED 2.5	ATTACINE NTS	
ALL REPORTS			-		
	Summary				Saver Carcot
ACIMITES	Adjustment		Adjustment Remarks		
	80.00				
ITWS			Previous	Current	To Date
SS MATCHING	Credits				
and the second second	Authorized Work		\$100 800 00	\$3,505.00	\$104,306.00
	Stockpile Advancement		\$6,703.00	\$2.00	\$6,703.00
STOCHARTS	Reductions				
0	Shockpile Recovery		\$4,756.96	\$55.0 00	\$5,309.96
THE LOUIS	Relanage		\$53.80	\$1.70	\$55.55
-	Liquidated Damages		\$71,000.00	\$2,000.00	113,000 00
EZ CHUNG	Payment				
	Adjustment		\$0.00	10 00	\$0.00
₩.	Retainage Released		\$9.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
HINOHINE	Totala		\$91,761,23	8063.25	\$92,758 49

Figure 18-6. Payment Summary

# 18.5 Work Performed

The Work Performed tab displays details for the items posted for the current pay period. Use the In dollars? toggle option to see the amounts in dollars or quantities. To see details and history of the item, click the item's line number (see Section 5.7).

Authorized The total authorized item amount.

**Previous** The dollar amount previously paid for the item.

Current	The amount being paid for this payment.
Overages	Indicates if the quantity used for an item is greater than the authorized quantity. Select the check mark to see the dollar or quantity amount of the overrun and the amount withheld from the payment. Payment for overages depends on your project or global settings.
	Overage Amount – The dollar amount of the unauthorized item quantity.
	Amount Placed – The dollar amount of the total item quantity.
	Overage Quantity – The number of units of the unauthorized item.
	Quantity Placed – The total number of units placed for the item.
Insufficient	Indicates if there are any materials that have not been certified. Click the check mark to see the current amount placed, the amount place to date and the amount withheld.
	Amount Placed – The dollar amount of the unpaid item quantity.
	Amount Placed to Date - The dollar amount of the total item quantity.
	Amount Withheld – The dollar amount that needs approval in order to be paid.
۲	Poseds / 11/0235-04/5/) / Payment III. / Remi
overveov Es	01792SS-GR4517 States Control Advant * Subar For Approval Advant *
ALL HEROITS	Work Performed
CALLY ACTIVITIES	An Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual

	Build pass-through road								
a servites			OVERMENT	UNIMALITY	MORE (VIN CRIMID-	THE REAL PROPERTY	ADACHMENT		
	Work Performe	ed 🖪							In dollars?
ACTIVITIES.	Line Number	itam ID	Unit	A	uthorized	Previous	Current	Overages	insufficient
=	Section: 1 - Description	,							
ITCHI	0000	211-0425	M2		\$1,500.00	\$1,150.00	\$0.00		0
25	PAVEMENT REMOVAL	OF EXISTING CONCR	ETE						
ATOMAS	0030	210-2712	MT		\$3,500.00	\$2,525.00	\$975.00		
-	BARRIER WALL (TEMP	ORARYXRELOCATEN	CONCRETE)						
	0040	233-9167	MT		\$300.00	\$170.00	\$130.00		
IOCKPLES	ASPHALT PAVEMENT	MISCELLANEOUS							
~	0090	770-5742	ED		\$2,450.00	\$2,170.00	\$295.00		
0	HIGH INTENSITY FLAS	HING LIGHTS TEMP-T	VPE E						
INCLOSES.	Displaying all 4 nemis								

Figure 18-7. Work Performed Tab With Insufficient Funds

#### 18.5.1 Overages

If there is an overage, click **View All Overages** from the Overages check mark to see the history of the item.

Depending on your settings, overages may be paid without a change order. If your settings do not allow for overages to be paid, either create a change order to raise the quantity of the item or edit the item in the daily report to the authorized quantity.

#### 18.5.2 Insufficient

If a material needs to be certified, click **View Materials for Items** from the Insufficient check mark. This opens the Materials Associated with Item page where you can approve the materials for the item (see Section 10.3.2).

### **18.6 Stockpiles**

The Stockpile tab displays advancement and recovery information for each item with a stockpile posted for the current pay period. When a stockpile is created, the advance is paid in full (minus any retainage) on the next payment. Then as the stockpiled item is posted in a daily report, the advance is recovered.

To see the stockpile information, click the item number.

Fund Package	The package funding the stockpile.
Advancement	The money advanced for the stockpile for this payment.
Advancement To Date	The total money advanced for the stockpile.
Recovery	The money recovered for the advancement as part of this payment.

**Recovery To Date** The total money recovered for the advanced payment.

OVE	ERVIEW EXCLUSIONS	SUMMARY WORK	PERFORMED STOCK	PILES ATTACHMENTS		
Details 2						
		Fund Package	Advancement	Advancement To Date	Recovery	Recovery To Dat
GH INTENSITY FLASHING LIGHT	TS, TEMP-TYPE B	Participation	\$23.00	\$38.00	\$4.09	\$6.7
ELD FENCE WOVEN WIRE		Participation	\$1,000.00	\$1,000.00	\$215.00	\$215.0
	IIGH INTENSITY FLASHING LIGH	IIGH INTENSITY FLASHING LIGHTS, TEMP-TYPE B TELD FENCE WOVEN WIRE	IIGH INTENSITY FLASHING LIGHTS, TEMP-TYPE B Participation	IGH INTENSITY FLASHING LIGHTS, TEMP-TYPE B Participation \$23.00	IIGH INTENSITY FLASHING LIGHTS, TEMP-TYPE B Participation \$23.00 \$38.00 TELD FENCE WOVEN WIRE Participation \$1,000.00 \$1,000.00	IIGH INTENSITY FLASHING LIGHTS, TEMP-TYPE B         Participation         \$23.00         \$38.00         \$4.09           IEED FENCE WOVEN WIRE         Participation         \$1,000.00         \$1,000.00         \$215.00

Figure 18-8. Stockpiles Payment Tab

### **18.7 Attachments**

Add or edit any attachments for your payment on the Attachments tab when the payment is in draft form or pending approval. You can view attachments after the payment is approved.

<b> </b>	plant mix resultacing and intersection construction at various location	Approve Actions
Attachments		Save Add Cancel
*Name  *Name Southeast Invoice	Document SoutheastInvoice 10 pd9 suberlind av II76402017 st 47 AN KDT	•
Boolus Remarks Southeast mysice for June		
S	Save Add	

Figure 18-9. Attachments

- 1. Select the pencil EDIT icon of the payment or select the date to view the attachment if you are not already there.
- 2. Click attachments.
- 3. To view an attachment, click the document name.
- 4. To edit the attachment, enter or change the name.
- 5. If you are adding an attachment, click BROWSE or click CHOOSE FILE (depending on your browser). Navigate to and select the attachment, then click OPEN.
- 6. Enter or change the description if necessary.
- 7. To upload another attachment, click ADD and repeat these steps.
- 8. Once you are finished, click SAVE.

The Appia service uploads the attachment and returns you to the attachments page.

Delete any attachment by clicking the X for the attachment. Click SAVE.

#### **18.8 Delete Payment**

You can delete a payment when it is in draft status. If you do not see an X next to the payment, the payment cannot be deleted.

- 1. Select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page.
- 2. Select **Payments** in the Sidebar menu.
- 3. Click the **X** for the payment.
- 4. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

The Appia service deletes the payment and returns you to the Payments list.

## **18.9 View Payment**

From this page, you can see the overview and summary information on one tab, along with tabs containing other payment information, in a read-only mode.

- 5. Select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page.
- 6. Select **Payments** in the Sidebar menu.
- 7. Click the end date of the payment you want to view.

The Appia service opens the payment in a read-only view. If the payment is still a draft, you can click the EDIT button to make changes.

# 18.10 Payment Approval

Once the payment is complete, it must be submitted for approval. From there, the payment can either be approved and mark as paid or withdrawn. You cannot create a new payment until the previous payment has been approved.

#### 18.10.1 Submit or Withdraw Payment for Approval

When a payment is submitted for approval, all daily reports associated with this payment are moved to a status of Final, and they can no longer be edited. Change orders associated with this payment cannot be unapproved, and stockpile advancements cannot be deleted. The status of the submitted payment changes to pending and you cannot make any changes to the payment.

If you are withdrawing the approval submission, the payment returns to a draft status.

- 1. Select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page if you are not already there.
- 2. Select **Payments** in the Sidebar menu. This will bring you to the Payments page.

- 3. Select the date of the payment to view the payment.
- 4. If you are submitting the payment for approval, click SUBMIT FOR APPROVAL.
- 5. If you are withdrawing the approval submission, select **Withdraw** from the **Actions** menu.

The Appia service submits or withdraws the payment for approval and returns you to the Payment Information page. The action is noted the audit log.

#### 18.10.2 Approve Payment

When a payment has been submitted for approval,

- 1. Select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page if you are not already there.
- 2. Select **Payments** in the Sidebar menu. This will bring you to the Payments page.
- 3. Select the date of the payment to view the payment.
- 4. Click APPROVE.

The Appia service approves payment and returns you to the Payment Information page. The action is noted the audit log.

#### 18.10.3 Update Payment Dates and Mark as Paid

Once the payment has been approved, you can update the approval and payment dates. This is not required. The Approval Date is the date the payment was approved. The Payment Date is the date the actual payment was made. You also cannot enter a date that falls before the last payment produced. Once the payment is marked as paid, you cannot edit these fields.

When all updates to the payment have been made, mark the payment as paid. The Appia service changes the status of the payment to Paid. You will not be able to change this status or make changes to payment or any daily reports that were included on the payment.

- 1. Select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page if you are not already there.
- 2. Select **Payments** in the Sidebar menu. This will bring you to the Payments page.
- 3. Select the pencil EDIT icon of the payment.
- 4. Click EDIT in the Payment Information header.
- 5. Click in the Approval Date field and use the calendar to select the approval date.

- 6. Click in the Payment Date field and use the calendar to select the payment date.
- 7. Click SAVE.
- 8. Click MARK AS PAID.
- 9. Click OK in the payment confirmation window.

The Appia service returns you to the Payment Information page and changes the payment status to Paid. The action is noted the audit log.

## 18.11 Export

You can export the detailed payment report into a comma-separated-value file to open in a spreadsheet program.

- 1. Select the desired project from the Under Construction section of the My Projects page if you are not already there.
- 2. Select **Payments** in the Sidebar menu. This will bring you to the Payments page.
- 3. Select the date of the payment to view the payment.
- 4. Select **Export** from the **Actions** menu.
- 5. Open or save the file.

### 18.12 Payment Reports

Detailed Payment	A detailed report of all payments for each section and item.
Insufficient Materials	A list of materials that have insufficient quantities.
Invoice by Fund Package and Source	An invoice with the fund packages for each fund source visible and the current state of each item of the fund source.
Pay Estimate by Fund	Displays an estimate of the payment based on fund sources.
Payment Invoice	An detailed invoice of the payment period.
Payment Summary	An overview of the current payment and payments to date.

# **19. Contractors**

When a project is under construction, the Contractors list displays the organizations added to the project. The prime contractor automatically displays in the list and all items are initially assigned to the prime contractor. You can add additional contractors.

Click the organization's name to see the contractor details, plus the crews and items assigned to the contractor and any daily reports with those crews or items. The date of the last daily report in which a contractor is selected displays when the contractors are edited. Any contractor assigned to an item can be selected when the item is posted in a daily report.

۲	Projects / 01792SS GR4517 / Contractors	
OVERVIEW	01792SS-GR4517 Under Construction Build pass-through road	Raports +
L REPORTS	Contractors 【	Edit
	Organization	Contractor ID
DAILY	ABHE & SVOBODA, INC.	VF411224817001
==	CHERRY HILL CONSTRUCTION, INC. Pres	VF520890004091
	GIBDS & REGISTER, INC.	VF593028022002
TEMS	L-J CONSTRUCTION CO. OF CENTRAL FL.	VF563691269001
*	Displaying all 4 contractors	

Figure 19-1. Contractors List

# **19.1 Add or Edit Project Contractors**

Contractors must already be in the contractor reference data list in order to be added to your project. If you need more information, please contact your system administrator.

When you edit the contractor list, you will see the last daily report to which a posted item, crew, or personnel has been assigned to the contractor.

You can edit the contractor type and awarded amount. The awarded amount for all contractors must always equal the project's awarded amount. Keeping the awarded amount updated is beneficial if you are tracking DBE percentages.

Once your contractors are added, return to the contractor list and select a contractor to assign items.

- 1. Select **Contractors** in the Sidebar menu.
- 2. Click EDIT.
- 3. Click ADD to add a new contractor to the project.
- 4. If you are adding a contractor, select the contractor from the list. When all contractors have been selected, click ADD CONTRACTORS.
- 5. Change the contractor's type or awarded amount. The total awarded amount cannot be more than the project's awarded amount.
- 6. Click SAVE.

The Appia service displays the contractors in the list. Click the contractor's name to assign items.

## **19.2 Add Contractor Items**

Once a contractor has been added to the project, you can assign it items. Items can be assigned to more than one contractor. By default, all items belong to the prime contractor until its full awarded amount is assigned in daily reports to other contractors.

- 1. Select the contractor. The Appia service displays the contractor overview.
- 2. Select the ITEMS tab.
- 3. Click ADD to assign project items to the contractor.
- 4. Select the items from the item list.
- 5. Click ADD ITEMS.

The Appia service adds those items to your contractor's item list and displays the awarded quantity and the awarded amount for each item.

Item quantities are assigned when the item is posted in a daily report. Click <u>Contractors</u> in the navigation trail to return to the Contractors list.

### **19.3 Delete Contractor Items**

You cannot delete an item assigned to a contractor if the item has been assigned to a contractor on a daily report that has been submitted for approval. If you do not see the X for the item, it cannot be deleted.

- 1. Select the contractor. The Appia service displays the contractor overview.
- 2. Select the ITEMS tab.
- 3. Click the X for the item.
- 4. Click OK in the delete confirmation window.

The Appia service deletes the item and stays on the Items tab for the contractor.

### **19.4 Delete a Contractor**

You cannot delete a contractor if it is assigned an item or crew personnel that has been posted on a daily report submitted for approval or is the only contractor assigned to an item. The prime contractor cannot be deleted. If you do not see the X for the contractor, the contractor cannot be deleted.

- 1. Select **Contractors** in the Sidebar menu.
- 2. Click EDIT.
- 3. Click the X for the contractor you want to delete.
- 4. Click SAVE.

The Appia service returns you the Contractor's list.

### **19.5 Contractor Daily Reports**

The Daily Reports tab displays a list of all daily reports that contain an item posting or crew personnel assigned to the contractor.

- 1. Select the contractor. The Appia service displays the contractor overview.
- 2. Select the DAILY REPORTS tab.
- 3. Select the date of the daily report.

The Appia service takes you to the selected daily report.

Select Contractors in the Sidebar menu to return to the Contractors page.

### **19.6 Contractor Reports**

You can run the following report from the Contractor page and the All Reports page:

- Items by Contractor
- 1. From the Contractor's page, select the REPORTS button.
- 2. Choose the report name.
- 3. Open or save the report.